[•] WorldEnergy

2

January 5, 2015

Public Utilities Commission of Ohio Docketing Division, 13th Floor 180 East Broad Street Columbus, Ohio 43215-3792

RECEIVED-DOCKETING DIV 2015 JAN -7 AM 11:57

PUCO

06 - 1363 - 6A · A66 02 - 882 · EL - A66

Re: <u>World Energy Solutions, Inc. Retail Electric Supplier Certificate No. 02-</u> 086E(7), Case No. 02-882-EL-AGG; and Retail Natural Gas <u>Aggregator/Broker; Certificate No. 06-121G(4), Case No. 06-1363-GA-AGG</u> (collectively, the "License").

Dear Sir/Madam:

We are writing to notify you that World Energy Solutions, Inc. (the "<u>Company</u>") has entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "<u>Merger Agreement</u>") with EnerNOC, Inc. ("<u>EnerNOC</u>") and Wolf Merger Sub Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary of EnerNOC, (the "<u>Merger Sub</u>"). The Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and dated November 3, 2014 evidencing the Merger (defined below) is attached hereto as <u>Exhibit A</u>. The transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement were consummated on January 5, 2015, and, as a result, the Merger Sub merged with and into the Company (the "<u>Merger</u>"), and the Company survived and became a wholly-owned subsidiary of EnerNOC. The Merger became effective at the time of the filing of a certificate of merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware executed by the Company and the Merger Sub (the "<u>Effective Time</u>"). The certificate of merger is attached hereto as <u>Exhibit B</u>.

We do not expect the Merger to result in any significant changes to the Company's operations or your relationship with the Company.

The notice provided for in this letter shall be deemed to unconditionally satisfy the requirements for notice without the need of any further action by any party to the License.

If you have any questions or require any additional information, please feel free to contact me at **508-459-8173**.

Very truly yours,

WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

Cheryl Parker Staff Attorney

This is to certify that the images appearing are an accurate and complete reproduction of a case file document delivered in the regular course of business. Technician _____ Date Processed [JAN 0 7 2015]

<u>Exhibit A</u>

WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

FORM	8-K
(Current repo	

Filed 11/05/14 for the Period Ending 11/03/14

.

Address	100 FRONT STREET
	WORCESTER, MA 01608
Telephone	508-459-8100
CIK	0001371781
Symbol	XWES
SIC Code	7389 - Business Services, Not Elsewhere Classified
Industry	Investment Services
Sector	Financial
Fiscal Year	12/31

Powered By EDGAROnline http://www.edgar-online.com © Copyright 2014, EDGAR Online, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online, Inc. Terms of Use.

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 8-K

CURRENT REPORT Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported): November 3, 2014

World Energy Solutions, Inc.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Charter)

Delaware (State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation 001-34289 (Commission File Number) 04-3474959 (IRS Employer Identification No.)

100 Front Street Worcester, Massachusetts (Address of Principal Executive Offices)

01608 (Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (508) 459-8100

n/a (Former Name or Former Address, if Changed Since Last Report)

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the following provisions (see General Instruction A.2. below):

□ Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)

Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)

Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))

Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))

Item 1.01. Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.

Merger Agreement and the Tender Offer

On November 4, 2014, World Energy Solutions, Inc. (the "Company") entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement") with EnerNOC, Inc. ("Parent") and Wolf Merger Sub Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent ("Merger Sub"), pursuant to which Parent and Merger Sub will commence an offer (the "Offer") to acquire all of the outstanding shares of the Company's common stock (the "Shares"), at a price of \$5.50 per share in cash (the "Offer Price"). The Merger Sub is required to commence the Offer no later than 10 business days after the date of the Merger Agreement. If the Offer is consummated, Shares not tendered will be acquired by Merger Sub in a second step merger (the "Merger") for the Offer Price.

Completion of the Offer is subject to a number of conditions, including (i) that a majority of the Shares outstanding be validly tendered and not validly withdrawn prior to the expiration of the Offer; (ii) completion of a 55-day "go-shop" period during which time the Company will solicit alternative proposals to the Offer and Merger and (iii) certain other customary conditions which are included as Annex I to the Merger Agreement and will be described in detail in the Merger Sub's tender offer materials that will be filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). The Offer and the Merger are not subject to any financing conditions.

Concurrently with the execution of the Merger Agreement, Parent and Merger Sub entered into Tender and Support Agreements with each of the members of the Company's board of directors (the "Board") and certain other officers of the Company owning Shares pursuant to which such individuals agreed to tender their Shares in the Offer. These agreements will automatically terminate if the Merger Agreement is terminated. The Company is not a party to the tender and support agreements.

The Board has approved the Merger Agreement and unanimously recommends that stockholders of the Company tender their Shares in the Offer. The Company will file a Schedule 14D-9 with the SEC containing the recommendation of the Board on the same day that the Offer is commenced.

Following the completion of the Offer and, subject to the satisfaction or waiver of certain customary conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub will merge with and into the Company pursuant to the procedure provided for under Section 251(h) of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the "DGCL") that does not require any additional stockholder approvals. Pursuant to the Merger, any remaining Shares of the Company not validly tendered pursuant to the Offer (other than any (i) Shares owned by Parent, Merger Sub or any other affiliate of Parent that is directly or indirectly wholly owned by the ultimate parent of Parent, (ii) Shares owned by the Company or any direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and (iii) Shares held by the Company's stockholders who properly demand and perfect dissenters' rights in accordance with Section 262 of the DGCL and who, as of the effective time of the Merger, have not effectively withdrawn or lost such dissenters' rights) will be cancelled and converted automatically into the right to receive cash in an amount equal to the Offer Price. In addition, holders of vested stock options shall receive per share the Offer Price less the per share exercise price for the shares underlying such options, and holders of unvested stock options shall receive an option to purchase Parent shares of common stock based on an equity award exchange ratio set forth in the Merger Agreement.

Concurrently with the closing of the Merger, the Company and Parent will cause a certificate of merger (the "Certificate of Merger") to be filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware under the DGCL. The Merger will be effective at the time of such filing or such later time as specified in the Certificate of Merger and agreed to by the Company and Parent in writing (the "Effective Time"). As the surviving corporation (the "Surviving Corporation"), the Company will continue to exist following the Merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent. Parent and the Company have made customary representations, warranties and covenants in the Merger Agreement, including covenants (i) to promptly make all filings required by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and other applicable laws with respect to the Offer and the Merger; and (ii) to use their commercially reasonable efforts to take all appropriate action to consummate and effectuate the Offer, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement. Additionally, prior to consummation of the Merger, the Company has agreed to conduct its business in all material respects in the ordinary and usual course and to comply with certain other operating covenants through the consummation of the Merger.

During the period beginning on the date of the Merger Agreement and continuing until 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on December 29, 2014 (the "Go-Shop Period"), the Company has the right to directly or indirectly initiate, solicit or encourage any Takeover Proposals (as defined in the Merger Agreement) and waive standstill provisions to enable Takeover Proposals to acquire the Company to be submitted to the Company. At the end of the Go-Shop Period, the Company must cease any existing solicitation, encouragement, discussion or negotiation with any third parties but may continue to receive proposals and engage in discussions and activities with third parties that the Board believes in good faith is, or could reasonably be expected to result in, a Superior Proposal (as defined in the Merger Agreement).

Prior to the closing of the Offer, the Board may, subject to compliance with certain obligations described below, (i) terminate the Merger Agreement to enter into a definitive agreement with respect to a Superior Proposal, if the Board receives a Takeover Proposal that it determines in good faith constitutes a Superior Proposal and the Board determines in good faith, after consultation with its legal advisors, that failure to take such action would be inconsistent with the directors' fiduciary duties under applicable law; or (ii) change its recommendation to the Company's stockholders regarding tendering into the Offer and approving the Merger and related transactions and the Board determines in good faith, after consultation with its legal advisors, that failure to take such action would be inconsistent with the directors' fiduciary duties under applicable law. The Company may not change its recommendation to the Company's stockholders or terminate the Merger Agreement under the above "fiduciary out" unless (i) the Company gives Parent four (4) full business days' (shortened to three (3) full business days in response to subsequent material amendments to any Takeover Proposal) notice that the Company intends to take such action and provides relevant information and materials; (ii) the Company provides Parent with at least four (4) full business days (or three (3) full business days as provided above) to make a revised proposal, during which the Company must negotiate in good faith; and (iii) after such period, the Board determines in good faith, after consultation with its legal and financial advisors, and taking into account any changes to the transaction documents, that the Takeover Proposal continues to constitute a Superior Proposal.

Upon termination of the Merger Agreement under specified circumstances, the Company will be required to pay Parent a termination fee of \$1,028,066 if the Merger Agreement is terminated in connection with a Superior Proposal or \$2,398,821 in the case of termination upon a breach by the Company or for any other reason of termination as permitted by the Merger Agreement. The Merger Agreement also provides that Parent will be required to pay the Company a reverse termination fee of \$3,598,232 under certain circumstances specified in the Merger Agreement. The termination fee is the sole and exclusive remedy except in limited circumstances in the event of fraud or willful breach or in the event of a breach of "Go Shop" provisions.

The foregoing description of the Offer, the Merger and the Merger Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Merger Agreement, which is attached hereto as Exhibit 2.1 and incorporated herein by reference. The Merger Agreement is not intended to modify or supplement any factual disclosures about the Company in its public reports filed with the SEC and it is not intended to be, and should not be relied upon as, disclosures regarding any facts and circumstances relating to the Company. In particular, the representations, warranties and covenants set forth in the Merger Agreement (a) were made solely for purposes of the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated therein and solely for the benefit of the contracting parties (except with respect to the rights of specific third parties enumerated in the Merger Agreement), (b) may be subject to limitations agreed upon by the contracting parties, including being qualified by confidential disclosures made to Parent and Merger Sub in connection with the Merger Agreement, (c) will not survive consummation of the Merger (except for the covenants that apply or are to be performed after the effective time of the Merger), (d) are qualified in certain circumstances by a materiality standard which may differ from what may be viewed as material by investors, (e) were made only as of the date of the Merger Agreement, and (f) may have been included in the Merger Agreement for the purpose of allocating risk between the parties. Moreover, information concerning the subject matter of the representations and warranties may charger Agreement, which subsequent information concerning the subject matter of the representations and warranties may change after the date of the Merger Agreement, which subsequent information may or may not be fully reflected in subsequent public disclosure.

On November 4, 2014, the Company issued a press release to announce the Offer, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement. A copy of the press release is attached hereto as <u>Exhibit 99.1</u> and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 5.03. Amendments to Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws; Changes in Fiscal Year

On November 3, 2014, the Board agreed to amend and restate the By-Laws of the Company (the "Amended and Restated By-Laws"), effective immediately, to provide that unless the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for (1) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company, (2) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer, or other employee of the Company to the Company or the Company's shareholders, (3) any action asserting a claim by the internal affairs doctrine, in each case subject to the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware having personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants therein.

The foregoing description is qualified in its entirety by the Amended and Restated By-Laws attached hereto at Exhibit 3.1.

Item 8.01. Other Events

On November 3, 2014, the Company agreed to enter into an Indemnification Agreement with each member of the Board, the form of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 10.1.

Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(d) EXHIBITS.

- 2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among World Energy Solutions, Inc., EnerNOC, Inc., and Wolf Merger Sub Corporation, dated November 4, 2014.
- 3.1 Amended and Restated By-Laws effective November 3, 2014.
- 10.1 Form of Director Indemnification Agreement.
- 99.1 Press Release dated November 4, 2014.

Important Additional Information

The tender offer described in this document has not yet commenced. This announcement is neither an offer to purchase nor a solicitation of an offer to sell shares of the Company. At the time the offer is commenced, EnerNOC, Inc. and its wholly owned Subsidiary will file a Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), and the Company will file a Solicitation/Recommendation Statement on Schedule 14D-9 with respect to the offer. The Company's stockholders and other investors are urged to read the tender offer materials (including an Offer to Purchase, a related Letter of Transmittal and certain other offer documents) and the Solicitation/Recommendation Statement because they will contain important information which should be read carefully before any decision is made with respect to the tender offer.

The Offer to Purchase, the related Letter of Transmittal and certain other offer documents, as well as the Solicitation/Recommendation Statement, will be made available to all stockholders of the Company at no expense to them. The Tender Offer Statement and the Solicitation/Recommendation Statement will be made available for free at the SEC's web site at www.sec.gov. Free copies of these materials and certain other offering documents will be made available by the information agent for the offer.

In addition to the Solicitation/Recommendation Statement, the Company files annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy any reports, statements or other information filed by the Company at the SEC public reference room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference room. The Company's filings with the SEC are also available to the public from commercial document-retrieval services and at the website maintained by the SEC at www.sec.gov.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Form 8-K contains forward-looking statements that are not historical facts and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those described. All statements other than statements of historical fact are statements that could be deemed forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements often use words such as "anticipate," "target," "assume," "expect," "estimate," "intend," "plan," "goal," "believe," "hope," "aim," "continue," "will," "may," "would," "could," "likely," or "should" or other words of similar meaning or the negative thereof. Forward-looking statements in this Form 8-K (including its exhibits) include statements regarding the Offer and the Merger, statements regarding the anticipated benefits of the transaction; statements regarding the anticipated timing of filings and approvals relating to the transaction; statements regarding the expected timing of the completion of the transaction; and any statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. All forward-looking statements are based largely on current expectations and beliefs concerning future events, approvals and transactions that are subject to substantial risks and uncertainties. Factors that may cause or contribute to the actual results or outcomes being different from those contemplated by forward-looking statements include: risks and uncertainties associated with the tender offer, including uncertainties as to the timing of the tender offer and merger, uncertainties as to how many of the Company's stockholders will tender their shares in the offer, the risk that competing offers will be made, and the possibility that various closing conditions for the transaction may not be satisfied or waived. Other factors that may cause the Company's actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements are discussed in the Company's filings with the SEC, including in its periodic reports filed on Form 10-K and Form 10-Q with the SEC. Copies of the Company's filings with the SEC may be obtained at the "Investors -In The News" section of the Company's website at www.worldenergy.com. The forward-looking statements made in this communication are made only as of the date of this Form 8-K, and the Company undertakes no obligation to update them to reflect subsequent events or circumstances.

SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

Date: November 5, 2014

By: /s/ Philip V. Adams Philip V. Adams President and Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT LIST

- 2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among World Energy Solutions, Inc., EnerNOC, Inc., and Wolf Merger Sub Corporation, dated November 4, 2014.
- 3.1 Amended and Restated By-Laws effective November 3, 2014.
- 10.1 Form of Director Indemnification Agreement.
- 99.1 Press Release dated November 4, 2014.

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

among

WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

WOLF MERGER SUB CORPORATION

and

ENERNOC, INC.

dated as of

November 4, 2014

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
ARTICLE I DEFI	NITIONS	2
Section 1.01 I	Definitions	2
Section 1.02	Interpretation; Construction	14
ARTICLE II THE	OFFER	14
Section 2.01	The Offer	14
Section 2.02	Target Actions	17
ARTICLE III THE	E MERGER	18
Section 3.01	The Merger	18
Section 3.02	Closing	18
Section 3.03	Effective Time	19
Section 3.04 I	Effects of the Merger	19
Section 3.05	Certificate of Incorporation; By-laws	19
Section 3.06 I	Directors and Officers	19
ARTICLE IV EFF	ECT OF THE MERGER ON CAPITAL STOCK	20
Section 4.01	Effect of the Merger on Capital Stock	20
Section 4.02	Surrender and Payment	20
Section 4.03	Dissenting Shares	22
Section 4.04	Adjustments	23
Section 4.05	Withholding Rights	23
Section 4.06	Lost Certificates	23
Section 4.07	Freatment of Stock Options and Other Stock-Based Awards	23
Section 4.08	Treatment of Warrants	26

-i-

TABLE OF CONTENTS CONTINUED	
	Page
ARTICLE V REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE TARGET	26
Section 5.01 Organization; Standing and Power; Charter Documents; Subsidiaries	26
Section 5.02 Capital Structure	27
Section 5.03 Authority; Non-Contravention; Governmental Consents	29
Section 5.04 SEC Filings; Financial Statements; Undisclosed Liabilities	31
Section 5.05 Absence of Certain Changes or Events	33
Section 5.06 Taxes	33
Section 5.07 Intellectual Property	35
Section 5.08 Compliance; Anti-Corruption; Permits	42
Section 5.09 Export Controls	43
Section 5.10 Litigation	44
Section 5.11 Brokers' and Finders' Fees	44
Section 5.12 Related Party Transactions	44
Section 5.13 Employee and Other Service Provider Matters; Benefit Plans	44
Section 5.14 Real Property and Personal Property Matters	47
Section 5.15 Environmental Matters	47
Section 5.16 Material Contracts; Government Contracts	48
Section 5.17 Information in the Offer Documents and the Schedule 14D-9	51
Section 5.18 Fairness Opinion	51
Section 5.19 Rule 14d-10 Matters	52
ARTICLE VI REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB	52
Section 6.01 Organization; Standing and Power	52
Section 6.02 Authority; Non-Contravention; Governmental Consents	52
Section 6.03 Brokers' and Finders' Fees	53

A COMPANY AND A COMPANY

-ii-

TABLE OF CONTENTS CONTINUED

		Page
Section 6.04	Information in the Offer Documents	54
Section 6.05	Sufficiency of Funds	54
Section 6.06	Litigation	54
Section 6.07	Ownership of Target Common Stock	54
Section 6.08	DGCL Section 203	54
ARTICLE VII C	OVENANTS	54
Section 7.01	Conduct of Business of the Target	54
Section 7.02	Other Actions	57
Section 7.03	Access to Information; Confidentiality	57
Section 7.04	Go-Shop; Solicitation; Change in Recommendation	57
Section 7.05	Notices of Certain Events	62
Section 7.06	Employees; Benefit Plans	63
Section 7.07	Directors' and Officers' Indemnification and Insurance	64
Section 7.08	Commercially Reasonable Efforts	65
Section 7.09	Public Announcements	67
Section 7.10	Takeover Statutes	67
Section 7.11	Section 16 Matters	67
Section 7.12	Rule 14d-10(d) Matters	67
Section 7.13	Further Assurances	68
Section 7.14	Consents	68
Section 7.15	Payoff Letters and Release of Encumbrances	68
ARTICLE VIII	CONDITIONS	69
Section 8.01	Conditions to Each Party's Obligation to Effect the Merger	69

-iii-

TABLE OF CONTENTS CONTINUI	ED
----------------------------	----

and the second

		Page
ARTICLE IX TE	RMINATION, AMENDMENT AND WAIVER	69
Section 9.01	Termination by Mutual Consent	69
Section 9.02	Termination by Either Parent, Merger Sub or the Target	69
Section 9.03	Termination by Parent or Merger Sub	70
Section 9.04	Termination by the Target	71
Section 9.05	Notice of Termination; Effect of Termination	71
Section 9.06	Fees and Expenses Following Termination	72
Section 9.07	Amendment	74
Section 9.08	Extension; Waiver	74
ARTICLE X MIS	CELLANEOUS	74
Section 10.01	Survival	74
Section 10.02	Sole Remedy; Specific Performance; Non-Reliance; Recourse	74
Section 10.03	Disclosure Schedules	75
Section 10.04	Governing Law	76
Section 10.05	Submission to Jurisdiction	76
Section 10.06	Waiver of Jury Trial	76
Section 10.07	Notices	77
Section 10.08	No Third Party Beneficiaries	78
Section 10.09	Severability	78
Section 10.10	Assignment	78
Section 10.11	Counterparts; Effectiveness	78
Section 10.12	Entire Agreement	78

-iv-

TABLE OF CONTENTS CONTINUED

Annex I Offer Conditions

Exhibit A Form of Certificate of Incorporation of Surviving Corporation

Exhibit B Beneficial Ownership of Target Common Stock

Exhibit C Form of Standstill Waiver

Exhibit D Form of Support Agreement

-v-

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

This Agreement and Plan of Merger, is entered into as of November 4, 2014, by and among World Energy Solutions, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Target"), EnerNOC, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Parent"), and Wolf Merger Sub Corporation, a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned Subsidiary of Parent ("Merger Sub").

Recitals

WHEREAS, Parent desires to acquire the Target on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement;

WHEREAS, in furtherance thereof and pursuant to this Agreement, Merger Sub has agreed to commence a tender offer (as it may be amended from time to time as permitted under this Agreement, the "Offer") to purchase any and all of the outstanding shares of the common stock, par value \$0.0001 per share, of the Target (the "Target Common Stock") (other than the Cancelled Shares), at a price per share of Target Common Stock of \$5.50 (the "Offer Price") net to the Selling Stockholder in cash, without interest, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement;

WHEREAS, as soon as practicable following the Consummation of the Offer, Merger Sub will be merged with and into the Target (the "Merger") with the Target surviving the Merger as a wholly owned Subsidiary of Parent, in accordance with the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the "DGCL") (with the Merger being governed by Section 251(h) of the DGCL), pursuant to which each issued and outstanding share of Target Common Stock (other than the Cancelled Shares, the Accepted Shares, and the Dissenting Shares) will be converted into the right to receive an amount equal to the Merger Consideration;

WHEREAS, the board of directors of the Target (the "Target Board"), acting upon the recommendation of a special committee of independent directors previously appointed by the Target Board (the "Special Committee") and in reliance on the Fairness Opinion, has, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, (a) determined that the Offer, the Merger, and the other transactions contemplated hereby are fair to and in the best interests of the Target and its stockholders, (b) approved and declared advisable this Agreement, the Offer, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, and (c) resolved to recommend that the stockholders of the Target accept the Offer and tender their shares of Target Common Stock pursuant to the Offer;

WHEREAS, the respective boards of directors of Parent and Merger Sub have, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, unanimously approved and declared advisable this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including the Offer and the Merger; and

WHEREAS, as a condition and inducement to the willingness of Parent and Merger Sub to enter into this Agreement, concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, certain of the Target's officers and directors are entering into a tender and support agreement with Parent and Merger Sub substantially in the form attached hereto as **Exhibit D** (each, a "Support Agreement") pursuant to which, among other things, each such officer or director has agreed to tender shares of Target Common Stock to Merger Sub in the Offer.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement, the parties, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS

Section 1.01 Definitions . For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms will have the following meanings when used herein with initial capital letters:

"Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement" means a confidentiality and standstill agreement that contains confidentiality and standstill provisions that are no less favorable to the Target than those contained in the Confidentiality Agreement; <u>provided</u> that such confidentiality and standstill agreement shall expressly not prohibit, or adversely affect the rights of the Target thereunder upon, compliance by the Target with any provision of this Agreement.

"Accepted Shares" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(b).

"Affiliate" means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by or is under common control with, such first Person at any time during the period for which the determination of affiliation is being made. For the purposes of this definition, "control" (including the terms "controlling," "controlled by" and "under common control with"), as applied to any Person, means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of that Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by Contract or otherwise.

"Agreement" means this Agreement and Plan of Merger, as it may be amended or supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof.

"Assumed Target Stock Option " has the meaning set forth in Section 4.07(a).

"Bonus Payment Date" has the meaning set forth in the definition of Eligible Target Employee.

"Book-Entry Shares" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.02(a).

"Business Day" means any day, other than Saturday, Sunday or any day on which banking institutions located in Boston, Massachusetts are authorized or required by Law or other governmental action to close.

" Cancelled Shares " has the meaning set forth in Section 4.01(a).

"Cashed Out Target Stock Option " has the meaning set forth in Section 4.07(a).

" Certificate " has the meaning set forth in Section 4.01(b).

" Certificate of Merger " has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03.

"Channel Partner" means any Person with whom the Target or any of its Subsidiaries has entered into a binding Contract through which such Person has been given the right to sell Target's online and offline procurement services for energy and energy-related commodities such as electricity, natural gas, demand response services, renewable energy certificates, emissions credits and associated energy management services.

" Charter Documents " has the meaning set forth in Section 5.01(b).

" Closing " has the meaning set forth in Section 3.02.

" Closing Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.02.

"COBRA" means the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended, and as codified in Section 4980B of the Code and Section 601 et. seq. of ERISA, and any similar state group health plan continuation law.

" Code " has the meaning set forth in Section 4.05 .

" Commerce Bank " has the meaning set forth in the definition of Commerce Bank Loan.

"Commerce Bank Loan " shall mean (i) the Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of December 30, 2013, among the Target and Commerce Bank & Trust ("Commerce Bank "), (ii) the Subordination Agreement, dated December 30, 2013, among the Target, Commerce Bank and MCR.

" Conduct of Business End Date " has the meaning set forth in Section 7.01 .

"Confidentiality Agreement" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.03(b).

" Consent" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.03(c).

"Consummated" (and with its correlative meanings "Consummation," "Consummates" and "Consummating") has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 251(h) of the DGCL.

"Contract "means any agreement, contract (written or oral), subcontract, lease or sublease of personal or real property, purchase order, arrangement, commitment, license or sublicense (but excluding any Target Employee Plans).

" Covered Securityholder " has the meaning set forth in Section 5.19.

"Damages" means the amount of all losses, liabilities, damages (including punitive, special, exemplary or similar damages), costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees and reasonable expenses relating thereto, incurred by Parent, Merger Sub or Target. For the avoidance of doubt, with respect to any Party, Damages will be reduced, without duplication, by any applicable Termination Fee or Reverse Termination Fee paid by such Party pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

" DGCL " has the meaning set forth in the Recitals .

" Disclosure Schedules " has the meaning set forth in the introductory language in Article V .

" Dissenting Shares " has the meaning set forth in Section 4.03 .

" DOL " shall mean the United States Department of Labor.

" Effective Time " has the meaning set forth in Section 3.03 .

"Eligible Target Employee" means a Target Employee who remains employed by the Target on December 31, 2014 and, on the applicable date when such payments shall be payable pursuant to the Target Bonus Plan and Target Commission Plan (the "Bonus Payment Date"), either (i) is employed in good standing or (ii) has, prior to the Bonus Payment Date, been terminated by the Company or Surviving Corporation, as applicable, without cause. For the avoidance of doubt, any Target Employee that is terminated with cause or voluntarily resigns prior to the Bonus Payment Date shall cease to be an Eligible Target Employee.

"Employment Compensation Arrangement" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.19.

"Encumbrance" means, with respect to any property or asset, all pledges, liens, mortgages, charges, encumbrances, hypothecations, options, rights of first refusal, rights of first offer and security interests of any kind or nature whatsoever.

"Environmental Law" means any Law relating to either (a) the protection of human health or the environment (including air, water vapor, surface water, groundwater, drinking water supply, surface or subsurface land or natural resources), or (b) the presence, use, production, generation, handling, transportation, treatment, storage, disposal, distribution, labeling, testing, processing, discharge, release, threatened release, control or cleanup of, any Hazardous Substances.

" Equity Award Certificate " has the meaning set forth in Section 4.07(e) .

"Equity Award Exchange Ratio" means the quotient obtained by dividing (i) the Merger Consideration, by (ii) the volume weighted average trading price of one share of Parent Common Stock, as reported by The NASDAQ Stock Market, LLC during the 20-day period ending on the second to last NASDAQ trading date immediately prior to the Effective Time.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and applicable regulations issued pursuant thereto.

"Exchange Act " means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

"Exchange Agent" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.02(a).

" Excluded Party " has the meaning set forth in Section 7.04(k) .

"Expenses" means, with respect to any Person, all out-of-pocket fees and expenses (including all fees and expenses of counsel, accountants, financial advisors and investment bankers of such Person and its Affiliates), incurred by such Person or on its behalf in connection with or related to the authorization, preparation, negotiation, execution and performance of this Agreement and any transactions related thereto, any litigation with respect thereto, regulatory filings and approvals, and all other matters related to the Merger or other transactions contemplated hereby.

"Expiration Time" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(e).

"Fairness Opinion" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.18.

"FCPA " has the meaning set forth in Section 5.08(b).

"FOCI" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.16(1).

"GAAP " means United States generally accepted accounting principles.

"Go-Shop End Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.04(a).

"Go-Shop Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.04(a).

"Government Contract" means any Contract entered into between the Target and an agency of the United States or an agency of any of its respective States, or any municipality or local government agency, or an agency of a foreign sovereign or agency of a provincial, regional or metropolitan government thereof. The term "Government Contract" also includes any subcontract of the Target with another entity under the Target's prime contract with a governmental agency or under such other entity's prime contract with a governmental agency.

"Government Contract Bid" means any bid, offer, proposal, written response to a request for a proposal, and/or quote for goods or services to be delivered (at least in part) by the Target that, if awarded, would lead to a Government Contract.

"Governmental Entity" means any government, governmental agency, court or regulatory or administrative body.

"Hazardous Substance" means any hazardous, toxic, chemical or dangerous substance, pollutant, contaminant, waste or material, that is regulated by any Governmental Entity, including the following: (a) any material, substance or waste that is defined as "hazardous waste," "hazardous material," "hazardous substance," "extremely hazardous waste," "restricted hazardous waste," "contaminant," "toxic waste," "regulated waste" or "toxic substance" under any Environmental Law, (b) petroleum, petroleum products, waste oil, and their constituents and fractions, (c) asbestos and asbestos-containing materials and (d) radon and radioactive materials.

5

"Indemnified Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.07(a).

"Initial Expiration Time" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(e).

"Intellectual Property " shall mean and include all algorithms, application programming interfaces, apparatus, assay components, biological materials, cell lines, clinical data, chemical compositions or structures, circuit designs and assemblies, databases and data collections, diagrams, formulae, gate arrays, IP cores, inventions (whether or not patentable), know-how, logos, marks (including brand names, product names, logos, and slogans), methods, network configurations and architectures, net lists, photomasks, processes, proprietary information, protocols, schematics, specifications, software, software code (in any form including source code and executable or object code), subroutines, test results, test vectors, user interfaces, techniques, URLs, web sites, works of authorship, and other forms of technology (whether or not embodied in any tangible form and including all tangible embodiments of the foregoing such as instruction manuals, laboratory notebooks, prototypes, samples, studies, and summaries).

"Intellectual Property Rights" shall mean and include all rights of the following types, which may exist or be created under the laws of any jurisdiction in the world: (a) rights associated with works of authorship, including exclusive exploitation rights, copyrights, moral rights, and mask works; (b) trademark, trade dress, trade name rights and similar rights; (c) trade secret rights; (d) Patents and industrial property rights; (e) other proprietary rights in Intellectual Property of every kind and nature; and (f) all registrations, renewals, extensions, continuations, divisions, or reissues of, and applications for, any of the rights referred to in clauses (a) through (e) above.

"Intervening Event " has the meaning in Section 7.04(g).

" IRS " shall mean the Internal Revenue Service.

"Key Employees " has the meaning set forth in Section 5.13(c) .

"Knowledge "means, (i) when used with respect to the Target, (A) the actual knowledge of Phil Adams, James Parslow, Martha Danly, Kristen McIsaac, Tony Barnhart and John Harvey or (B) such knowledge as any of the individuals identified in subclause (i)(A) would have had if they had conducted reasonable inquiry, including inquiry of such individual's direct reports where such direct report(s) would reasonably be expected to have knowledge about the matter, or (ii) when used with respect to Parent, (A) the actual knowledge of Tim Healy, David Brewster, Neil Moses, Gregg Dixon and Matthew Cushing or (B) such knowledge as any of the individuals identified in subclause (ii)(A) would have had if they had conducted reasonable inquiry, including inquiry of such individual's direct reports where such direct report(s) would reasonably be expected to have knowledge about the matter.

"Law" means any applicable law (including common law), ordinance, rule, regulation, code, Order, injunction, judgment or decree or judicial or administrative doctrine promulgated or issued by any Governmental Entity.

"Lease "means all leases, subleases and other Contracts under which the Target or any of its Subsidiaries leases, uses or occupies, or has the right to use or occupy, any real property.

"Leased Real Estate" means all real property that the Target or any of its Subsidiaries leases, subleases or otherwise uses or occupies, or has the right to use or occupy, pursuant to a Lease.

"Legal Action" means any action, suit, litigation, arbitration, proceeding (including any civil, criminal, administrative, investigative or appellate proceeding), prosecution, contest, hearing, inquiry, inquest, audit, examination or investigation involving any Governmental Entity or any arbitrator or arbitration panel.

"Liability "means any liability, indebtedness or obligation of any kind (whether accrued, absolute, contingent, matured, unmatured or otherwise, and whether or not required to be recorded or reflected on a balance sheet under GAAP).

"Maximum Premium" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.07(c).

"Merger " has the meaning set forth in the Recitals .

- "Merger Consideration " has the meaning set forth in Section 4.01(b) .
- " Merger Sub " has the meaning set forth in the Preamble .
- " Minimum Condition " has the meaning set forth in Annex I .

" MCR " has the meaning set forth in MCR Loan.

"MCR Loan" means the Note Purchase Agreement, dated October 3, 2012 and amended on March 27, 2014, between the Target and Massachusetts Capital Resource Co. ("MCR") and the subordinated note issued pursuant thereto.

"NISPOM" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.16(1).

"Non-Tendered Target Restricted Stock Award" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.07(c).

"Notice of Superior Proposal" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.04(h).

"Notice Period " has the meaning set forth in Section 7.04(h).

" Offer " has the meaning set forth in the Recitals .

- " Offer Closing " has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(b).
- " Offer Conditions " has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(b) .
- " Offer Documents" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(d).

" Offer Price " has the meaning set forth in the Recitals .

"Open Source Code " shall mean any software code that is distributed as "free software" or "open source software" or is otherwise distributed publicly in source code form under terms that permit modification and redistribution of such software. Open Source Code includes software code that is licensed under the GNU General Public License, GNU Lesser General Public License, Mozilla License, Common Public License, Apache License, BSD License, Artistic License, or Sun Community Source License. " Option Consideration " has the meaning set forth in Section 4.07(a) .

" Order " means any writ, assessment, decision, injunction, decree, ruling or judgment of a Governmental Entity.

"Outside Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(e).

" Parent" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble .

" Parent Common Stock " means the common stock, \$0.001 par value per share, of Parent.

"Parent Material Adverse Effect" shall mean any change, event, effect, development, occurrence, state of facts or development that, individually or in the aggregate, prevents, materially delays or impairs, or would reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay or impair, the ability of Parent to consummate the Offer, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby on the terms set forth herein.

"Patents" means all patents, and applications therefor, for any and all jurisdictions in the world, including the United States, and including all reissues, divisions, renewals, revisions, revivals, reexaminations, extensions, provisional patents, continuations, continuing prosecution applications and continuations-in-part.

" Payment Fund " has the meaning set forth in Section 4.02(a) .

"Permits" means permits, licenses, clearances, authorizations and approvals from Governmental Entities.

"Permitted Encumbrance" means (a) any Encumbrance that arises out of Taxes not in default and payable without penalty or interest or the validity of which is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, (b) any Encumbrance representing the rights of customers, suppliers and subcontractors in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice under the terms of any Contracts to which the relevant Party is a party or under general principles of commercial or government contract law (including mechanics', materialmen's, carriers', workmen's, warehouseman's, repairmen's, landlords' and similar liens granted or which arise in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice), (c) conditional sales or title retention agreements (if any) to which any of the capital assets comprising the assets of the Target are subject, (d) in the case of any Contract, Encumbrances that are restrictions against the transfer or assignment thereof that are included in the terms of such Contract, (e) in the case of real property, Encumbrances that are easements, rights-of-way, encroachments, restrictions, conditions and other similar Encumbrances incurred or suffered in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and which, individually or in the aggregate, do not and would not materially impair the use (or contemplated use), utility or value of the applicable real property or otherwise materially impair the present or contemplated business operations at such location, or zoning, entitlement, building and other land use regulations imposed by Governmental Entities having jurisdiction over such real property or that are otherwise set forth on a title report, (f)

Encumbrances arising under workers' compensation, unemployment insurance, social security, retirement and similar legislation, (g) any exceptions caused by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, including Merger Sub, or their respective Representatives, and (h) any other Encumbrances that, in the aggregate, do not materially and adversely affect the value or the continued use of the assets or properties to which they relate.

"Person" means any individual, corporation, limited or general partnership, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, trust, association, joint venture, Governmental Entity and other entity and group (which term will include a "group" as such term is defined in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act).

"Personal Data" means a natural Person's name, street address, telephone number, e-mail address, photograph, social security number, driver's license number, passport number, or customer or account number, or any other piece of information that allows the identification of a natural Person, and all data associated with such information.

"Prohibited Party Lists " has the meaning set forth in Section 5.09(e) .

"Public Official or Entity " means (i) any director, officer, employee, agent, representative, department, agency, official, de facto official, corporate entity, instrumentality or subdivision of any government, military, or public international organization, including any state-owned or affiliated company or organization, or (ii) any candidate for political office, any political party or any official of a political party.

"Registered IP" shall mean all Intellectual Property Rights that are registered, filed, or issued under the authority of any Governmental Entity, including all Patents, registered copyrights, registered mask works, and registered Trademarks and all applications for any of the foregoing.

"Representatives "means the directors, officers, employees, agents (including financial and legal advisors) and other advisors and representatives of a Person.

"Reverse Termination Fee" means an amount equal to \$3,598,232.

"Sarbanes-Oxley Act" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.04(e).

"Schedule 14D-9" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(a).

"SEC " has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(d).

"Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

"Selling Stockholder" means a Person that validly tenders Target Common Stock in connection with the Offer and does not validly withdraw such tender.

9

"Sensitive Target Data" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.07(q).

"Special Committee" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals .

"Stockholder List Date " has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(b) .

"Subsidiary" means, when used with respect to any Person, any corporation or other organization, whether incorporated or unincorporated, (i) a majority of the outstanding voting securities or other comparable interests of which having by their terms ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of directors or others performing similar functions with respect to such corporation or other organization is directly or indirectly owned or controlled by such Person or by any one or more of its Subsidiaries or (ii) of which such Person or any Subsidiary of such Person is a general partner (excluding partnerships in which such Person or any Subsidiary of such Person does not have a majority of the voting interest).

"Superior Proposal" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.04(k).

"Supplier" means a buyer or seller of energy, energy-related services and/or energy management services with whom the Target or any of its Subsidiaries has entered into a binding Contract through which such energy supplier may engage in auctions or off-line transactions to meet prospective customers' needs for natural gas, electricity and/or energy related services.

"Support Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals .

"Surviving Corporation " has the meaning set forth in Section 3.01.

"Takeover Proposal" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.04(k).

" Target " has the meaning set forth in the Preamble .

- "Target 2006 Incentive Plan" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.02(b)(i).
- "Target Acquisition Agreement" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.04(e).
- " Target Adverse Recommendation Change " has the meaning set forth in Section 7.04(g) .

"Target Balance Sheet" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.04(d).

" Target Board " has the meaning set forth in the Recitals .

" Target Board Meeting " has the meaning set forth in Section 5.03(d) .

" Target Board Recommendation " has the meaning set forth in Section 5.03(d) .

" Target Bonus Plan " has the meaning set forth in Section 7.06(a).

"Target Commission Plan" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.06(a).

" Target Common Stock " has the meaning set forth in the Recitals .

"Target Consultant" means a current consultant, independent contractor or advisor of the Target or a Subsidiary who is an individual, other than Channel Partners.

"Target Employee " means a current employee of the Target or any Subsidiary.

"Target Employee Plans" means the employee benefit and executive compensation plans, programs and policies (including "employee benefit plans" as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) maintained by the Target or any Target ERISA Affiliate.

"Target Equity Award " means a Target Stock Option or a Target Restricted Stock Award, as the case may be.

"Target ERISA Affiliate" means any Person that, together with the Target or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective Affiliates, would be treated as a single employer within the meaning of Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code.

"Target Financial Advisors" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.11 .

"Target IP" shall mean (a) all Intellectual Property Rights in or pertaining to the Target Products or methods or processes used to manufacture the Target Products, and (b) all other Intellectual Property Rights owned by, purported to be owned by or exclusively licensed to the Target or its Subsidiaries for use in or necessary for the conduct of the business of Target as currently conducted.

"Target IP Contract " shall mean any Contract (a) to which the Target or any of its Subsidiaries is a party; (b) by which the Target or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their assets is bound or under which the Target or any of its Subsidiaries has, or may become subject to, any obligation; and (c) under which the Target or any of its Subsidiaries has or may acquire any right or interest that, in each case, contains any assignment or license of, or covenant not to assert or enforce, any Intellectual Property Right or that otherwise relates to any Target IP or any Intellectual Property developed by, with, or for the Target or any of its Subsidiaries.

"Target Material Adverse Effect" means any fact, event, change or effect that (a) would reasonably be expected to materially impair the ability of the Target to perform its obligations under this Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby or (b) has had or would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the Target's or its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, businesses, results of operations, financial condition, or assets, except for and excluding (i) any fact, event, change or effect (A) relating to any national, international or any foreign or domestic regional economic, financial, social or political conditions (including changes therein) in general or (B) affecting the industry or industries in which Target or its Subsidiaries operates; (ii) any fact, event, change, proposed change or effect relating to conditions caused by acts of God (including any earthquakes, floods, hurricanes, tropical storms, fires or other natural disasters or any national, international or regional calamity), terrorism, national or international hostilities, sabotage, or war (whether or not declared); (iii) any fact, event, change, proposed change or effect that arises or relates to any change of Law or any change in GAAP; (iv) any fact, event, change or effect relating to conditions take under this Agreement without Parent's consent and for which action Parent does not provide consent; (v) any failure by

the Target to meet any internal or published projections, predictions, forecasts, estimates or projections (whether made by the Target or third parties) or analysts' expectations in respect of revenues, cash flow, cash position, earnings or other financial or operating metrics for any period; (vi) any fact, event, change or effect (including any loss of employees or any loss of, or any disruption in, supplier, customer, licensor, licensee, partner or similar relationships) attributable or relating to the announcement or pendency of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (vii) any changes in the market price or trading volume of Target Common Stock or in the Target's credit rating; (viii) changes in any financial, debt, credit, capital or banking markets or conditions (including any disruption thereof); (ix) changes in interest, currency or exchange rates or the price of any commodity, security or market index; and (x) any Legal Action arising from or relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (except as it relates to any breach or violation of this Agreement by the Target); (xi) any fact, event, change or effect relating to or arising from acts or omissions by the Target and its Subsidiaries required by the terms of this Agreement; (xii) any fact, event, change or effect relating to or arising from any announcements made by Parent or its Affiliates after the date hereof with respect to future plans for the Target's business; and (xiii) any fact, event, change or effect relating to or arising from any actions taken by Parent or its Affiliates after the date hereof that have a direct adverse impact on the Target's customers; provided, however, that (A) the underlying cause(s) of such change or failure shall not be excluded in the case of clauses (v), (vi) and (vii) and (B) any changes, events, circumstances or developments referred to in clauses (i), (ii), (iii), (viii), and (ix) shall not be excluded to the extent the same disproportionately affect (individually or together with other changes, events, circumstances or developments) the Target and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, as compared to other similarly situated Persons operating in the same principal industries and geographic markets in which the Target and its Subsidiaries operate.

" Target Material Contract" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.16(a).

"Target Privacy Policy" means each external or internal, past or present privacy policy of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries, including any policy relating to (i) the privacy of users of the Target Products or of any website, owned, controlled or licensed by of Target or its Subsidiaries, (ii) the collection, storage, disclosure, and transfer of any User Data or Personal Data, and (iii) any employee information.

"Target Product" means any product or service currently being designed, developed, manufactured, marketed, distributed, provided, licensed or sold by the Target or its Subsidiaries.

" Target Restricted Stock Award " has the meaning set forth in Section 4.07(c).

"Target SEC Documents " has the meaning set forth in Section 5.04(a).

" Target Securities " has the meaning set forth in Section 5.02(b)(ii) .

" Target Software " has the meaning set forth in Section 5.07(1).

" Target Stock Option " has the meaning set forth in Section 4.07(a) .

"Target Stock Plans" means those plans pursuant to which the Target has awarded or may award to Target Employees, consultants, contractors, advisors or other service providers of the Target or its Subsidiaries options, stock appreciation rights, stock or other rights to acquire shares of Target Common Stock, and which are listed in Section 5.13(e) of the Disclosure Schedules.

"Target Subsidiary Securities" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.02(d).

"Tax Returns" means all reports, returns, declarations, statements, elections, claims for refund and other forms or documents required to be filed with respect to Taxes, including all attachments thereto and any amendments thereto.

"Taxes" means all taxes levied or imposed by any Governmental Entity, including income, gross receipts, windfall profits, value added, severance, production, sales, use, license, excise, franchise, employment, environmental, real property, personal property, transfer, ad valorem, payroll, social security, occupation, capital stock, profits, customs duties, escheat, stamp, unclaimed property, disability, registration, intangible, alternative minimum, estimated, withholding or other taxes of any nature whatsoever, together with any interest, additions or penalties with respect thereto and any interest in respect of such additions or penalties, whether or not disputed or contested.

"Tendered Target Restricted Stock Award " has the meaning set forth in Section 4.07(c).

"Termination Fee" means an amount equal to \$2,398,821, except that the "Termination Fee" shall mean an amount equal to \$1,028,066 if this Agreement is terminated by Target pursuant to Section 9.04(a) either (i) during the Go-Shop Period or (ii) after the Go-Shop End Date in connection with a Superior Proposal from an Excluded Party.

"Third Party" shall mean any Person or group other than Parent, Merger Sub and their respective Affiliates.

"Trademarks" means trademarks, service marks, trade names, logos, common law trademarks and service marks, trademark and service mark registrations and applications therefor and all goodwill associated therewith.

"Transaction Litigation " has the meaning set forth in Section 7.08(b).

"Treasury Regulations " means the Treasury regulations promulgated under the Code.

"U.S. Export Control Laws" means United States laws governing exports of controlled commodities, software or technology, embargoes, sanctions and boycotts, including the Arms Export Controls Act (22 U.S.C. Ch. 39), the International Emergency Economic Powers Act (50 U.S.C. §§ 1701 et seq.), the Trading with the Enemy Act (50 U.S.C. app. §§ 1 et. seq.), the Export Administration Act of 1979 (50 U.S.C. app. §§ 2401 et seq.), the International Boycott Provisions of Section 999 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and all rules, regulations and executive orders relating to any of the foregoing, including but not limited to the International Traffic in Arms Regulations (22 C.F.R. §§ 120 et seq.), the Export Administration Regulations (15 C.F.R. §§ 730 et. seq.), and regulations administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Controls of the United States Department of the Treasury.

"User Data" means any Personal Data or other data or information collected by or on behalf of the Target or its Subsidiaries from users of the Target Products or of any website or mobile application owned, controlled or licensed by the Target or its Subsidiaries.

- "Voting Debt" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.02(c).
- "Warrants" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.08.
- "Willful Breach " has the meaning set forth in Section 9.05.

Section 1.02 Interpretation; Construction .

(a) The table of contents and headings herein are for convenience of reference only, do not constitute part of this Agreement and will not be deemed to limit or otherwise affect any of the provisions hereof. Where a reference in this Agreement is made to a Section, Exhibit or Schedule, such reference is to a Section of, Exhibit to or Schedule of this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. Whenever the words "include," "includes" or "including" are used in this Agreement, they will be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation." A reference in this Agreement to \$ or dollars is to U.S. dollars. The words "hereof," "herein" and "hereunder" and words of similar import when used in this Agreement will refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement. References to "this Agreement" includes the Disclosure Schedules, as it may be amended from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof.

(b) The parties have participated jointly in negotiating and drafting this Agreement. In the event that an ambiguity or a question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement will be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties, and no presumption or burden of proof will arise favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of the authorship of any provision of this Agreement.

ARTICLE II THE OFFER

Section 2.01 The Offer .

(a) Unless this Agreement shall have previously been terminated in accordance with Article IX, as promptly as practicable, but in any event within ten (10) Business Days after the date of the initial public announcement of this Agreement (but in no event earlier than five (5) Business Days after the date of the initial public announcement of this Agreement), Merger Sub will (and Parent will cause Merger Sub to) "commence" (within the meaning of Rule 14d-2 under the Exchange Act) the Offer.

(b) The obligations of Merger Sub to, and of Parent to cause Merger Sub to, accept for payment and pay for any shares of Target Common Stock validly tendered and not validly withdrawn pursuant to the Offer are subject to the terms and the satisfaction or waiver (to the extent permitted under this Agreement) of the conditions set forth in Annex I (as they may be amended from time to time in accordance with this Agreement, collectively, the "Offer Conditions") (without limiting the right of Merger Sub to terminate, extend or modify the Offer in accordance with the terms of this Agreement). On the terms and subject to the conditions of the

Offer and this Agreement, Merger Sub shall, and Parent shall cause Merger Sub to, irrevocably accept and pay for all shares of Target Common Stock validly tendered and not validly withdrawn pursuant to the Offer as soon as practicable (the "Accepted Shares") after the Expiration Time and in compliance with applicable Law. The Offer Price payable in respect of each Accepted Share pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence shall be paid net to the Selling Stockholder in cash, without interest and subject to any required withholding of Taxes, on the terms and subject to the conditions hereof. Pursuant to and in accordance with the Target 2006 Incentive Plan, the Offer Price to be paid with respect to Target Restricted Stock Awards (as defined below) will be paid to the holders of such Target Restricted Stock Awards in accordance with the procedures, and subject to the restrictions, set forth in Section 4.07(c). The acceptance for payment of Accepted Shares pursuant to and subject to the conditions of the Offer is referred to in this Agreement as the "Offer Closing."

(c) The Offer Conditions are for the sole benefit of Parent and Merger Sub, and Parent and Merger Sub may waive, in whole or in part, any Offer Condition at any time and from time to time, in their sole and absolute discretion, other than the Minimum Condition, which may be waived by Parent and Merger Sub only with the prior written consent of the Target. Parent and Merger Sub expressly reserve the right to increase the Offer Price or to make any other changes in the terms and conditions of the Offer; *provided* that, unless otherwise provided in this Agreement or previously approved by the Target in writing, Parent and Merger Sub shall not: (i) decrease the Offer Price or change the form of consideration payable in the Offer, (ii) decrease the number of shares of Target Common Stock sought to be purchased in the Offer, (iii) impose conditions on the Offer in addition to the Offer Conditions, (iv) amend any Offer Condition, (vi) extend the Expiration Time except as required or permitted by Section 2.01(e) or (vii) amend any other term of the Offer in a manner that is adverse in any material respect to the holders of Starget Common Stock.

(d) On the date the Offer is commenced, Merger Sub shall, and Parent shall cause Merger Sub to, file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") a Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO with respect to the Offer, which Tender Offer Statement shall include or incorporate by reference an offer to purchase, form of letter of transmittal, summary advertisement and other required ancillary offer documents (such Schedule TO and the documents included therein pursuant to which the Offer will be made, together with any supplements or amendments thereto, the "Offer Documents") and cause the Offer Documents to be disseminated to the holders of shares of Target Common Stock as and to the extent required by applicable Law. The Target hereby consents to the inclusion of the Target Board Recommendation in the Offer Documents of applicable Law. The Target shall promptly (but in no event more than two (2) Business Days) furnish to Parent and Merger Sub all information concerning the Target and the holders of shares of Target Common Stock that may be required by applicable Law to be set forth in the Offer Documents or reasonably requested in connection with any action contemplated by this Section 2.01(d), including communication of the Offer to the record and beneficial holders of shares of Target Common Stock. Each of the parties agrees to promptly correct any information provided by it for use in the Offer Documents if and to the extent that it shall have become false or misleading in any material respect, and Parent and Merger Sub further agree to take all steps necessary to cause the Offer Documents as so

corrected to be filed with the SEC and disseminated to the holders of shares of Target Common Stock, in each case as and to the extent required by applicable Law. Parent and Merger Sub shall provide the Target in writing with any written comments (and shall orally describe any oral comments) that Parent, Merger Sub or their counsel may receive from time to time from the SEC or its staff with respect to the Offer Documents promptly after receipt of such comments. Prior to the filing of the Offer Documents (including any amendment or supplement thereto) with the SEC or dissemination thereof to the holders of shares of Target Common Stock, or responding to any comments of the SEC with respect to the Offer Documents, Parent and Merger Sub shall provide the Target, in each instance, with a reasonable opportunity to review and comment on such Offer Documents or response, and Parent and Merger Sub shall give reasonable consideration to any comments provided by the Target. Parent and Merger Sub shall use commercially reasonable efforts to respond promptly to any such SEC comments.

(e) The Offer will initially expire at 11:59 p.m. (Boston, Massachusetts time) on January 2, 2015 (the "Initial Expiration Time") or, in the event the Initial Expiration Time has been extended pursuant to this Agreement, the date and time to which the Offer has been so extended (the Initial Expiration Time, or such later date and time to which the Initial Expiration Time has been extended pursuant to this Agreement, is referred to as the "Expiration Time"). Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) if, on the date of the then-effective Expiration Time, any of the Offer Conditions have not been satisfied or waived, Merger Sub shall, and Parent shall cause Merger Sub to, extend the Offer for successive periods of not more than ten (10) Business Days (the length of such period to be determined by Merger Sub), or for such longer period as the parties may agree, in order to permit the satisfaction of the Offer Conditions, except that if immediately prior to any scheduled Expiration Time, all Offer Conditions (except the Minimum Condition) have been satisfied or waived by the Parent or the Merger Sub, then the Parent's and the Merger Sub's obligations to extend the Expiration Time shall be limited to (A) an extension of the Expiration Time for one period of not more than ten (10) Business Days (the length of such period to be determined by Merger Sub), or for such longer period as the parties may agree, to permit the satisfaction of the Minimum Condition, and (B) if at the end of such period described in clause (A), the Minimum Condition continues to not be satisfied, an extension of the Expiration Time for up to two (2) additional periods of not more than ten (10) Business Days (the length of such period to be determined by Merger Sub), or for such longer periods as the parties may agree, after which, if the Minimum Condition remains unsatisfied, neither the Parent nor the Merger Sub shall be required to extend the Expiration Time (it being understood, for the avoidance of doubt, that (I) the Offer shall not be extended pursuant to this clause (i) if all Offer Conditions have been satisfied or waived and (II) without the prior written consent of the Target, the "extension periods" described in this clause (i), collectively, may not be less than such number of Business Days that when added to the number of Business Days elapsed from the commencement of the Offer would total fifty (50) Business Days), and (ii) Merger Sub shall, and Parent shall cause Merger Sub to, extend the Offer for any period required by any rule, regulation, interpretation or position of the SEC, its staff, or any national securities exchange on which the Target's securities trade applicable to the Offer or necessary to resolve any comments of the SEC or its staff applicable to the Offer or the Offer Documents; provided that, in the case of clauses (i) and (ii), Merger Sub shall not in any event be required to, and without the Target's prior written consent shall not, extend the Offer beyond the date that is fifty-two (52) Business Days following the commencement of the Offer in accordance with Section 2.01(a) above (the "Outside Date "). Nothing in this Section 2.01(e) shall be deemed to impair, limit or otherwise restrict in any manner the right of the Target, Parent or Merger Sub to

terminate this Agreement pursuant to Article IX. In the event that this Agreement is terminated pursuant to the terms hereof, Merger Sub shall, and Parent shall cause Merger Sub to, promptly (and in any event within one (1) Business Day of such termination) terminate the Offer. If the Offer is terminated or withdrawn by Merger Sub, or this Agreement is terminated in accordance with Article IX, prior to the acceptance for payment of shares of Target Common Stock tendered in the Offer, Merger Sub shall, and Parent shall cause Merger Sub to, promptly return, and shall cause any depository acting on behalf of Merger Sub to return, all tendered shares of Target Common Stock to the registered holders thereof.

(f) Parent will provide or cause to be provided to Merger Sub, on a timely basis so as to satisfy Merger Sub's obligations under this Agreement and the Offer, the funds necessary to pay for any shares of Target Common Stock that Merger Sub becomes obligated to accept for payment, and pay for, pursuant to the Offer.

Section 2.02 Target Actions .

(a) On the date the Offer Documents are filed with the SEC, the Target will file with the SEC a Solicitation/Recommendation Statement on Schedule 14D-9 with respect to the Offer in accordance with the Exchange Act (together with all amendments, supplements and exhibits thereto, the "Schedule 14D-9") that will, subject to the provisions of Section 7.04, contain the recommendation described in Section 5.03(d), the Fairness Opinion of the Target's financial advisor referenced in Section 5.18, and the notice and other information required by Section 262(d) (2) of the DGCL. The Target will cause the Schedule 14D-9 to be disseminated to the Target's stockholders to the extent required by applicable Law, including by setting the Stockholder List Date as the record date for the purpose of receiving the notice required by Section 262(d)(2) of the DGCL. The Target shall cause the Schedule 14D-9 to comply as to form in all material respects with the requirements of applicable Law. Promptly, but in no event more than two (2) Business Days, after the date of this Agreement, Parent and Merger Sub will furnish to the Target all information concerning Parent and Merger Sub required by the Exchange Act to be set forth in the Schedule 14D-9. The Target, Parent and Merger Sub will promptly correct any information provided by it for use in the Schedule 14D-9 if and to the extent that such information becomes false or misleading in any material respect or as otherwise required by applicable Law. The Target will cause the Schedule 14D-9, as so corrected (if applicable), to be filed with the SEC and disseminated to the Target's stockholders, in each case as and to the extent required by the Exchange Act. The Target will promptly notify Parent and Merger Sub upon the receipt of any comments from the SEC, or any request from the SEC for amendments or supplements, to the Schedule 14D-9, and will promptly provide Parent and Merger Sub with copies of all correspondence between it and its Representatives and the SEC with respect to the Schedule 14D-9. Prior to the filing of the Schedule 14D-9 (including any amendments or supplements thereto) with the SEC or dissemination thereof to the Target's stockholders, or responding to any comments of the SEC with respect to the Schedule 14D-9, the Target will provide Parent, Merger Sub and their counsel a reasonable opportunity to review and comment on such Schedule 14D-9 or response, and the Target will give reasonable consideration to any such comments. The Target shall use commercially reasonable efforts to respond promptly to any such SEC comments.

(b) In connection with the Offer, promptly after the date of this Agreement but in no event more than eight (8) Business Days after the date of this Agreement the Target will furnish or

cause to be furnished to Parent and Merger Sub security position listings and any other available listings or computer files containing the names and addresses of the record holders or known beneficial owners of the shares of Target Common Stock as of the most recent practicable date (but subject to the following sentence of this Section 2.02(b)), and will promptly furnish Parent and Merger Sub with such information and assistance (including lists of record holders or known beneficial owners of the shares of Target Common Stock, updated from time to time upon Parent's, Merger Sub's or either of their respective agents' request, and the addresses and lists of security positions of such record holders or known beneficial owners) as Parent, Merger Sub or their respective agents may reasonably request for the purpose of communicating the Offer to the record holders and beneficial owners of the shares of Target Common Stock (the date of the list used to determine the Persons to whom the Offer Documents and Schedule 14D-9 are first disseminated, the "Stockholder List Date"). The Target shall ensure that the Stockholder List Date is not more than ten (10) calendar days prior to the date that the Schedule 14D-9 is first disseminated. Subject to the requirements of applicable Law, and except for such steps as are necessary to disseminate the Offer Documents and any other documents necessary to consummate the Offer, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, Parent and Merger Sub will hold in confidence the information contained in any such labels, listing and files in accordance with the Confidentiality Agreement and will use such information only in connection with the Offer and the Merger and, if this Agreement is terminated, will promptly deliver (and will use their respective commercially reasonable efforts to cause their agents and Representatives to deliver) to the Target (or destroy) all copies and any extract or summaries of such information then in their possession or control.

ARTICLE III THE MERGER

Section 3.01 The Merger . On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and in accordance with the DGCL, at the Effective Time Merger Sub will merge with and into the Target. As a result of the Merger, the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub will cease, and the Target will continue its corporate existence under the DGCL as the surviving corporation in the Merger (sometimes referred to herein as the "Surviving Corporation"). The Merger will be governed by Section 251(h) of the DGCL and shall be effected as soon as practicable following the Consummation of the Offer without the adoption of this Agreement by the stockholders of the Target, subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in Section 8.01; provided that if, notwithstanding such express election to cause the Merger to be governed by Section 251(h) of the DGCL for any reason, then the parties hereto shall take all actions necessary to cause the consummation of the Merger as promptly as practicable following the Consummation of the stockholders of the Target.

Section 3.02 Closing . Unless this Agreement is earlier and validly terminated, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, the closing of the Merger (the "Closing") will take place at (i) 9:00 a.m., Boston, Massachusetts time, on the next Business Day following the date on which the Offer is Consummated; *provided* that all of the conditions set forth in Section 8.01 have been satisfied or waived (other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or, to the extent permitted hereunder, waiver

of all such conditions), or (ii) such other time or date as is agreed to in writing by the parties hereto. The Closing will be held at the offices of Cooley LLP, 500 Boylston Street, Boston MA 02116, unless another place is agreed to in writing by the parties hereto, or by electronic transmittal of documents, and the actual date of the Closing is hereinafter referred to as the "Closing Date."

Section 3.03 Effective Time . Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, at the Closing, the Target, Parent and Merger Sub will cause a certificate of merger (the "Certificate of Merger") to be executed, acknowledged and filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware in accordance with the relevant provisions of the DGCL and will make all other filings or recordings required under the DGCL. The Merger will become effective at such time as the Certificate of Merger has been duly filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware or at such later date or time as may be agreed by the Target and Parent in writing and specified in the Certificate of Merger in accordance with the DGCL (the effective time of the Merger being hereinafter referred to as the "Effective Time").

Section 3.04 Effects of the Merger . The Merger will have the effects set forth herein and in the applicable provisions of the DGCL. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, and subject thereto, from and after the Effective Time, all property, rights, privileges, immunities, powers, franchises, licenses and authority of the Target and Merger Sub will vest in the Surviving Corporation, and all debts, liabilities, obligations, restrictions and duties of each of the Target and Merger Sub will become the debts, liabilities, obligations, restrictions and duties of the Surviving Corporation.

Section 3.05 Certificate of Incorporation; By-laws. At the Effective Time, (a) the certificate of incorporation of the Target will be amended so as to read in its entirety as set forth on Exhibit A attached hereto, and, as so amended, will be the certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the terms thereof or as provided by applicable Law, and (b) the by-laws of Merger Sub as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time will be the by-laws of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the terms thereof, the certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation or as provided by applicable Law.

Section 3.06 Directors and Officers. Unless otherwise determined by Parent and the Target prior to the Effective Time, the parties hereto shall take all necessary action to:

(i) cause the members of the board of directors of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time to be, effective as of the Effective Time, appointed as the sole members of the board of directors of the Surviving Corporation until their respective successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified or their earlier death, resignation or removal in accordance with the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Surviving Corporation;

(ii) cause the officers of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time to be, effective as of the Effective Time, appointed as the sole officers of the Surviving Corporation until their respective successors are duly appointed and qualified or their earlier death, resignation or removal in accordance with the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Surviving Corporation; and

(iii) upon Parent's request, cause the Target to obtain a written letter of resignation from each of the directors and officers of the Target and from each of the directors and officers of each Subsidiary of the Target, which resignation shall be conditioned upon, and effective as of, the Effective Time; *provided* that such resignations of officers shall not serve as a resignation as an employee of the Surviving Corporation.

ARTICLE IV EFFECT OF THE MERGER ON CAPITAL STOCK

Section 4.01 Effect of the Merger on Capital Stock. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, at the Effective Time, as a result of the Merger and without any action on the part of Parent, Merger Sub or the Target or the holder of any capital stock of Parent, Merger Sub or the Target, or any other Person:

(a) Cancellation of Certain Target Common Stock. Each share of Target Common Stock that is owned directly by Parent, Merger Sub, the Target (as treasury stock or otherwise), or any wholly-owned Subsidiary of the foregoing as of immediately prior to the commencement of the Offer (the "Cancelled Shares") and the Accepted Shares will automatically be cancelled and will cease to exist, and no Merger Consideration will be delivered in exchange therefor.

(b) Conversion of Target Common Stock. Each share of Target Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than the Cancelled Shares, the Accepted Shares, and the Dissenting Shares) will be converted into the right to receive (subject to Section 4.02 and, in the case of Non-Tendered Target Restricted Stock Awards, Section 4.07(c)), in cash and without interest, an amount equal to the Offer Price (the "Merger Consideration"). At the Effective Time, all shares of Target Common Stock that have been converted into the right to receive the Merger Consideration will cease to exist, and each holder of a certificate formerly representing any such shares (each, a "Certificate") will cease to have any rights with respect thereto, except the right to receive the Merger Consideration in accordance with Section 4.02 or, in the case of Non-Tendered Target Restricted Stock Awards, Section 4.07(c).

(c) Conversion of Merger Sub Capital Stock. Each share of common stock, par value \$0.001 per share, of Merger Sub issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time will be converted into and become one newly issued, fully paid and non-assessable share of common stock of the Surviving Corporation (and the shares of the Surviving Corporation into which the shares of Merger Sub capital stock are so converted shall be the only shares of the Surviving Corporation's capital stock that are issued and outstanding immediately after the Effective Time).

Section 4.02 Surrender and Payment.

(a) Prior to the Effective Time, Parent will appoint an exchange agent reasonably acceptable to the Target (the "Exchange Agent") to act as the agent for the purpose of exchanging for the Merger Consideration, to the extent entitled thereto: (i) the Certificates, or (ii) book-entry shares which immediately prior to the Effective Time represented the shares of Target Common Stock (the "Book-Entry Shares"). On and after the Effective Time, Parent will deposit, or cause the Surviving Corporation to deposit, (x) with the Exchange Agent, sufficient funds to pay the

aggregate Merger Consideration that is payable in respect of all of the shares of Target Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than the Cancelled Shares, the Accepted Shares and the Non-Tendered Target Restricted Stock Awards), and (y) with the Surviving Corporation, sufficient funds to pay the Option Consideration (less any Taxes required to be withheld in accordance with Section 4.05) (collectively, the "Payment Fund") in amounts and at the times necessary for such payments, and (z) with the Exchange Agent, an amount sufficient to pay the fees and expenses of the Exchange Agent. If for any reason (including losses) the Payment Fund is inadequate to pay the amounts to which holders of shares of Target Common Stock (other than Non-Tendered Target Restricted Stock Awards) will be entitled under Section 4.01(b), Parent will take all steps necessary to enable or cause the Surviving Corporation promptly to deposit in trust additional cash with the Exchange Agent sufficient to make all payments required under Section 4.01(b), and Parent and the Surviving Corporation will in any event be liable for the payment thereof. The Payment Fund will not be used for any other purpose. The Surviving Corporation will pay all charges and expenses, including those of the Exchange Agent, in connection with the exchange Agent to send, to each record holder of shares of Target Common Stock (other than Non-Tendered Target Restricted Stock Awards) at the Effective Time, a letter of transmittal and instructions (which will specify that the delivery will be effected, and risk of loss and title will pass, only upon proper delivery of the Certificates or transfer of the Book-Entry Shares to the Exchange Agent) for use in such exchange.

(b) Subject to Section 4.07(c), each holder of shares of Target Common Stock that have been converted into the right to receive the Merger Consideration in respect of the Target Common Stock represented by a Certificate or Book-Entry Share upon (i) surrender to the Exchange Agent of a Certificate, together with a duly completed and validly executed letter of transmittal and such other documents as may reasonably be requested by the Exchange Agent, or (ii) receipt of an "agent's message" by the Exchange Agent (or such other evidence, if any, of transfer as the Exchange Agent may reasonably request) in the case of Book-Entry Shares. Until so surrendered or transferred, as the case may be, and subject to the terms set forth in Section 4.03 and Section 4.07(c), each such Certificate or Book-Entry Share, as applicable, will represent after the Effective Time for all purposes only the right to receive the Merger Consideration payable in respect thereof. No interest will be paid or accrued on the cash payable upon the surrender or transfer of any Certificate or Book-Entry Share. Upon payment of the Merger Consideration pursuant to the provisions of this Article IV, each Certificate or Certificates so surrendered will immediately be cancelled.

(c) If any portion of the Merger Consideration is to be paid to a Person other than the Person in whose name the surrendered Certificate or the transferred Book-Entry Share, as applicable, is registered, it will be a condition to such payment that (i) such Certificate will be properly endorsed or will otherwise be in proper form for transfer or such Book-Entry Share will be properly transferred, and (ii) the Person requesting such payment will pay to the Exchange Agent any transfer or other Tax required as a result of such payment to a Person other than the registered holder of such Certificate or Book-Entry Share, as applicable, or establish to the reasonable satisfaction of the Exchange Agent that such Tax has been paid or is not payable.

(d) All Merger Consideration paid upon the surrender of Certificates or transfer of Book-Entry Shares in accordance with the terms hereof will be deemed to have been paid in full satisfaction of all rights pertaining to the shares of Target Common Stock formerly represented by such Certificate or Book-Entry Shares, and from and after the Effective Time, there will be no further registration of transfers of shares of Target Common Stock on the stock transfer books of the Surviving Corporation. If, after the Effective Time, Certificates or Book-Entry Shares are presented to the Surviving Corporation, they will be cancelled and exchanged for the Merger Consideration provided for, and in accordance with the procedures set forth, in this Article IV.

(e) Any portion of the Payment Fund that remains unclaimed by the holders of shares of Target Common Stock twelve (12) months after the Effective Time will be returned to Parent, upon demand, and any such holder who has not exchanged shares of Target Common Stock for the Merger Consideration in accordance with this Section 4.02 prior to that time will thereafter look only to Parent for payment of the Merger Consideration. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Parent shall not be liable to any holder of shares of Target Common Stock for any amounts paid to a public official pursuant to applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar Laws. Any amounts remaining unclaimed by such holders at such time at which such amounts would otherwise escheat to or become property of any Governmental Entity shall become, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, the property of Parent or its designee, free and clear of all claims or interest of any Person previously entitled thereto.

(f) After the Effective Time, any portion of the Merger Consideration made available to the Exchange Agent in respect of any Dissenting Shares will be returned to Parent, upon demand.

(g) The Exchange Agent shall invest all cash included in the Payment Fund as reasonably directed by Parent; *provided* that any investment of such cash shall be limited to direct short-term obligations of, or short-term obligations fully guaranteed as to principal and interest by, the United States government. Any interest and other income resulting from such investments shall become a part of the Payment Fund, and any amounts in excess of the aggregate amount payable pursuant to Section 4.01(b) shall be paid to the Surviving Corporation.

Section 4.03 Dissenting Shares . Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, including Section 4.01, shares of Target Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time and in respect of which appraisal rights shall have been properly demanded (and not withdrawn or lost) in accordance with Section 262 of the DGCL (such shares of Target Common Stock being referred to collectively as the "Dissenting Shares") will not be converted into a right to receive the Merger Consideration, but instead will be entitled to only such rights as are granted by Section 262 of the DGCL to a holder of Dissenting Shares; *provided, however*, that if such holder fails to perfect, effectively withdraws or loses such holder's right to seek appraisal rights pursuant to Section 262 of the DGCL with respect to any Dissenting Shares, such Dissenting Shares shall immediately be converted into the right to receive the Merger Consideration in accordance with this Article IV as if such shares of Target Common Stock never had been Dissenting Shares, without interest thereon, upon surrender of such Certificate formerly representing such share or transfer of such Book-Entry Share, as the case may be. The Target will provide Parent prompt written notice of any demands received by the Target for appraisal of shares of Target Common Stock (including any stockholder's notice of its intent to demand payment

pursuant to the DGCL), any withdrawal of any such demand, and any other demand, notice or instrument delivered to the Target prior to the Effective Time pursuant to the DGCL that relates to such demand, and Parent will have the opportunity and right to direct all negotiations and proceedings with respect to such demands. Except with the prior written consent of Parent, the Target will not make any payment with respect to, or settle or offer to settle, any such demands or any claim in respect of Dissenting Shares.

Section 4.04 Adjustments. Without limiting the other provisions of this Agreement, if at any time during the period between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time, any change in the outstanding shares of capital stock of the Target occurs (other than the issuance of additional shares of capital stock of the Target as permitted by this Agreement), including by reason of any reclassification, recapitalization, stock split (including reverse stock split) or combination, exchange or readjustment of shares, or any stock dividend or distribution paid in stock, the Offer Price and the Merger Consideration (as applicable) and any other amounts payable pursuant to this Agreement will be appropriately adjusted to reflect such change.

Section 4.05 Withholding Rights . Each of the Exchange Agent, Parent, Merger Sub and the Surviving Corporation will be entitled to deduct and withhold from the Offer Price, the Merger Consideration, and the Option Consideration, as the case may be, otherwise payable to any Person pursuant to this Agreement such amounts as may be required to be deducted and withheld with respect to the making of such payment under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") and applicable Treasury Regulations, or any provision of state, local or non-U.S. Tax Law. All amounts withheld will be remitted to the United States Treasury or the applicable state, local or non-U.S. taxing authority. To the extent that amounts are so deducted and withheld by the Exchange Agent, Parent, Merger Sub or the Surviving Corporation, as the case may be, such amounts will be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the Person in respect of which the Exchange Agent, Parent, Merger Sub or the Surviving Corporation, as the case may be, made such deduction and withholding.

Section 4.06 Lost Certificates . If any Certificate has been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the Person claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed and, if required by Parent, the posting by such Person of a bond, in such reasonable amount as Parent may direct, as indemnity against any claim that may be made against it with respect to such Certificate, the Exchange Agent will issue, in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate, the Merger Consideration to be paid in respect of the shares of Target Common Stock formerly represented by such Certificate as contemplated under this Article IV.

Section 4.07 Treatment of Stock Options and Other Stock-Based Awards .

(a) The Target will take all requisite action so that, at the Effective Time, the portion of each option to acquire shares of Target Common Stock (each such option, a "**Target Stock Option**") that is vested and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time and for which the per share exercise price of such Target Stock Option is equal to or less than the Merger Consideration (each such portion, a "**Cashed Out Target Stock Option**"), will be, by virtue of this Agreement and without any further action on the part of Parent, Merger Sub, the Target, the holder of such Cashed Out Target Stock Option or any other Person, cancelled and converted into the right to receive from Parent and the Surviving Corporation, as promptly as reasonably

practicable after the Effective Time, an amount in cash, without interest, equal to the product of (i) the aggregate number of shares of Target Common Stock subject to such Cashed Out Target Stock Option (only to the extent vested as provided above), multiplied by (ii) the excess of the Merger Consideration over the per share exercise price under such Cashed Out Target Stock Option (the aggregate amount, the "**Option** Consideration"), less any Taxes required to be withheld in accordance with Section 4.05. Each Target Stock Option (or portion thereof) outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time that is not a Cashed Out Target Stock Option shall be referred to herein as an "Assumed Target Stock Option ."

(b) Effective as of the Effective Time, Parent shall assume the Target Stock Plans and each Assumed Target Stock Option, which shall thereafter be vested for such number of shares of Parent Common Stock as equals the number of shares of Target Common Stock subject to such Assumed Target Stock Option multiplied by the Equity Award Exchange Ratio, rounded down to the nearest whole share. The exercise price of each such Assumed Target Stock Option shall be equal to the exercise price per share set forth in the option agreement for such Assumed Target Stock Option divided by the Equity Award Exchange Ratio, rounded up to the nearest whole cent. All rights with respect to Target Common Stock under Assumed Target Stock Options shall by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of Parent, Merger Sub, the Target, the holder of any Assumed Target Stock Option or any other Person, be converted into rights with respect to Parent Common Stock on the terms and conditions set forth in this Section 4.07(b). Accordingly, from and after the Effective Time, (i) each Assumed Target Stock Option may be exercised solely for the number of shares of Parent Common Stock determined in accordance with this Section 4.07(b) with an exercise price determined in accordance with this Section 4.07(b); (ii) any restriction on the exercise of any Assumed Target Stock Option shall continue in full force and effect; and (iii) the term, vesting schedule and other provisions of such Assumed Target Stock Option shall otherwise remain unchanged; provided, however, that: (A) each Assumed Target Stock Option shall, in accordance with its terms, be subject to further adjustment as appropriate to reflect any stock split, division or subdivision of shares, stock dividend, reverse stock split, consolidation of shares, recapitalization or other similar transaction with respect to Parent Common Stock subsequent to the Effective Time; and (B) Parent's board of directors or a committee thereof shall succeed to the authority and responsibility of the Target Board or any committee thereof with respect to each Target Stock Plan and Assumed Target Stock Option. As soon as practicable after the Effective Time, Parent shall prepare and file with the SEC a Form S-8 (or file such other appropriate form) registering a number of shares of Parent Common Stock necessary to fulfill Parent's obligations under this Section 4.07(b).

(c) Each share of Target Common Stock granted under the Target 2006 Incentive Plan that is unvested or is subject to a repurchase option, risk of forfeiture, vesting schedule or other condition under any applicable restricted stock purchase agreement or other Contract with Target or under which Target has any rights and either (i) is validly tendered and not validly withdrawn in the Offer as of the Expiration Time (each a "Tendered Target Restricted Stock Award") or (ii) not validly tendered or validly tendered and subsequently validly withdrawn and is outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (each a "Non-Tendered Target Restricted Stock Award" and together with the Tendered Target Restricted Stock Awards, the "Target Restricted Stock Awards") shall (a) in the case of the Tendered Target Restricted Stock Awards, as soon as practicable after the Expiration Time and in compliance with applicable Law, receive the Offer Price net to such holder of Tendered Target Restricted Stock Award in cash, without interest and

subject to any required withholding of Taxes and (b) in the case of the Non-Tendered Target Restricted Stock Awards, be cancelled and converted into only the right to receive (without interest), automatically and without any required action on the part of the holder thereof, an amount in cash (less applicable Tax withholdings) equal to the Merger Consideration; *provided* that, pursuant to and in accordance with the Target 2006 Incentive Plan, the Offer Price or Merger Consideration, as applicable, payable with respect to any Target Restricted Stock Awards shall continue to be, as applicable, unvested and/or subject to the same repurchase option, risk of forfeiture, vesting schedule and other conditions as were set forth in the applicable restricted stock purchase agreement or other Contract with respect to such Target Restricted Stock Award and the holder of any such Target Restricted Stock Award must remain in service to Parent, the Target or any of their affiliates through the applicable vesting date or date when the applicable conditions shall terminate, to receive payment in respect thereof and such payment shall be made promptly following such applicable vesting date or date when the applicable conditions have terminated, as applicable. Parent's board of directors or a committee thereof shall succeed to the authority and responsibility of the Target Board or any committee thereof with respect to each Target Restricted Stock Award.

(d) At or prior to the Effective Time, the Target, the Target Board and the compensation committee of such board, as applicable, will adopt any resolutions and take any actions (including obtaining any employee or stockholder consents) that may be necessary to effectuate the provisions of this Section 4.07, and causing the Target Stock Plans and all Assumed Target Stock Options to be exchanged and assumed by Parent on the terms and conditions set forth in this Section 4.07.

(e) Section 4.07(e) of the Disclosure Schedules (the "Equity Award Certificate") sets forth (i) each Target Stock Option outstanding as of the close of business on November 3, 2014, identifying the number of shares of Target Common Stock subject to such Target Stock Option, the exercise price of such Target Stock Option and the portion thereof that is vested and outstanding as of the date hereof, and (ii) each Target Restricted Stock Award outstanding as of the date such Target Restricted Stock Award, the date such Target Restricted Stock Award was granted, the date such Target Restricted Stock Award expires, the vesting schedule of such Target Restricted Stock Award and the portion thereof that is vested and outstanding as of the date hereof. Not later Restricted Stock Award, the date such Target Restricted Stock Award and the portion thereof that is vested and outstanding as of the date hereof. Not later than 5:00 p.m. Boston time, on the second Business Day preceding the Effective Time, Target shall provide to Parent an updated Equity Award Certificate setting forth (i) each Target Stock Option, the exercise price of such Target Stock Option was granted. The portion thereof that is a Cashed Out Target Stock Out Target Stock Option, the exercise price of such Target Stock Option was granted, the date such Target Stock Out Target Stock Option, the exercise price of such Target Stock Option was granted. The portion thereof that is a Cashed Out Target Stock Option, the exercise price of such Target Stock Option was granted, the date such Target Stock Option, the exercise price of such Target Stock Option was granted. Target Stock Option was granted to such Target Restricted Stock Award was granted to such Target Stock Option and the portion, the date such Target Stock Option and the portion thereof that is a Cashed Out Target Stock Option, the exercise price of such Target Stock Option, the portion thereof that is a Cashed Out Target Stock Option, the date such Target Stock Option, the date such Target Stock Opt

Section 4.08 Treatment of Warrants. At the Effective Time, and in accordance with the terms of each warrant to purchase shares of Target Common Stock that is listed on Section 4.08 of the Disclosure Schedules (collectively, the "Warrants") and that is issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation to pay the holder of each Warrant, as promptly as reasonably practicable after the Effective Time, an amount in cash, without interest, equal to the product of (i) the aggregate number of shares of Target Common Stock subject to such Warrant, multiplied by (ii) the excess, if any, of the Merger Consideration over the per share exercise price under such Warrant. In the event that the per share exercise price under a Warrant is equal to or greater than the Merger Consideration, such Warrant shall be cancelled as of the Effective Time without payment therefor and shall have no further force or effect. At or prior to the Effective Time, the Target Board and the compensation committee of such board, as applicable, will adopt any resolutions and take any actions (including obtaining any employee consents) that may be necessary to effectuate the provisions of this Section 4.08.

ARTICLE V

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE TARGET

Except as set forth in (a) Target SEC Documents (but excluding any supplements or amendments thereto to the extent such supplement or amendment is not publicly filed prior to the date hereof) (other than Section 5.02 and Section 5.03(a)), and only to the extent it is apparent from the disclosure that any item should otherwise be reflected in the Disclosure Schedules, or (b) subject to Section 10.03, the Disclosure Schedules attached to this Agreement (collectively, the "Disclosure Schedules"), the Target hereby represents and warrants to Parent and Merger Sub as follows:

Section 5.01 Organization; Standing and Power; Charter Documents; Subsidiaries .

(a) Organization; Standing and Power. The Target and each of its Subsidiaries is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of its jurisdiction of organization, and has the requisite corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its assets and to carry on its business as now conducted. The Target and its Subsidiaries are duly qualified or licensed to do business as a foreign corporation and is in good standing (with respect to jurisdictions that recognize the concept of good standing) in each jurisdiction where the character of the assets and properties owned, leased or operated by it or the nature of its business makes such qualification or license necessary, except where the failure to be so qualified or licensed or to be in good standing, would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Target Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Charter Documents. The Target has delivered or made available to Parent a true and correct copy of the certificate of incorporation (including any certificate of designations) and by-laws, each as amended to date (collectively, the "Charter Documents"), of the Target and each of its Subsidiaries. Neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries is in violation of any of the provisions of its Charter Documents.

(c) Minutes. Except as set forth on Section 5.01(c) of the Disclosure Schedules, the Target has delivered or made available to Parent true and correct copies of the minutes (or, in the

case of minutes that have not yet been finalized, draft minutes of the meeting) of all meetings of stockholders, the Target Board and each committee of the Target Board since January 1, 2012, except for any minutes of the Special Committee and any minutes related to other bidders in connection with any potential sale of the Target or any of its material assets or otherwise related to deliberations by the Target Board or Special Committee with respect to the consideration of strategic alternatives, all of which may be redacted by the Target.

(d) Subsidiaries. Section 5.01(d) of the Disclosure Schedules lists each of the Subsidiaries of the Target as of the date hereof and its place of organization and, for each Subsidiary that is not, directly or indirectly, wholly-owned by the Target, (A) the number and type of any capital stock of, or other equity or voting interests in, such Subsidiary that is outstanding as of the date hereof and (B) the number and type of shares of capital stock of, or other equity or voting interests in, such Subsidiary that, as of the date hereof, are owned, directly or indirectly, by the Target. All of the outstanding shares of capital stock of, or other equity or voting interests in, each Subsidiary of the Target that is owned directly or indirectly by the Target have been validly issued, were issued free of pre-emptive rights and are fully paid and non-assessable, and are free and clear of all Encumbrances, including any restriction on the right to vote, sell or otherwise dispose of such capital stock or other equity or voting interests, except for any Encumbrances (x) imposed by applicable securities Laws or (y) arising pursuant to the Charter Documents of any nonwholly-owned Subsidiary of the Target. Except for the capital stock of, or other equity or voting interests in, its Subsidiaries, the Target does not own, directly or indirectly, any capital stock of, or other equity or voting interests in, any Person.

Section 5.02 Capital Structure .

(a) Capital Stock. The authorized capital stock of the Target consists of 30,000,000 shares of Target Common Stock and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock. As of the close of business on November 3, 2014, (i) 12,461,408 shares of Target Common Stock were issued and outstanding and (ii) 62,834 shares of Target Common Stock were issued and held by the Target in its treasury, and except as set forth on Section 5.02(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, since November 3, 2014 and through the date hereof, no additional shares of Target Common Stock have been issued other than the issuance of shares of Target Common Stock upon the exercise or settlement of Target Equity Awards. All of the outstanding shares of capital stock of the Target are, and all shares of capital stock of the Target which may be issued as contemplated or permitted by this Agreement will be, when issued, duly authorized and validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable and not subject to any pre-emptive rights. No Subsidiary of the Target owns any shares of Target Common Stock. As of the date hereof, holders of record of Target Common Stock whose last address as shown on the books of Target is in Canada hold less than ten percent (10%) of the outstanding Target Common Stock.

(b) Stock Options and Stock Awards.

(i) As of the close of business on November 3, 2014, 637,649 shares of Target Common Stock were subject to issuance pursuant to Target Stock Options and 251,750 shares of Target Common Stock were outstanding pursuant to Target Restricted Stock Awards, granted under the Target Stock Plans, and since November 3, 2014 and through the date hereof, no Target Equity Awards have been granted and no additional shares of Target Common Stock have become

subject to issuance under the Target Stock Plans. Section 5.02(b)(i) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth as of the close of business on November 3, 2014 a list of each outstanding Target Equity Award granted under the Target Stock Plans and (A) the name of the holder of such Target Equity Award, (B) the number of shares of Target Common Stock subject to such outstanding Target Equity Award, (C) the exercise price, purchase price or similar pricing of such Target Equity Award, (D) the date on which such Target Equity Award was granted or issued, (E) the applicable vesting schedule, the extent to which such Target Equity Award is vested and exercisable as of the date hereof, and (F) with respect to Target Stock Options, the date on which each such Target Stock Option expires. All shares of Target Common Stock subject to issuance under the Target Stock Plans, upon issuance in accordance with the terms and conditions specified in the instruments pursuant to which they are issuable, will be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable. Except for Target Stock Options and Target Restricted Stock Awards, there are no stock awards and other rights, contingent or accrued, to acquire or receive shares of Target Common Stock or benefits measured by the value of such shares, or award of any kind consisting of shares of Target Stock Options have been granted except for those granted under a Target Stock Plan. No Target Restricted Stock Awards have been granted except for those granted under the Target's 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (the " Target 2006 Incentive Plan ").

(ii) Except for the Target Stock Plans and as set forth on Section 5.02(b)(ii) of the Disclosure Schedules, there are no agreements to which the Target is a party obligating the Target to accelerate the vesting of any Target Equity Award as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Support Agreement (whether alone or upon the occurrence of any additional or subsequent events). Other than the Target Equity Awards, as of the date hereof, there are no outstanding (A) securities of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries convertible into or exchangeable for Voting Debt or shares of capital stock of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries or commitments to acquire from the Target or any of its Subsidiaries, or obligations of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries to issue, any Voting Debt or shares of capital stock of (or securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock of) the Target or (C) restricted shares, stock appreciation rights, performance shares, profit participation rights, contingent value rights, "phantom" stock or similar securities or rights that are derivative of, or provide economic benefits based, directly or indirectly, on the value or price of, any shares of capital stock of the Target, in each case that have been issued by the Target or its Subsidiaries (the items in clauses (A), (B) and (C), together with the capital stock of the Target, being referred to collectively as "Target Securities"). All outstanding shares of Target Common Stock, all Warrants, all outstanding Target Equity Awards and all outstanding shares of capital stock, voting securities or other ownership interests in any Subsidiary of the Target, have been issued or granted, as applicable, in compliance in all material respects with all applicable securities Laws.

(iii) There are no outstanding Contracts requiring the Target or any of its Subsidiaries to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any Target Securities or Target Subsidiary Securities. Neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to any voting agreement with respect to any Target Securities or Target Subsidiary Securities.

(c) Voting Debt. No bonds, debentures, notes or other indebtedness issued by the Target or any of its Subsidiaries (i) having the right to vote on any matters on which stockholders

or equity holders of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries may vote (or which is convertible into, or exchangeable for, securities having such right), or (ii) the value of which is directly based upon or derived from the capital stock, voting securities or other ownership interests of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries, are issued or outstanding (collectively, "Voting Debt").

(d) **Target Subsidiary Securities**. As of the date hereof, there are no outstanding (i) securities of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries convertible into or exchangeable for Voting Debt, capital stock, voting securities or other ownership interests in any Subsidiary of the Target, (ii) options, warrants or other agreements or commitments to acquire from the Target or any of its Subsidiaries, or obligations of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries to issue, any Voting Debt, capital stock, voting securities or other ownership interests in (or securities convertible into or exchangeable for capital stock, voting securities or other ownership interests in (or securities convertible into or exchangeable for capital stock, voting securities or other ownership interests in) any Subsidiary of the Target, or (iii) restricted shares, stock appreciation rights, performance shares, profit participation rights, contingent value rights, "phantom" stock or similar securities or other ownership interests in, any Subsidiary of the Target, in each case that have been issued by a Subsidiary of the Target (the items in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii), together with the capital stock, voting securities or other ownership interests of such Subsidiaries, being referred to collectively as "Target Subsidiary Securities ").

Section 5.03 Authority; Non-Contravention; Governmental Consents .

(a) Authority. The Target has all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into and deliver this Agreement and, assuming the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are consummated in accordance with Section 251(h) of the DGCL, and assuming the accuracy of Parent's and Merger Sub's representation and warranty set forth in Section 6.08, to perform its obligations hereunder and consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Target and the consummation by the Target of the Offer, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Target and, assuming the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are consummated in accordance with Section 251(h) of the DGCL, and assuming the accuracy of Parent's and Merger Sub's representation and warranty set forth in Section 6.08, no other corporate proceedings on the part of the Target are necessary to authorize the execution and delivery of this Agreement or to consummate the Offer, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Target and, assuming due execution and delivery by Parent and Merger Sub, constitutes the valid and binding obligation of the Target, enforceable against the Target in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium and other similar Laws affecting creditors' rights generally and by general principles of equity.

(b) Non-Contravention. Except as set forth on Section 5.03(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Target, and the consummation by the Target of the transactions contemplated hereby, including the Offer and the Merger, do not and will not: (i) contravene or conflict with, or result in any violation or breach of, the Charter Documents of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) subject to compliance with the requirements set forth in Section 5.03(c)(i)-(iv) and, in the case of the consummation of the Merger, assuming the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are consummated in

accordance with Section 251(h) of the DGCL, and assuming the accuracy of Parent's and Merger Sub's representation and warranty set forth in Section 6.08, conflict with or violate any Law applicable to the Target or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective properties or assets, (iii) result in any breach of or constitute a default (or an event that with notice or lapse of time or both would become a default) under, or alter the rights or obligations of any third party under, or give to others any rights of termination, amendment, acceleration or cancellation, or require any Consent under, any Contract to which the Target or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or otherwise bound as of the date hereof, or (iv) result in the creation of an Encumbrance (other than Permitted Encumbrances) on any of the properties or assets of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries, except, in the case of each of clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv) above, for any conflicts, violations, breaches, defaults, alterations, terminations, amendments, accelerations, cancellations or Encumbrances, or where the failure to obtain any Consents, in each case, would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Target Material Adverse Effect.

(c) Governmental Consents. No consent, approval, Order or authorization of, or registration, declaration or filing with, or notice to (any of the foregoing being a "Consent"), any Governmental Entity is required to be obtained or made by the Target in connection with the execution, delivery and performance by the Target of this Agreement or the consummation by the Target of the Offer, the Merger and other transactions contemplated hereby, except for: (i) the filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, (ii) the filing with the SEC in accordance with the Exchange Act of (A) the Schedule 14D-9 and (B) such filings under the Exchange Act as may be required in connection with this Agreement, the Support Agreement, the Offer, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, in any case that are applicable to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (iii) such Consents as may be required under applicable state securities or "blue sky" Laws and the securities Laws of any foreign country or the rules and regulations of any applicable United States securities exchange on which the Target Common Stock is traded, (iv) the other Consents of Governmental Entities listed on Section 5.03(c) of the Disclosure Schedules, and (v) such other Consents which if not obtained or made would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Target Material Adverse Effect.

(d) Board Approval. The Target Board, by resolutions duly adopted at a meeting of directors of the Target duly called and held (the " Target Board Meeting") and, as of the date hereof, not subsequently rescinded or modified in any way, has, as of the date hereof (i) determined that this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including the Offer and the Merger, are fair to, and in the best interests of, the Target and the Target's stockholders, including in reliance on the Fairness Opinion, (ii) approved and declared advisable the "agreement of merger" (as such term is used in Section 251 of the DGCL) contained in this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Offer and the Merger, in accordance with the DGCL, and (iii) resolved to recommend that Target stockholders accept the Offer and tender their shares of Target Common Stock pursuant to the Offer (collectively, the "Target Board Recommendation").

(e) Stockholder Approval. Assuming the accuracy of Parent's and Merger Sub's representation and warranty set forth in Section 6.08, the majority vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Target Common Stock, voting as a single class at a meeting of the stockholders of the Target called to consider the adoption of this Agreement, in favor of adopting

this Agreement is the only vote of the holders of any class or series of the Target's capital stock that would be required to adopt this Agreement absent the availability of Section 251(h) of the DGCL.

(f) Takeover Statutes. No "fair price," "moratorium," "control share acquisition," "business combination" or other similar anti-takeover statute or regulation (including Section 203 of the DGCL) enacted under any federal, state, local or foreign laws applicable to the Target or any of its Subsidiaries is applicable to this Agreement, the Offer, the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated hereby. The Target Board has taken all actions so that the restrictions contained in Section 203 of the DGCL applicable to a "business combination" (as defined in such Section 203) will not apply to the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement and the consummation of the Offer, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby (including the transactions contemplated by each of the Support Agreements).

Section 5.04 SEC Filings; Financial Statements; Undisclosed Liabilities .

(a) **SEC Filings.** The Target has timely filed with or furnished to, as applicable, the SEC all registration statements, prospectuses, reports, proxy statements, schedules, forms, statements and other documents (including exhibits and all other information incorporated by reference) required to be filed or furnished by it with the SEC since January 1, 2012 (the "**Target SEC Documents**"). The Target has made available to Parent all such Target SEC Documents that it has so filed or furnished prior to the date hereof. As of their respective filing dates (or, if amended or superseded by a subsequent filing, as of the date of the last such amendment or superseding filing prior to the date hereof), each of the Target SEC Documents complied as to form in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act, and the Exchange Act, and the rules and regulations of the SEC thereunder applicable to such Target SEC Documents. None of the Target SEC Documents, including any financial statements, schedules or exhibits included or incorporated by reference therein at the time they were filed (or, if amended or superseded by a subsequent filing, as of the date of the last such amendment or superseding filing prior to the date hereof), contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The documents filed by the Target with the securities commissions in Canada on SEDAR (i) did not at the time filed with the securities commissions or, as applicable, the time of becoming effective, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit any data or information required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, not misleading in light of the circumstances under which they were made, and (ii) include all documents required to be filed in accordance with applicable Canadian securities laws.

(b) Financial Statements. Each of the financial statements (including, in each case, any related notes thereto) contained in the Target SEC Documents: (i) complied as to form in all material respects with the published rules and regulations of the SEC with respect thereto as of their respective dates, (ii) was prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods involved (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto and, in the case of unaudited interim financial statements, as may be permitted by the SEC for Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q), and (iii) fairly presented in all material respects the financial position of the Target at

the respective dates thereof and the results of the Target's operations and cash flows for the periods indicated therein, subject, in the case of unaudited interim financial statements, to normal and year-end audit adjustments as permitted by GAAP and the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC.

(c) Disclosure Controls and Procedures; Internal Controls. The Target has established and maintains "disclosure controls and procedures" (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act), which disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that all material information required to be disclosed by the Target in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Target's management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. The Target has established and maintained "internal controls over financial reporting" (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act), which internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act), which internal controls over financial reporting to the Target's or its Subsidiaries assets that could have a material effect on the Target's financial statements, and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. Except as set forth on Section 5.04(c) of the Disclosure Schedules, since January 1, 2012, neither the Target's management, Audit Committee or its independent auditors have identified (i) any significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting that affected or are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Target's ability, in any material respect, to record, process, summarize and report financial information, or (ii) any fraud that involves management or other employees who have a role in the Target's internal controls over financial controls over financial controls over financial controls over financial reporting. For purposes of this Agreement, the terms "significant deficiency" and "material weakness" shall have the meanings assigned to them in Public Company Accounting Oversight Board Auditing Standard 2, as in effect on the date of this Agreement.

(d) Undisclosed Liabilities. The consolidated audited balance sheet of the Target dated as of December 31, 2013 contained in the Target SEC Documents filed prior to the date hereof is hereinafter referred to as the "Target Balance Sheet." Neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries has material Liabilities other than Liabilities that, and has not entered into any joint venture, off balance sheet partnership or similar contract other than those that, (i) are reflected or recorded on the Target Balance Sheet (including in the notes thereto), (ii) were discharged or paid in full prior to the date of this Agreement, (iii) were incurred since the date of the Target Balance Sheet in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (iv) are incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (v) are performance or payment obligations that are unmatured, unliquidated or contingent pursuant to the contracts, commitments, instruments and other agreements and documents disclosed in the Disclosure Schedules or approved by Parent in writing after the date hereof (other than any obligations arising from a breach or failure to comply by the Target with any obligations contained therein at any time prior to the Effective Time), or (vi) would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Target Material Adverse Effect. For the purposes of this Section 5.04(d), "material Liabilities" shall be defined as Liabilities of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries (subject to the exceptions of the preceding sentence) which, individually or in the aggregate, are in excess of \$100,000.

(e) Sarbanes-Oxley Compliance. Each of the principal executive officer and the principal financial officer of the Target (or each former principal executive officer and each former principal financial officer of the Target, as applicable) has made all certifications required by Rule 13a-14 or 15d-14 under the Exchange Act and Sections 302 and 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (including the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, the "Sarbanes-Oxley Act") with respect to the Target SEC Documents, and the statements contained in such certifications were true and accurate in all material respects at the time made. For purposes of this Agreement, "principal executive officer" and "principal financial officer" shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The Target does not have outstanding (or has arranged or modified since the enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act) any "extensions of credit" (within the meaning of Section 402 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act) to directors or executive officers (as defined in Rule 3b-7 under the Exchange Act) of the Target.

Section 5.05 Absence of Certain Changes or Events. Since the date of the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Target filed with the Target's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014, except (i) as set forth on Section 5.05 of the Disclosure Schedules and (ii) in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, the business of the Target and its Subsidiaries has been conducted in the ordinary course of business and there has not been or occurred (a) any Target Material Adverse Effect or any event, condition, change or effect that would have, individually or in the aggregate, a Target Material Adverse Effect, or (b) any event, condition, action or effect that, if taken during the period from the date of this Agreement through the Effective Time, would constitute a breach of Section 7.01.

Section 5.06 Taxes .

(a) Tax Returns and Payment of Taxes. The Target and each of its Subsidiaries has duly and timely filed or caused to be timely filed (taking into account any extension of time in which to file) all material Tax Returns required to be filed by it. Such Tax Returns are true, complete and correct in all material respects. Neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries is currently the beneficiary of any extension of time within which to file any income or other material Tax Return other than extensions of time to file Tax Returns obtained in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice. All material Taxes due and owing by the Target and its Subsidiaries (whether or not shown on any Tax Return) have been timely paid or, where payment is not yet due, the Target has made an adequate provision for such Taxes in the Target's financial statements (in accordance with GAAP). The Target's most recent financial statements reflect an adequate reserve (in accordance with GAAP) for all material Taxes payable by the Target and its Subsidiaries through the date of such financial statements. Neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries has incurred any Liability for material Taxes since the date of the Target's most recent financial statements outside the ordinary course of business or otherwise inconsistent with past practice.

(b) Availability of Tax Returns. The Target has made available to Parent complete and accurate copies of all federal, state, local and foreign income, franchise and other material Tax Returns filed by or on behalf of the Target and its Subsidiaries for any Tax period ending after December 31, 2009.

(c) Withholding. The Target and each of its Subsidiaries has withheld and paid to the applicable Governmental Entity each material Tax required to have been withheld and paid in connection with amounts paid or owing to any Target Employee, independent contractor, creditor, customer, stockholder or other party.

(d) Encumbrances. There are no Encumbrances for material Taxes upon the assets of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries other than for Permitted Encumbrances for which adequate reserves in accordance with GAAP have been made in the Target's financial statements.

(e) Tax Deficiencies and Audits. No deficiency for any material amount of Taxes which has been proposed, asserted or assessed, in writing, by any taxing authority against the Target or any of its Subsidiaries remains unpaid, except for deficiencies contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which adequate reserves in accordance with GAAP have been made in the Target's financial statements. There are no waivers or extensions of any statute of limitations currently in effect with respect to Taxes of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries. Except as set forth on Section 5.06(e) of the Disclosure Schedules, there are no audits, suits, proceedings, investigations, claims, examinations or other administrative or judicial proceedings ongoing or pending with respect to any material Taxes of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries.

(f) Tax Jurisdictions. In the last four (4) years, no claim has been made in writing by any taxing authority in a jurisdiction where the Target or any of its Subsidiaries does not file Tax Returns that the Target or any of its Subsidiaries is or may be subject to Tax in that jurisdiction.

(g) Tax Rulings. Neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any private letter ruling, technical advice memorandum or similar ruling or memorandum from any taxing authority with respect to any material Taxes.

(h) Consolidated Groups, Transferee Liability and Tax Agreements. Neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries, other than with respect to the group consisting solely of Target and one or more of its Subsidiaries, (i) has been a member of a group filing Tax Returns on a consolidated, combined, unitary or similar basis, (ii) has material Liability for Taxes of any Person under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 (or any comparable provision of local, state or foreign Law), as a transferee or successor, by Contract, or otherwise, or (iii) is a party to, is bound by or has any material Liability under any Tax sharing, allocation or indemnification agreement or arrangement (other than customary Tax indemnifications contained in credit or other commercial agreements the primary purpose of which does not relate to Taxes).

(i) Change in Accounting Method. Neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries has agreed to make, nor is it required to make, any adjustment under Section 481(a) of the Code or any comparable provision of state, local or non-U.S. Tax Laws by reason of a change in accounting method or otherwise.

(j) Post-Closing Tax Items. Neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries will be required to include any material item of income in, or exclude any material item of deduction from, taxable income for any taxable period (or portion thereof) ending after the Closing Date as a result of any (i) "closing agreement" as described in Section 7121 of the Code (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local or non-U.S. income Tax Law) executed on or prior to the Closing

Date, (ii) installment sale or open transaction disposition made on or prior to the Closing Date, (iii) prepaid amount received on or prior to the Closing Date, (iv) election under Section 108(i) of the Code (or any corresponding or similar provision state, local or non-U.S. Law), or (v) amount, as of the Closing Date, of deferred intercompany gain or of excess loss account described in Treasury Regulations under Section 1502 of the Code (or any corresponding or similar provision state, local or non-U.S. Law).

(k) U.S. Real Property Holding Corporation. Neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries has been a United States real property holding corporation (as defined in Section 897(c)(2) of the Code) during the applicable period specified in Section 897(c)(1)(A) of the Code.

(1) Section 355. Neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries has been a "distributing corporation" or a "controlled corporation" (within the meaning of Section 355(a)(1)(A) of the Code) in connection with a distribution that was purported or intended to be governed in whole or in part by Section 355 of the Code (i) in the two years prior to the date of this Agreement or (ii) in a distribution which is part of a "plan" or "series of related transactions" (within the meaning of Section 355(e) of the Code) with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(m) Reportable Transactions. Neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries has entered into any "listed transactions" (within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4(b)(2)).

(n) Section 409A. All "nonqualified deferred compensation plans" (as defined in Section 409A of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder) of the Target and its Subsidiaries subject to Section 409A of the Code are currently and at all times have been in both documentary and operational compliance with Section 409A of the Code and all applicable guidance (including the Treasury Regulations) promulgated thereunder.

(o) Section 280G. Except as set forth on Section 5.06(o) of the Disclosure Schedules, neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to any agreement, contract, arrangement or plan that has resulted, or would result, separately or in the aggregate, in the payment of any "excess parachute payment" within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code (or any corresponding provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law).

(p) Tax Reimbursements or Gross-Up Payments. No Person is entitled to receive any additional payment (including any tax gross-up or other payment) from the Target or any of its Subsidiaries as a result of the imposition of excise Taxes required by Section 4999 of the Code or any Taxes required by Section 409A of the Code.

Section 5.07 Intellectual Property.

(a) Products and Services. Section 5.07(a) of the Disclosure Schedules accurately identifies and describes each Target Product.

(b) Registered IP. Section 5.07(b) of the Disclosure Schedules accurately identifies: (i) each item of Registered IP in which the Target or its Subsidiaries has or purports to have an ownership interest of any nature (whether exclusively, jointly with another Person, or otherwise); (ii) the jurisdiction in which such item of Registered IP has been registered or filed and the

applicable registration or serial number; (iii) any other Person that has an ownership interest in such item of Registered IP and the nature of such ownership interest; and (iv) each Target Product identified in Section 5.07(a) of the Disclosure Schedules that embodies, utilizes or is based upon or derived from (or, with respect to Target Products currently under development, that is expected to embody, utilize or be based upon or derived from) such item of Registered IP. The Target has provided to Parent complete and accurate copies of all applications, correspondence with any Governmental Entity, and other material documents related to each such item of Registered IP.

(c) Inbound Licenses. Section 5.07(c) of the Disclosure Schedules accurately identifies each Contract pursuant to which any Intellectual Property Right or Intellectual Property (including hardware and software) is or has been licensed, sold, assigned or otherwise conveyed or provided to the Target or any of its Subsidiaries and that is material to its business (other than (i) licenses to generally available software code (other than development tools and development environments); (ii) data agreements under which the Target licenses market data; (iii) nondisclosure agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business and (iv) non-exclusive licenses to third-party software requiring annual payments in excess of \$50,000).

(d) Outbound Licenses. Other than non-exclusive licenses to customers, Suppliers and Channel Partners (in each case pursuant to written agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business), Section 5.07(d) of the Disclosure Schedules accurately identifies each Contract pursuant to which any Person has been granted any license under, or otherwise has received or acquired any right (whether or not currently exercisable) or interest in, any Target IP. The Target is not bound by, and no Target IP is subject to, any Contract containing any covenant or other provision that in any way limits or restricts the ability of the Target to use, exploit, assert or enforce any Target IP anywhere in the world.

(e) Royalty Obligations. Section 5.07(e) of the Disclosure Schedules contains a complete and accurate list and description of all royalties, fees, commissions and other amounts payable by the Target or any of its Subsidiaries to any other Person (other than sales commissions paid to employees according to the Target's or its Subsidiaries standard commissions plans and commissions payable to Channel Partners in accordance with the terms of the applicable written Contract) upon or for the manufacture, sale or distribution of any Target Product or the use of any Target IP.

(f) Standard Form IP Agreements. The Target has provided to Parent a complete and accurate copy of each standard form of Target IP Contract used by the Target or any of its Subsidiaries, including each standard form of (i) employee agreement containing any assignment or license of Intellectual Property Rights; (ii) consulting or independent contractor agreement containing any intellectual property assignment or license of Intellectual Property Rights; and (iii) confidentiality or nondisclosure agreement. Section 5.07(f) of the Disclosure Schedules accurately identifies each Target IP Contract currently in effect that deviates materially from the corresponding standard form in which an employee, consultant or independent contractor expressly reserved or retained rights in any Intellectual Property or Intellectual Property Rights incorporated into or used in connection with any Target Product or otherwise related to the businesses of the Target or its Subsidiaries.

(g) Ownership Free and Clear. Except as set forth on Section 5.07(g) of the Disclosure Schedules, the Target or its Subsidiaries exclusively owns all right, title and interest to and in the Target IP (other than Intellectual Property Rights exclusively licensed to the Target or its Subsidiaries, as identified in Section 5.07(c) of the Disclosure Schedules) free and clear of any Encumbrances (other than licenses and rights granted pursuant to the Contracts identified in Section 5.07(d) of the Disclosure Schedules and any other Permitted Encumbrances). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing:

(i) Perfection of Rights. All documents and instruments necessary to establish, perfect and maintain the rights of the Target and its Subsidiaries in the Registered IP have been validly executed, delivered and filed in a timely manner with the appropriate Governmental Entity.

(ii) Employees and Contractors. Except as set forth on Section 5.07(g)(ii) of the Disclosure Schedules, each Person who is or was an employee or contractor of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries and who is or was involved in the creation or development of any Target Product or Target IP has signed a valid, enforceable agreement containing an assignment of Intellectual Property Rights pertaining to such Target Product or Target IP to the Target or its Subsidiaries, as applicable, and confidentiality provisions protecting the Target IP. No current or former stockholder, officer, director or employee of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries has any claim, right (whether or not currently exercisable) or interest to or in any Target IP. No Target Employee is (a) bound by or otherwise subject to any Contract restricting him or her from performing his or her duties for the Target or its Subsidiaries or (b) in breach of any Contract with any former employer or other Person concerning Intellectual Property Rights or confidentiality due to his or her activities as an employee of the Target or its Subsidiaries.

(iii) Government Rights. No funding, facilities or personnel of any Governmental Entity or any public or private university, college or other educational or research institution were used, directly or indirectly, to develop or create, in whole or in part, any Target IP.

(iv) **Protection of Proprietary Information.** The Target and its Subsidiaries have taken all reasonable steps to maintain the confidentiality of and otherwise protect and enforce their respective rights in all trade secrets (if any) and confidential information pertaining to the Target, its Subsidiaries or any Target Product. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, no portion of any source code for any software currently owned by the Target or its Subsidiaries has been disclosed or licensed to any escrow agent or other Person.

(v) Past IP Dispositions. Neither the Target nor its Subsidiaries has assigned or otherwise transferred ownership of, or agreed to assign or otherwise transfer ownership of, any material Intellectual Property Right to any other Person.

(vi) Standards Bodies. Neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries is nor ever was a member or promoter of, or a contributor to, any industry standards body or similar organization that could require or obligate the Target or any of its Subsidiaries to grant or offer to any other Person any license or right to any material Target IP.

(h) Valid and Enforceable. All Target IP is valid, subsisting and enforceable. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing:

(i) Misuse and Inequitable Conduct. Neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries has engaged in patent or copyright misuse or any fraud or inequitable conduct in connection with any Target IP that is Registered IP.

(ii) Trademarks. Except as set forth on Section 5.07(h)(ii) of the Disclosure Schedules, no trademark or trade name owned, used, or applied for by the Target or any of its Subsidiaries conflicts or interferes with any trademark or trade name owned, used, or applied for by any other Person. No event or circumstance (including a failure to exercise adequate quality controls and an assignment in gross without the accompanying goodwill) has occurred or exists that has resulted in, or could reasonably be expected to result in, the abandonment of any trademark (whether registered or unregistered) owned, used or applied for by the Target or any of its Subsidiaries.

(iii) Orders and Deadlines. Each item of Target IP that is Registered IP is and at all times has been in compliance with all Orders and all filings, payments and other actions required to be made or taken to maintain such item of Target IP in full force and effect have been made by the applicable deadline. Section 5.07(h)(iii) of the Disclosure Schedules accurately identifies and describes each action, filing and payment that must be taken or made on or before the date that is one hundred twenty (120) days after the date of this Agreement in order to maintain such item of Target IP in full force and effect.

(iv) Interference Proceedings and Similar Claims. No interference, opposition, reissue, reexamination or other Legal Action is or has been pending or, to the Knowledge of Target, threatened, in which the scope, validity or enforceability of any Target IP is being, has been, or could reasonably be expected to be contested or challenged, except with respect to the Target's or its Subsidiaries' pending patent applications. To the Knowledge of Target, there is no basis for a claim that any Target IP is invalid or unenforceable.

(i) Third-Party Infringement of Target IP. To the Knowledge of Target, no Person has infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated, and no Person is currently infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating, any Target IP. Section 5.07(i) of the Disclosure Schedules accurately identifies (and the Target has provided to Parent a complete and accurate copy of) each letter or other written or electronic communication or correspondence that has been sent or otherwise delivered by or to the Target, any of its Subsidiaries or any Representative of the Target or its Subsidiaries regarding any actual, alleged or suspected infringement or misappropriation of any Target IP, and provides a brief description of the current status of the matter referred to in such letter, communication or correspondence.

(j) Effects of This Transaction. Except as set forth on Section 5.07(j) of the Disclosure Schedules, neither the execution, delivery, or performance of this Agreement (or any of the other agreements entered into pursuant to or in connection with this Agreement) nor the consummation of any of the transactions contemplated hereby, with or without notice or lapse of time, result in, or give any other Person the right or option to cause or declare, (i) a loss of, or Encumbrance on, any Target IP; (ii) a breach of or default under any Target IP Contracts; (iii) the

release, disclosure, or delivery of any Target IP by or to any escrow agent or other Person; or (iv) the grant, assignment, or transfer to any other Person of any license or other right or interest under, to, or in any of the Target IP.

(k) No Infringement of Third Party IP Rights. Neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries has ever infringed (directly, contributorily, by inducement, or otherwise), misappropriated, or otherwise violated or made unlawful usage of any Intellectual Property Right of any other Person or engaged in unfair competition. No Target Product, and no method or process used in the manufacturing of any Target Product, infringes, violates or makes unlawful use of any Intellectual Property Right of, or contains any Intellectual Property misappropriated from, any other Person. There is no legitimate basis for a claim that the Target, any of its Subsidiaries or any Target Product has infringed or misappropriated any Intellectual Property Right of another Person or engaged in unfair competition or that any Target Product, or any method or process used in the manufacturing of any Target Product, infringes, violates, or makes unlawful use of any Target Product, or any method or contains any Intellectual Property Right of, or contains any Intellectual Property misappropriated from, any other Person. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing:

(i) Infringement Claims. No infringement, misappropriation or similar claim or Legal Action is pending or, to the Knowledge of Target, threatened against the Target or any of its Subsidiaries or against any other Person who is or may be entitled to be indemnified, defended, held harmless or reimbursed by the Target or any of its Subsidiaries with respect to such Legal Action. The Target has not received any written notice, or, to the Knowledge of Target any oral notice, relating to any actual, alleged or suspected infringement, misappropriation or violation by the Target, any of its employees or agents, or any Target Product of any Intellectual Property Rights of another Person, including any letter or other communication suggesting or offering that the Target obtain a license to any Intellectual Property Right of another Person.

(ii) Other Infringement Liability. Except as set forth on Section 5.07(k)(ii) of the Disclosure Schedules, neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries is bound by any Contract to indemnify, defend, hold harmless, or reimburse any other Person with respect to, and has not otherwise assumed or agreed to discharge or otherwise take responsibility for, any existing or potential intellectual property infringement, misappropriation, or similar claim (other than indemnification provisions in the Target's or its Subsidiaries' standard forms of Target IP Contracts or in Contracts with customers, Suppliers or Channel Partners entered into in the ordinary course of business).

(iii) Infringement Claims Affecting In-Licensed IP. To the Knowledge of Target, no claim or Legal Action involving any Intellectual Property or Intellectual Property Right licensed to the Target or any of its Subsidiaries is pending or has been threatened, except for any such claim or Legal Action that, if adversely determined, would not adversely affect (1) the use or exploitation of such Intellectual Property or Intellectual Property Right by the Target or its Subsidiaries, or (2) the design, development, manufacturing, marketing, distribution, provision, licensing or sale of any Target Product.

(1) Bugs; Harmful Code. None of the software (including firmware and other software embedded in hardware devices) owned, developed (or currently being developed), used, marketed, distributed, licensed or sold by the Target or any of its Subsidiaries (including any

software that is part of, is distributed with, or is used in the design, development, manufacturing, production, distribution, testing, maintenance or support of any Target Product, but excluding any third-party software that is generally available on standard commercial terms and is licensed to the Target or any of its Subsidiaries solely for internal use on a non-exclusive basis) (collectively, "**Target Software**") (i) contains any "back door," "drop dead device," "time bomb," "Trojan horse," "virus," or "worm" (as such terms are commonly understood in the software industry) or any other code designed or intended to have any of the following functions: (1) disrupting, disabling, harming or otherwise impeding in any manner the operation of, or providing unauthorized access to, a computer system or network or other device on which such code is stored or installed; or (2) damaging or destroying any data or file without the user's consent; (ii) contains any bug, defect, or error that materially and adversely affects the use, functionality, or performance of such Target Software or any product or system containing or used in conjunction with such Target Software; or (iii) fails to materially comply with any applicable warranty or other contractual commitment relating to the use, functionality, or performance of such Target Software or any product or systems containing or used in conjunction with such Target Software. The Target has provided to Parent a complete and accurate list of all known bugs, defects and errors in the current version of the Target Software.

(m) Source Code. The source code for all Target Software contains annotations and programmer's comments, and otherwise has been documented in a professional manner that is both: (i) consistent with customary code annotation conventions and best practices in the software industry; and (ii) sufficient to independently enable a programmer of reasonable skill and competence to understand, analyze, and interpret program logic, correct errors and improve, enhance, modify and support the Target Software. No source code for any Target Software has been delivered, licensed or made available to any escrow agent or other Person who is not, as of the date of this Agreement, a Target Employee. Neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries has any duty or obligation (whether present, contingent, or otherwise) to deliver, license, or make available the source code for any Target Software to any escrow agent or other Person. No event has occurred, and no circumstance or condition exists, that (with or without notice or lapse of time) will, or could reasonably be expected to, result in the delivery, license, or disclosure of the source code for any Target Software to any other Person.

(n) List of Open Source. Section 5.07(n) of the Disclosure Schedules accurately identifies and describes (i) each item of Open Source Code that is contained in, distributed with, or used in the development of the Target Products or from which any part of any Target Product is derived, (ii) the applicable license for each such item of Open Source Code, and (iii) the Target Product or Target Products to which each such item of Open Source Code relates.

(o) No Open Source Contamination. Except as set forth on Section 5.07(o) of the Disclosure Schedules, no Target Product contains, is derived from, is distributed with, or is being or was developed using Open Source Code that is licensed under any terms that (i) impose or could impose a requirement or condition that any Target Product or part thereof (1) be disclosed or distributed in source code form, (2) be licensed for the purpose of making modifications or derivative works, or (3) be redistributable at no charge, or (ii) otherwise impose or could impose any other material limitation, restriction, or condition on the right or ability of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries to use or distribute any Target Product.

(p) Disclosure of Current Target Privacy Policies. Section 5.07(p) of the Disclosure Schedules contains the most current Target Privacy Policy and each of its Subsidiaries, along with all prior versions of such Target Privacy Policies and the dates such prior versions were in effect.

(q) No Security Breaches. Target has not experienced within the past three years any material disruption to, or material interruption in, the conduct of its business attributable to a defect, error, or other failure or deficiency of any system of Target or its Subsidiaries, except for such material disruptions or material interruptions that would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Target Material Adverse Effect. Target and its Subsidiaries have taken all commercially reasonable or contractually obligated measures to (i) secure the confidential and proprietary information of the Target and its Subsidiaries and each of their customers, channel partners, and other Persons in their possession or control (including, without limitation, any Personal Data) (collectively, "Sensitive Target Data") and (ii) provide for the commercially reasonably or contractually obligated back-up and recovery of the data and information stored or processed using the systems of Target and its Subsidiaries without material disruption or interruption to the conduct of the business of the Target or its Subsidiaries.

(r) Written Security Programs. Each of Target and its Subsidiaries has established and is in material compliance with a written information security program that: (i) identifies internal and external risks to the security of the Sensitive Target Data, including any personally identifiable information; (ii) implements, monitors and improves adequate and effective administrative, technical and physical safeguards to control those risks and safeguard the security, confidentiality, integrity, and availability of Sensitive Target Data; (iii) protects against unauthorized access to systems of Target and its Subsidiaries and Sensitive Target Data (including on the systems of third parties with access to such systems of Target and its Subsidiaries or Sensitive Target Data) and (iv) maintains notification procedures in compliance with Laws in the case of any breach of security compromising data containing personally identifiable information. To the Knowledge of Target, (A) neither the Target nor its Subsidiaries have suffered or incurred a security breach or incident with respect to any system of the Target or its Subsidiaries or Sensitive Target nor its Subsidiaries for security breach or incident with respect to any system of the Target or its Subsidiaries or Sensitive Target Data by any unauthorized third party. Neither Target nor its Subsidiaries have notified or been required to notify, any Person of any information security breach or incident involving Personal Data.

(s) Compliance with Privacy Policies and Security Programs. Except as set forth on Section 5.07(s) of the Disclosure Schedules, the Target and its Subsidiaries have complied at all times and in all material respects with all of the privacy policies and security programs of the Target and its Subsidiaries.

(t) No Violation Resulting from Execution. Neither the execution, delivery, or performance of this Agreement (or any of the ancillary agreements) nor the consummation of any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, nor possession or use of the User Data or any data or information in the Target databases or any transfers of such data or information to any third party, will result in any violation of any Target Privacy Policy or any Law pertaining to privacy, security, User Data, or Personal Data.

Section 5.08 Compliance; Anti-Corruption; Permits .

(a) Compliance with Law. Except as set forth on Section 5.08(a) of the Disclosure Schedules, the Target and each of its Subsidiaries is and, since January 1, 2012, has been in compliance with, all Laws or Orders applicable to the Target or any of its Subsidiaries, except for such non-compliance that would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Target Material Adverse Effect. Since January 1, 2012, no Governmental Entity has issued any written notice stating that the Target or any of its Subsidiaries is not in compliance with any Law, except where such non-compliance would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Target Material Adverse Effect. The foregoing representations and warranties contained in this Section 5.08(a) do not apply to matters relating specifically to SEC filings, financial statements, disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls, undisclosed liabilities and Sarbanes-Oxley compliance, as to which only Section 5.04 applies, tax matters, as to which Section 5.06 applies, employee matters, as to which only Section 5.13 applies, or environmental matters, as to which only Section 5.15 applies.

(b) Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. None of the Target, its Subsidiaries, or any of their respective owners, directors, officers, employees, distributors, resellers, consultants, agents or other third party acting on behalf of the Target or a Subsidiary, has promised, offered, provided, attempted to provide, or authorized the provision of anything of value (including but not limited to payments, meals, entertainment, travel expenses or accommodations, or gifts), directly or indirectly through third parties, to any Person, including a Public Official or Entity, for the purpose of (i) obtaining or retaining business; (ii) influencing any act or decision of a foreign government official in their official capacity; (iii) inducing a foreign government official to do or omit to do any act in violation of their lawful duties; (iv) directing business to another Person; or (v) securing any advantage in a manner that would be a violation of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended (the "FCPA") or any applicable local, domestic or international anticorruption laws.

(c) Off-The-Books Transactions. None of the Target, its Subsidiaries, or any of their respective owners, directors, officers, employees, distributors, resellers, consultants, agents or other third party acting on behalf of the Target or a Subsidiary has used any Target funds to maintain any off-the-books funds or engage in any off-the-books transactions or falsified any Target documents.

(d) Government Investigations. The Target has not conducted any internal or government-initiated investigation, or made a voluntary or involuntary disclosure to any governmental body or similar agency with respect to any alleged act or omission arising under or relating to any noncompliance with any anticorruption Law, including the FCPA.

(e) Anticorruption Violations. There are no pending or, to the Knowledge of Target, threatened claims against the Target or any Subsidiaries with respect to violations of the FCPA or any applicable local, domestic, or international anticorruption laws.

(f) Permits. Except as set forth on Section 5.08(f) of the Disclosure Schedules, the Target and each of its Subsidiaries holds, to the extent legally required to operate its businesses as such businesses are being operated as of the date hereof, all Permits, except for any Permits the failure of which to obtain or hold would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Target Material Adverse Effect. No suspension or cancellation of any Permits of the

Target or any of its Subsidiaries is pending or, to the Knowledge of Target, threatened, except for any such suspension or cancellation which would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Target Material Adverse Effect. The Target and each of its Subsidiaries is and, since January 1, 2012, has been in compliance with the terms of all of its Permits, except where the failure to be in such compliance would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Target Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.09 Export Controls.

(a) **Export Control Laws.** The Target and its Subsidiaries are in compliance with U.S. Export Control Laws. The Target is not aware of any potential violations of U.S. Export Control Laws in connection with any past, current, or pending export transactions.

(b) Products. Section 5.09(b) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth the true, complete, and accurate export control classifications for each of the Target's products, services, software and technologies.

(c) Approvals. The Target has obtained all material approvals or licenses necessary for exporting or providing its products in accordance with all applicable United States and non-U.S. export control laws. The Target has made available to Parent true and complete copies of all such approvals or licenses. All such export approvals or licenses in the United States and throughout the world are valid, current, outstanding and in full force and effect.

(d) **Boycotts.** The Target has not participated directly or indirectly in any boycotts or other similar practices in violation of, or triggering penalties under, the regulations of the United States Department of Commerce or Section 999 of the Internal Revenue Service Code.

(e) Embargoes. The Target has not provided, sold to, or otherwise transferred, without any required approval from the U.S. Government, products, software, technology, or services, directly or indirectly, to (i) Cuba, Iran, North Korea, Sudan, Syria, or any other country against which the United States maintains economic embargoes, (ii) any instrumentality, agent, entity, or individual that is acting on behalf of, or directly or indirectly owned or controlled by, any Governmental Entity of such countries, (iii) nationals of such countries, or (iv) any organization, entity, or individual appearing on a U.S. Government list of parties with whom companies are prohibited from transacting business including the Specially Designated Nationals & Blocked Persons List and Foreign Sanctions Evaders List, both maintained by the U.S. Treasury Department's Office of Foreign Assets Control and the Denied Persons List, Entity List, and Unverified List, which are maintained by the Bureau of Industry and Security of the U.S. Department of Commerce (the "Prohibited Party Lists").

(f) Prohibited Party Lists. None of the Target, its Subsidiaries, or any of their respective officers, directors, employees, or agents appears on the Prohibited Party Lists.

(g) Violations. The Target has not received any written communication from any Governmental Entity that alleges that the Target or any agent, employee, officer, or director thereof has violated, is not in compliance with, or has any material Liability under, any U.S. Export Control Laws.

(h) Potential Violations. The Target has not made and does not intend to make any disclosure (voluntary or otherwise) to any Governmental Entity with respect to any potential violation or Liability of the Target arising under or relating to any U.S. Export Control Laws.

(i) Allegations. To the Knowledge of Target, there are no allegations, complaints, charges, investigations or administrative enforcement actions, pending, expected, threatened, or closed by any Governmental Entity with respect to any potential violation or Liability of the Target arising under or relating to any U.S. Export Control Laws.

Section 5.10 Litigation . As of the date hereof, except as set forth on Section 5.10 of the Disclosure Schedules, there are no Legal Actions pending, or to the Knowledge of Target, threatened against the Target or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective properties or assets, in each case by or before any Governmental Entity, other than any such Legal Action that (a) does not involve an amount in controversy in excess of \$100,000, and (b) does not seek material injunctive or other material non-monetary relief. Neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries is subject to any Order, whether temporary, preliminary or permanent, which would reasonably be expected to have; individually or in the aggregate, a Target Material Adverse Effect. In the last three (3) years, neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries has received written notice of any, and, to the Knowledge of Target, there are not any, SEC inquiries or investigations or other governmental inquiries or investigations, in each case regarding any accounting practices of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries or any malfeasance by any executive officer of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries.

Section 5.11 Brokers' and Finders' Fees. Except for fees payable to Canaccord Genuity Inc. and Duff & Phelps, LLC (the "Target Financial Advisors"), the fees and expenses of which will be paid by the Target, neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries has incurred, nor will it incur, directly or indirectly, any Liability for brokerage or finders' fees or agents' commissions or any similar charges in connection with this Agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby. The Target has made available to Parent a correct and complete copy of the Target's written Contracts with the Target Financial Advisors.

Section 5.12 Related Party Transactions. Except as set forth on Section 5.12 of the Disclosure Schedules, no executive officer or director of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries or any Person owning 5% or more of the shares of Target Common Stock (or any of such Person's immediate family members or Affiliates or associates) is a party to any Contract with or binding upon the Target or any of its assets, rights or properties or has any interest in any property owned by the Target or has engaged in any transaction with any of the foregoing within the last twelve (12) months.

Section 5.13 Employee and Other Service Provider Matters; Benefit Plans .

(a) Section 5.13(a) of the Disclosure Schedules contains a true and complete list, as of the date of this Agreement, containing the names of all Target Employees (including all part-time, temporary and leased employees), and Target Consultants, their current respective salaries or wages (or, in the case of Target Consultants, their fees), other compensation, dates of employment, position, status as exempt or non-exempt under the Fair Labor Standards Act, and the forms of all written agreements between the Target or a Subsidiary and such individuals.

(b) Except as set forth on Section 5.13(b) of the Disclosure Schedules, all Target Employees are at-will employees and no current or former employee of the Target is entitled to receive any severance, compensation or benefits following termination of employment by the Target, except as may be required by applicable Laws.

(c) As of the date of this Agreement, the Target has no Knowledge that any of its employees listed in Section 5.13(c) of the Disclosure Schedules ("Key Employees "), or any group of Key Employees, has determined to terminate his, her or their employment with the Target.

(d) The Target and its Subsidiaries are in material compliance with all currently applicable Laws respecting terms and conditions of employment. Except as set forth on Section 5.13(d) of the Disclosure Schedules, there is no Legal Action pending or, to the Knowledge of Target, threatened against the Target or any Subsidiary by any Target Employee or Target Consultant (including former Target Employees or former Target Consultants). The Target and its Subsidiaries have complied in all material respects with all applicable Laws relating to labor and employment, including laws relating to employment discrimination, labor relations, fair employment practices, payment of wages, overtime pay and other compensation, maximum hours of work, severance or termination pay, leave of absence, immigration, employee classification, recordkeeping, employee health and safety, workers' compensation, and affirmative action. Each Target Employee and each Target Consultant has been paid, or by the Closing, will have been paid, all wages, fees, sums and other compensation owed to them as of the Closing.

(e) Section 5.13(e) of the Disclosure Schedules contains a true and complete list of all Target Employee Plans that are presently in effect and that cover the Target Employees or Target Consultants, or under which any of the Target Employees or Target Consultants has any present or future right to benefits, or under which the Target or any of its Subsidiaries has or could reasonably be expected to have any Liability. With respect to each Target Employee Plan, the Target has delivered to Parent: (a) a true and correct copy of each Target Employee Plan, including any amendments thereto, and a copy of the related trust agreement, (b) a copy of the three most recently filed IRS Form 5500s, including all attachments and exhibits, and discrimination testing results for the three most recently completed plan years, (c) a copy of the summary plan description and any summary of material modifications, (d) any material correspondence with the IRS, DOL or any Governmental Entity with respect to the Target Employee Plan, and (e) a copy of any IRS determination letter or opinion letter concerning the tax-qualified status of a Target Employee Plan under the Code and ERISA. Neither the Target nor any Subsidiary has made any promises, commitments or guarantees to establish or adopt any plan, policy or arrangement that would constitute a Target Employee Plan.

(f) None of the Target Employee Plans is, and neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries nor any of their respective Target ERISA Affiliates has ever contributed to or had any obligation to contribute to: (i) a plan subject to Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code, (ii) a "multiemployer plan" (within the meaning of Section 3(37) of ERISA), or (iii) a plan that provides for or continues medical benefits for any Person after such Person's retirement or other termination of employment except as may be required by COBRA.

(g) All Target Employee Plans currently and have at all times materially complied with and have been operated in material compliance with ERISA, the Code and other applicable Law and all such Target Employee Plans have been maintained and operated at all times in accordance with their material terms.

(h) Each Target Employee Plan that is intended to be a plan that is qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code, is so qualified and its related trust is tax-exempt under the Code and there are no facts or circumstances that could reasonably be expected to adversely affect such Target Employee Plan's qualification under Section 401(a) and related sections of the Code or such related trust's tax-exempt status.

(i) Full payment to each Target Employee Plan of all contributions or other remittances or payments (including all employer contributions, employee salary reduction contributions, premiums and other amounts) that are required to be made by the Target or any Target ERISA Affiliate under the terms thereof and under ERISA and the Code in respect of the current and all prior plan years have been made on a timely basis.

(j) There are no Legal Actions pending, or to the Knowledge of Target threatened, involving or arising in connection with any Target Employee Plan or a fiduciary of any Target Employee Plan, including but not limited to those initiated by a participant or beneficiary of such Target Employee Plan or any Governmental Entity. None of the Target Employee Plans is the subject of a voluntary correction of any plan document or operational errors under the IRS' Employee Plans Compliance Resolution System, or the DOL's Voluntary Fiduciary Correction Program.

(k) The Target has not engaged in, or participated in, any transaction in respect of any Target Employee Plan which would be considered a non-exempt "prohibited transaction" as such term is defined in Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code.

(1) To the Knowledge of Target, except as set forth on Section 5.13(1) of the Disclosure Schedules, the Target and its Subsidiaries are in compliance with all applicable Laws relating to worker classification, including the proper classification of independent contractors. Except as set forth on Section 5.13(1) of the Disclosure Schedules, no current or former independent contractor of the Target or its Subsidiaries could be deemed a misclassified employee.

(m) Except as set forth on Section 5.13(m) of the Disclosure Schedules, there are no Target Employees or Target Consultants employed or providing services, or otherwise located, in jurisdictions outside of the United States.

(n) Except as set forth on Section 5.13(n) of the Disclosure Schedules, the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not (i) entitle any current or former employee or officer of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries to severance pay or any similar payment, (ii) except with respect to the Target Equity Awards, accelerate the time of payment or vesting under any Target Employee Plan, (iii) increase the amount of compensation due any such employee or officer, or (iv) directly or indirectly cause the Target or any of its Subsidiaries to transfer or set aside any assets to fund or otherwise provide for the benefits under the Target Employee Plans for any current or former employee, officer or director of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries.

(o) Neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to, or subject to, any collective bargaining agreement or other agreement with any labor organization, work council or trade union with respect to any of its operations. As of the date hereof, no material work stoppage, slowdown or labor strike is pending against the Target or any of its Subsidiaries. As of the date hereof, none of the Target Employees are represented by a labor organization, work council or trade union. As of the date hereof, there are no Legal Actions or labor grievances pending, or, to the Knowledge of Target, threatened relating to any employment related matter involving any Target Employee.

Section 5.14 Real Property and Personal Property Matters.

(a) Owned Real Estate. Neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries owns any real property.

(b) Leased Real Estate. Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Target Material Adverse Effect, the Target and its Subsidiaries have a valid and subsisting leasehold interest in each parcel of real property demised under a Lease. Section 5.14(b) of the Disclosure Schedules contains an address and description of each parcel of Leased Real Estate. Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Target Material Adverse Effect, (i) all Leases are valid and in full force and effect except to the extent they have previously expired or terminated in accordance with their terms, and (ii) neither the Target, any of its Subsidiaries, nor, to the Knowledge of Target, any third party, has violated any material provision of, or committed or failed to perform any material act which, with or without notice, lapse of time or both would constitute a default under the provisions of, any Lease. Neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries has assigned, pledged, mortgaged, hypothecated or otherwise transferred any Lease nor has the Target or any of its Subsidiaries entered into with any other Person any sublease, license or other agreement that is material to the Target and that relates to the use or occupancy of all or any portion of the Leased Real Estate. The Target has delivered or otherwise made available to Parent true and complete copies of all Leases pursuant to which the Target or any of its Subsidiaries leases, subleases or licenses, as tenant, any Leased Real Estate.

(c) **Personal Property.** Except as set forth on **Section 5.14(c)** of the Disclosure Schedules and that would otherwise not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Target Material Adverse Effect, the Target and each of its Subsidiaries has good title to, or a valid and binding leasehold interest in, all the personal property owned by it, free and clear of all Encumbrances, other than Permitted Encumbrances.

Section 5.15 Environmental Matters .

(a) The Target and each of its Subsidiaries is in compliance with all Environmental Laws, which compliance includes the possession, maintenance of, compliance with, or application for, all Permits required under applicable Environmental Laws for the operation of the business of the Target and each of its Subsidiaries as currently conducted, except when any non-compliance would not reasonably be expected to have a Target Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Target Material Adverse Effect, neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries has (i) produced, processed, manufactured, generated, transported, treated, handled, used, stored, disposed of or released any Hazardous Substances, except in compliance with Environmental Laws, at any Leased Real Estate, or (ii) exposed any employee or any third party to any Hazardous Substances under circumstances reasonably expected to give rise to any material Liability or obligation under any Environmental Law.

(c) Neither the Target nor any Subsidiary has received written notice of and there is no Legal Action pending, or to the Knowledge of Target, threatened against the Target or any of its Subsidiaries, alleging any Liability or responsibility under or material non-compliance with any Environmental Law or seeking to impose any financial responsibility for any investigation, cleanup, removal, containment or any other remediation or compliance under any Environmental Law, except for any Legal Actions which, individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to have a Target Material Adverse Effect. Neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries is subject to any Order or written agreement by or with any Governmental Entity or third party imposing any material Liability or obligation with respect to any of the foregoing.

Section 5.16 Material Contracts; Government Contracts.

(a) Material Contracts. Section 5.16(a) of the Disclosure Schedules lists the following Contracts to which the Target or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or any of its assets are bound (excluding any Leases and any Target Employee Plan) (collectively, the "Target Material Contracts"):

(i) any "material contract" required to be filed under Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K of the Securities Act;

(ii) any employment or consulting Contract (in each case with respect to which the Target or any of its Subsidiaries has continuing obligations as of the date hereof) providing for an annual base salary in excess of \$100,000;

(iii) any Contract providing for indemnification by the Target or any of its Subsidiaries that is material to the Target, other than any Contract providing for indemnification of customers or other Persons pursuant to Contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

(iv) any Contract that purports to limit in any material respect the right of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries (A) to engage in any line of business, or (B) to compete with any Person or operate in any geographical location;

(v) any Contract relating to the disposition or acquisition, directly or indirectly (by merger or otherwise), by the Target or any of its Subsidiaries after the date of this Agreement of assets with a fair market value in excess of \$100,000;

(vi) any Contract that obligates the Target or any of its Subsidiaries to conduct business on an exclusive basis with any third party;

(vii) any partnership, joint venture or similar Contract;

(viii) any mortgages, indentures, guarantees, loans or credit agreements, security agreements or other Contracts, in each case relating to indebtedness for borrowed money, whether as borrower or lender, in each case in excess of \$100,000, other than accounts receivables and payables;

(ix) any material Target IP Contract;

(x) any employee collective bargaining agreement or other Contract with any labor union;

(xi) any other Contract under which the Target or any of its Subsidiaries is obligated to make payment or incur costs in excess of \$50,000 in any year and which is not otherwise described in clauses (i)-(x) above;

(xii) any Contract which is not otherwise described in clauses (i)-(xi) above that is material to the Target, and listed on Section 5.16 (a)(xii) of the Disclosure Schedules;

The Target has made available to Parent correct and complete copies of all Target Material Contracts.

(b) No Breach. Each Target Material Contract is valid and binding on the Target or its Subsidiaries, as applicable, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, and is in full force and effect, except as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium and other similar Laws affecting creditors' rights generally and by general principles of equity. Neither the Target, its Subsidiaries, nor, to the Knowledge of Target, any third party has violated any material provision of, or failed to perform any material obligation required under the provisions of, any Target Material Contract. Neither the Target nor any of its Subsidiaries has received written notice that it is in breach of any Target Material Contract.

(c) Governmental Contracts . Section 5.16(c) of the Disclosure Schedules contains a true, complete and correct list of each of the Target's Government Contracts and Government Contract Bids. As to each Government Contract and Government Contract Bid identified in Section 5.16(c) of the Disclosure Schedule, except as otherwise set forth in Section 5.16(c) of the Disclosure Schedule, no Government Contract or Government Contract Bid is based on the Target having or asserting status as a small business, small disadvantaged business, service-disabled veteran-owned small business, woman-owned small business, participant in the SBA's 8(a) Business Development program, protégé, or other preferential status afforded by statute or regulation.

(d) Compliance . The Target has complied in all material respects with: (i) all terms and conditions of each Government Contract and Government Contract Bid; and (ii) all laws and regulations applicable to each such Government Contract and Government Contract Bid, including, without limitation, the Truth in Negotiations Act of 1962, as amended, the Service Contract Act of 1965, as amended, and the Federal Acquisition Regulation ("FAR") and any applicable agency supplement thereto. Neither the Target nor any of its owners, officers, directors, employees, consultants, agents, or Representatives is currently debarred or suspended from doing

business with any governmental agency, or proposed for debarment or suspension, or otherwise ineligible to do business with any governmental agency. To the Knowledge of Target, there are no circumstances that would be reasonably expected to warrant the institution of debarment or suspension proceedings against the Target or any of its owners, officers, directors, employees, consultants, agents, or Representatives.

(e) Governmental Rights . Except as set forth on Section 5.16(e) of the Disclosure Schedules, the Target has not provided technical data, computer software, or Intellectual Property to any Governmental Authority or other Person, in connection with a Government Contract or Government Contract Bid, in any manner that gives such Governmental Authority or other Person any rights in such technical data, computer software, or Intellectual Property greater than or different from "restricted rights" or "limited rights," as such terms are defined in the FAR and applicable agency FAR supplements. In each case in which the Target has delivered or otherwise provided any technical data, computer software, or Intellectual Property to any Governmental Authority or other Person in connection with any Government Contract or Government Contract Bid, the Target has marked such technical data, computer software, or Intellectual Property with all markings and legends (including any "restricted rights" or "limited rights" legend) necessary (under the FAR or other applicable Legal Requirements) to preclude a Governmental Authority or other Person from acquiring any unlimited rights with respect to such technical data, computer software or Intellectual Property.

(f) Accuracy of Representations and Warranties. All representations and certifications made by the Target with respect to each Government Contract and Government Contract Bid were accurate in all material respects as of their effective date, and the Target has complied in all material respects with such representations and certifications.

(g) No Defaults. No show cause notices, cure notices, or default terminations have been received by the Target with respect to any Government Contract, and Target has not received any notice from either the United States government nor any prime contractor, subcontractor, vendor, or other third party that the Target has breached or violated, or is alleged to have breached or violated, any Law or regulation applicable to a Government Contract or Government Contract Bid.

(h) FAR Disclosures. The Target has not made a mandatory disclosure under FAR 52.203-13(b)(3)(i) or FAR Subpart 9.4, or a voluntary disclosure to a Governmental Authority in connection with a Government Contract or Government Contract Bid, and to the Knowledge of Target there are no facts that would require the Target to make a mandatory disclosure under FAR 52.203-13(b)(3)(i) or FAR Subpart 9.4.

(i) Setoffs. Neither a governmental agency nor any prime contractor or subcontractor under a Government Contract has withheld or setoff or, to the Knowledge of Target, attempted to withhold or setoff, monies due to the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries under any Government *Contract*.

(j) Governmental Claims. To the Knowledge of Target, there exist (i) no outstanding claims against the Target either by a governmental agency or by any prime contractor or subcontractor arising under any Government Contract, (ii) no facts that could form the basis for

such a claim, (iii) no disputes between the Target and a governmental agency or any prime contractor or subcontractor arising under any Government Contract, and (iv) no facts over which such a dispute would reasonably be expected to arise in the future.

(k) Conflicts of Interest. The Target has not received notice of an actual, apparent, or potential "organizational conflict of interest" as defined in FAR Subpart 9.5, and there are no facts that could reasonably be expected to result in an "organizational conflict of interest" as a result of or arising from execution of this Agreement.

(1) Section 5.16(1) of the Disclosure Schedules sets forth as of the date of this Agreement a true and complete list of all facility security clearances held by the Target, and all personnel security clearances held by the Target, and any officer, director, or employee of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries (listed by category only). The clearances set forth on Section 5.16(1) of the Disclosure Schedules are all of the facility and personnel security clearances reasonably necessary to conduct the business of the Target. The Target is in compliance in all material respects with all national security obligations, including, without limitation, those specified in the National Industrial Security Program Operating Manual, DOD 5220.22-M (February 2006) (as amended). Prior to the date of this Agreement, the Target shall have prepared and submitted a notification in accordance with Section 1-302(g) and, if necessary, Section 2-302(b), of the National Industrial Security Program Operating Manual ("NISPOM "). Thereafter, until the earlier of the Closing or the termination of this Agreement, the Target and Parent shall cooperate among themselves in: (i) communicating with DSS and, as necessary, any other Cognizant Security Agency, regarding the operation of the business of the Target and/or its Subsidiaries; and (ii) developing and implementing a plan to negate or mitigate the risk of foreign ownership, control, or influence ("FOCI "), in accordance with the NISPOM and subject to Parent's reasonable discretion.

Section 5.17 Information in the Offer Documents and the Schedule 14D-9. The information supplied by the Target expressly for inclusion in the Offer Documents (and any amendment or supplement thereto) will not, when filed with the SEC or when amended or supplemented or at the time of distribution or dissemination thereof to the Target's stockholders, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The Schedule 14D-9 will comply as to form in all material respects with the provisions of Rule 14d-9 of the Exchange Act and any other applicable Laws and will not, when filed with the SEC or distributed or disseminated to the Target's stockholders, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein, in the light of the circumstances under to make the statements made therein, in the light of the provisions of Rule 14d-9 of the Exchange Act and any other applicable Laws and will not, when filed with the SEC or distributed or disseminated to the Target's stockholders, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, except that the Target makes no representation or warranty with respect to statements made in the Schedule 14D-9 based on information furnished by Parent, Merger Sub or their Representatives expressly for inclusion therein.

Section 5.18 Fairness Opinion. The Target has received a third-party opinion to the effect that, as of the date of this Agreement and based upon and subject to the qualifications and assumptions set forth therein, the consideration to be received in the Offer and the Merger by the holders of shares of Target Common Stock (other than Parent and Merger Sub) is fair, from a

financial point of view, to the holders of shares of Target Common Stock, and, as of the date of this Agreement, such opinion has not been withdrawn, revoked or modified (the "Fairness Opinion"). As soon as practicable following the date hereof, an executed copy of the aforementioned opinions will be made available to Parent for informational purposes only.

Section 5.19 Rule 14d-10 Matters . All amounts payable to holders of shares and other equity interests of the Target (each a " Covered Securityholder ," and together the " Covered Securityholders") pursuant to the Target Stock Plans (a) are being paid or granted as compensation for past services performed, future services to be performed or future services to be refrained from performing by the Covered Securityholders (and matters incidental thereto) and (b) are not calculated based on the number of shares tendered or to be tendered into the Offer by the applicable Covered Securityholder. The compensation committee of the Target Board (each member of which the Target Board determined is an "independent director" within the meaning of the applicable NASDAQ rules and is an "independent director" in accordance with the requirements of Rule 14d-10(d)(2) under the Exchange Act) (i) at a meeting duly called and held at which all members of the compensation committee were present, duly and unanimously adopted resolutions approving as an "employment compensation, severance or other employee benefit arrangement" within the meaning of Rule 14d-10(d)(1) under the Exchange Act (an " Employment Compensation Arrangement") (A) each Target Stock Plan and (B) the treatment of the Target Stock Options and Target Restricted Stock Awards in accordance with the terms set forth herein, the applicable Target Stock Plan, which resolutions have not been rescinded, modified or withdrawn in any way, and (ii) has taken all other actions necessary to satisfy the requirements of the non-exclusive safe harbor under Rule 14d-10(d) under the Exchange Act with respect to the foregoing arrangements.

ARTICLE VI REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB

Parent and Merger Sub hereby jointly and severally represent and warrant to the Target as follows:

Section 6.01 Organization; Standing and Power . Parent is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation, and has the requisite power and authority to own, lease and operate its assets and to carry on its business as now conducted. Merger Sub is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the jurisdiction of its organization, and has the requisite power and authority to own, lease and operate its assets and to carry on its business as now conducted. Merger Sub is a corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its assets and to carry on its business as now conducted.

Section 6.02 Authority; Non-Contravention; Governmental Consents .

(a) Authority. Each of Parent and Merger Sub has all requisite power and authority to enter into and to perform its obligations under this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub and the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of the Offer, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of Parent and Merger Sub, and no other proceedings on the part of Parent or Merger Sub are necessary to

authorize the execution and delivery of this Agreement or to consummate the Offer, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, subject only to the filing of the Certificate of Merger pursuant to the DGCL. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Parent and Merger Sub and, assuming due execution and delivery by the Target, constitutes the valid and binding obligation of Parent and Merger Sub, enforceable against Parent and Merger Sub in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium and other similar Laws affecting creditors' rights generally and by general principles of equity.

(b) Non-Contravention. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub and the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of the transactions contemplated hereby, including the Offer and the Merger, do not and will not: (i) contravene or conflict with, or result in any violation or breach of, the certificate of incorporation or by-laws of Parent or Merger Sub, (ii) subject to compliance with the requirements set forth in Section 6.02(c)(i)-(iii), conflict with or violate any Law applicable to Parent or Merger Sub or any of their respective properties or assets, (iii) result in any breach of or constitute a default (or an event that with notice or lapse of time or both would become a default) under, or alter the rights or obligations of any third party under, or give to others any rights of termination, amendment, acceleration or cancellation, or require any Consent under, any Contract to which Parent or its Subsidiaries, including Merger Sub, are a party or otherwise bound as of the date hereof, or (iv) result in the creation of any Encumbrance (other than Permitted Encumbrances) on any of the properties or assets of Parent or Merger Sub, except, in the case of each of clauses (ii), (iii) and (iv) above, for any conflicts, violations, breaches, defaults, alterations, terminations, amendments, accelerations, cancellations or Encumbrances, or where the failure to obtain any Consents, in each case, would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

(c) Governmental Consents. No Consent of any Governmental Entity is required to be obtained or made by Parent or Merger Sub in connection with the execution, delivery and performance by Parent and Merger Sub of this Agreement or the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of the Offer, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, except for: (i) the filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and appropriate documents with the relevant authorities of other states in which the Target, Parent or Merger Sub are qualified to do business, (ii) such filings with the SEC as may be required to be made by Parent or Merger Sub in accordance with the Exchange Act in connection with this Agreement, the Offer, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, (iii) such Consents as may be required under applicable state securities or "blue sky" laws and the securities Laws of any foreign country or the rules and regulations of any applicable United States securities exchange on which the Target Common Stock is traded, and (iv) such other Consents which if not obtained or made (A) would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect or (B) would not be expected to prevent, materially delay or materially impede the Closing.

Section 6.03 Brokers' and Finders' Fees. Except for fees payable to Pacific Crest Securities, neither Parent nor Merger Sub has incurred, nor will they incur, directly or indirectly, any Liability for brokerage or finders' fees or agents' commissions or any similar charges in connection with this Agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby.

Section 6.04 Information in the Offer Documents. The Offer Documents (and any amendment thereof or supplement thereto) will not, when filed with the SEC or when amended or supplemented or at the time of distribution or dissemination thereof to the Target's stockholders, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no representation or warranty is made by Parent or Merger Sub with respect to statements made therein supplied by the Target or its Representatives expressly for inclusion in the Offer Documents. The Offer Documents will comply as to form in all material respects with applicable federal securities Laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.

Section 6.05 Sufficiency of Funds . Parent has, or has available to it, funds sufficient to effect the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 6.06 Litigation . As of the date hereof, there is no Legal Action pending, or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened against Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, including Merger Sub, or Affiliates nor is Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, including Merger Sub, or its Affiliates subject to any Order, whether temporary, preliminary or permanent, which would reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 6.07 Ownership of Target Common Stock. Except as set forth on Exhibit B attached hereto, neither Parent nor any of its Affiliates beneficially owns (as defined in Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act) any shares of Target Common Stock.

Section 6.08 DGCL Section 203. Either (i) none of Parent, Merger Sub, or any of their affiliates or associates was an interested stockholder of the Target prior to the Target Board Meeting or (ii) assuming the truth of the Target's representation and warranty in the last sentence of Section 5.03(f), prior to such time as any of Parent, Merger Sub, or any of their affiliates or associates became an interested stockholder of the Target, the Target Board approved either the business combination or the transaction that resulted in such Person becoming an interested stockholder of the Target. For purposes of this Section 6.08 only, the terms "affiliates," "associates," "business combination" and "interested stockholder" shall have the meanings ascribed to them in Section 203 of the DGCL.

ARTICLE VII COVENANTS

Section 7.01 Conduct of Business of the Target. The Target will, during the period from the date of this Agreement until the Effective Time (such date, the "Conduct of Business End Date"), except with the prior written consent of Parent (which consent will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), as expressly contemplated by this Agreement or as required by applicable Law, (i) conduct its and its Subsidiaries operations in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (ii) use its commercially reasonable efforts to preserve intact its business organization and to preserve satisfactory business relationships with customers, suppliers, licensors, licensees, distributors, wholesalers, lessors and others having material business dealings with the Target, and (iii) comply in all material respects with all applicable Laws. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, between the date of this Agreement and the Conduct of Business End Date, except as otherwise expressly contemplated by this Agreement or as set forth on Section 7.01 of the of the Disclosure Schedules or as required by applicable Law, the Target will not (and will cause its Subsidiaries not to) without the prior written consent of Parent (which consent will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed):

(a) amend or propose to amend its certificate of incorporation or by-laws;

(b) (i) split, combine or reclassify any Target Securities, (ii) repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire, or offer to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire, any Target Securities other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices, (iii) declare, set aside or pay any dividend or distribution (whether in cash, stock, property or otherwise) in respect of, or enter into any Contract with respect to the voting of, any shares of its capital stock;

(c) issue, sell, pledge, dispose of or encumber any Target Securities, other than (i) the issuance of shares of Target Common Stock upon the exercise of any Target Equity Award outstanding as of the date of this Agreement in accordance with its terms, or (ii) the issuance of shares of Target Common Stock in respect of other equity compensation awards outstanding under Target Stock Plans as of the date of this Agreement in accordance with their terms;

(d) except as required by applicable Law or by any Target Employee Plan or Contract in effect as of the date of this Agreement, (i) increase the compensation payable or that could become payable by the Target to directors, officers or employees, (ii) enter into any new or amend any existing employment, severance, retention or change in control agreement with any of its past or present officers or employees, (iii) promote any officers or employees, except in connection with the termination or resignation of any officer or employee, (iv) reprice any Target Equity Award or amend, accelerate or waive any vesting terms related to any Target Equity Award, or (v) establish, adopt, enter into, amend, terminate or take any action to accelerate rights under any Target Employee Plans or any plan, agreement, program, policy, trust, fund or other arrangement that would be a Target Employee Plan if it were in existence as of the date of this Agreement, or make any contribution to any Target Employee Plan, other than contributions required by Law, the terms of such Target Employee Plans as in effect on the date hereof or that are made in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

(e) acquire, by merger, consolidation, acquisition of stock or assets, or otherwise, any business or Person or make any loans, advances or capital contributions to or investments in any Person;

(f) (i) other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices, transfer, license, sell, lease or otherwise dispose of any assets (whether by way of merger, consolidation, sale of stock or assets, or otherwise), or (ii) adopt or effect a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, restructuring, recapitalization or other reorganization;

(g) repurchase, prepay or incur any indebtedness for borrowed money or guarantee any such indebtedness of another Person, issue or sell any debt securities or options, warrants, calls or other rights to acquire any debt securities of the Target or guarantee any debt securities of another Person; (h) make any material change in any method of financial accounting principles or practices, in each case except for any such change required by a change in GAAP or applicable Law;

(i) except in connection with actions permitted by Section 7.04, take any action to exempt any Person from, or make any acquisition of securities of the Target by any Person not subject to, any state takeover statute or similar statute or regulation that applies to the Target with respect to a Takeover Proposal or otherwise, including the restrictions on "business combinations" set forth in Section 203 of the DGCL, except for Parent, Merger Sub or any of their respective Subsidiaries or Affiliates, or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

(j) abandon, encumber, convey title (in whole or in part) or license any Target IP, other than non-exclusive licenses in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

(k) (A) except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (i) enter into, terminate or materially amend or modify any Target Material Contract or Contract that, if in effect on the date hereof, would have been a Target Material Contract, (ii) waive any term of, or waive any default under, or release, settle or compromise any claim against the Target or Liability or obligation owing to the Target under, any Target Material Contract, or (B) enter into any Contract which contains a change of control or similar provision that would require a payment to the other party or parties thereto in connection with the Offer, the Merger, the Support Agreement or the other transactions contemplated herein (including in combination with any other event or circumstance);

(1) institute, settle or compromise any Legal Actions pending before any arbitrator, court or other Governmental Entity involving the payment of monetary damages by the Target of any amount exceeding \$100,000 in the aggregate, other than (i) any Legal Action brought against Parent, Merger Sub or any of their respective Affiliates or Representatives, and (ii) the settlement of claims, liabilities or obligations reserved against on the most recent balance sheet of the Target included in the Target SEC Documents; *provided that*, with respect to subsection (ii), the Target shall not settle or agree to settle any Legal Action which settlement involves injunctive or similar relief or has a restrictive impact on the Target's business;

(m) prepare or file any Tax Return inconsistent with past practices, or take any position, make any election or adopt any method inconsistent with positions taken, elections made or methods used in preparing or filing similar Tax Returns in prior periods, change or revoke any election related to Taxes, change an annual accounting period, change any method of Tax accounting or file any amended Tax Return, settle or compromise any litigation, audit or other proceedings with respect to Taxes, except any waiver of a statutory period of limitations with respect to the assertion or collection of Taxes or execute a closing agreement with respect to Taxes, if such position, election, adoption, change, revocation, amendment, settlement, compromise, agreement, consent or other action would have the effect of increasing the Tax Liability of the Target for any period after the Closing Date by an amount in excess of \$100,000 in the aggregate or decreasing any Tax attribute of the Target existing on the Closing Date by an amount in excess of \$100,000 in the aggregate; or

(n) agree or commit to do any of the foregoing.

Section 7.02 Other Actions . Except for those actions permitted in accordance with this Agreement, from the date of this Agreement until the earlier to occur of the Effective Time or the termination of this Agreement in accordance with the terms set forth in Article IX, the Target and Parent will not, and Parent will not permit its Subsidiaries, including Merger Sub, to, take, or agree or commit to take, any action that would reasonably be expected to, individually or in the aggregate, prevent, materially delay or materially impede the consummation of the Offer, the Merger or the other transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 7.03 Access to Information; Confidentiality.

(a) From the date of this Agreement until the earlier to occur of the Effective Time or the termination of this Agreement in accordance with the terms set forth in Article IX, the Target will afford (and will cause its Subsidiaries to afford) to Parent and Parent's Representatives reasonable access, at mutually agreeable times and in a manner as will not unreasonably interfere with the business or operations of the Target, to the officers, employees, accountants, agents, properties, offices and other facilities and to all books, records, contracts and other assets of the Target, and the Target will furnish promptly to Parent such other information concerning the business and properties of the Target as Parent may reasonably request from time to time, expressly excluding information that is attorney-client privileged to Target or whereby disclosure would be in contravention of applicable Law.

(b) Parent and the Target will comply with, and will cause their respective Representatives to comply with, all of their respective obligations under that certain Non-Disclosure Agreement, dated April 15, 2014, as amended, between Parent and the Target (the " **Confidentiality Agreement**"), which will survive the termination of this Agreement in accordance with the terms set forth therein. Notwithstanding anything contained herein or in the Confidentiality Agreement to the contrary, the standstill provisions contained in Confidentiality Agreement will bind Parent and Merger Sub (to the extent such parties are not already bound) and will survive as set forth in the Confidentiality Agreement.

Section 7.04 Go-Shop; Solicitation; Change in Recommendation .

(a) During the period commencing on the date of this Agreement and ending at 11:59 p.m. (Boston, Massachusetts time) on December 29, 2014 (such period, the "Go-Shop Period, " and such end date, the "Go-Shop End Date"), the Target and its Representatives and Subsidiaries shall be permitted to, directly or indirectly, (x) solicit, initiate, encourage and facilitate any inquiry, discussion, offer or request that constitutes, or could lead to, a Takeover Proposal, (y) grant a waiver substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C under or terminate any "standstill" or similar obligation of any Third Party with respect to the Target or any of its subsidiaries to allow such Third Party to submit a Takeover Proposal in compliance with this Section 7.04 and (z) engage in discussions and negotiations with, and furnish non-public information relating to the Target and its Subsidiaries and afford access to the books and records of the Target and its Subsidiaries to any Third Party in connection with a Takeover Proposal or any inquiry, discussion, offer or request that could lead to a Takeover Proposal; *provided*, that prior to furnishing such information or affording such access, the Target receives from such Third Party an Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement and has previously provided or made available (or concurrently provides or makes available) such information to Parent. Notwithstanding anything in this

Section 7.04 to the contrary, the Target shall not, and shall not permit its Subsidiaries to, reimburse or agree to reimburse the expenses or costs of any Third Party (other than the Target's Representatives) in connection with a Takeover Proposal or any inquiry, discussion, offer or request that could lead to a Takeover Proposal.

(b) From and after the Go-Shop End Date, (i) the Target shall, and shall cause each of its Representatives and Subsidiaries to, immediately cease and cause to be terminated any existing solicitation of, or discussions or negotiations with, any Third Party (other than Excluded Parties for so long as such persons or groups are Excluded Parties) relating to any Takeover Proposal or any inquiry, discussion, offer or request that could lead to a Takeover Proposal; and (ii) the Target shall request that each Third Party (other than any Excluded Party for so long as such Person or group is an Excluded Party) that has previously executed a confidentiality or similar agreement in connection with its consideration of a Takeover Proposal promptly return to the Target or destroy any non-public information previously furnished or made available to such Third Party or any of its Representatives by or on behalf of the Target or its Representatives in accordance with the terms of the confidentiality agreement in place with such Third Party.

(c) As promptly as reasonably practicable, and in any event within two (2) Business Days following the Go-Shop End Date: (i) the Target shall deliver to Parent a written notice setting forth: (A) the identity of each Excluded Party, if any, and each other Third Party that, to the Knowledge of Target, has (or is expected to have) a material equity interest in the Takeover Proposal proposed by such Excluded Party; and (B) the material terms and conditions of the pending Takeover Proposal made by each such Excluded Party (it being understood that price per share shall be considered a material term of any such pending Takeover Proposal); and (ii) the Target shall deliver to Parent unredacted copies of all proposed transaction documents received by the Target or any of its Representatives from any such Excluded Party or its Representatives, including any financing commitments (including redacted fee letters) relating thereto.

(d) The Target shall, whether during the Go-Shop Period or after the Go-Shop End Date, as promptly as reasonably practicable, and in any event within forty-eight (48) hours of receipt by the Target or any of its Representatives of any inquiry, proposal or offer that constitutes or would reasonably be expected to lead to any Takeover Proposal, or any initial request for non-public information concerning the Target from any Person or group who has made or would reasonably be expected to make any Takeover Proposal, or any initial request for discussions or negotiations related to any Takeover Proposal, (i) deliver to Parent oral and written notice setting forth: (A) the identity of the Third Party making such Takeover Proposal, inquiry or request; and (B) the material terms and conditions of any such Takeover Proposal (it being understood that price per share shall be considered a material term of any such Takeover Proposal); and (ii) deliver to Parent unredacted copies of all written requests, proposals or offers, including proposed agreements and other transaction documents (including if applicable, confidentiality agreements, financing commitments and fee letters), and oral summaries of any oral requests, proposals or offers received by the Target or any of its Representatives from any such Third Party or its Representatives relating to any such Takeover Proposal, inquiry or request. The Target shall keep Parent reasonably informed of any material amendment or modification of any such Takeover Proposal, inquiry or request on a prompt basis, and in any event within two (2) Business Days thereof.

(e) Except as expressly permitted by this Section 7.04, the Target shall not, shall cause its Subsidiaries not to, and shall cause each of its Representatives and its Subsidiaries' Representatives not to, from the Go-Shop End Date until the earlier of the Effective Time or the date, if any, on which this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Article IX, directly or indirectly, (i) solicit, initiate, encourage or facilitate (including by way of furnishing non-public information) any inquiry by, discussion with, or offer or request from any Third Party that constitutes, or could reasonably be expected to lead to, a Takeover Proposal, (ii) engage in any discussions or negotiations with, or furnish any non-public information relating to the Target or any of its Subsidiaries to, or afford access to the books or records of the Target or its Subsidiaries to, any Third Party (other than a Third Party that is then an Excluded Party) that, to the Knowledge of Target, is seeking to make, or has made, a Takeover Proposal, (iii) approve, endorse, recommend or enter into any letter of intent, memorandum of understanding, agreement in principle, acquisition agreement, merger agreement or similar definitive agreement (other than an Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement) with respect to any Takeover Proposal (a "Target Acquisition Agreement") or (iv) otherwise facilitate (including by way of furnishing non-public information) an effort or attempt to make a Takeover Proposal. For a period of five (5) days following the Go-Shop End Date, with respect to any Excluded Party (for so long as such Third Party remains an Excluded Party), the Target or the Target Board, directly or indirectly through its Representatives, may furnish nonpublic information to such Excluded Party (provided, however, that prior to so furnishing such information, the Target has entered into an Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement with such Excluded Party and previously provided such information to Parent) and engage in discussions or negotiations with such Excluded Party with respect to such Takeover Proposal. Prior to taking any of the actions referred to in this Section 7.04(e), the Target shall notify Parent and Merger Sub orally and in writing that it proposes to furnish nonpublic information and/or enter into discussions or negotiations as provided in this Section 7.04(e).

(f) At any time after the Go-Shop End Date and prior to the Offer Closing, with respect to any Third Party, other than an Excluded Party, that has submitted after the Go-Shop End Date any unsolicited bona fide written Takeover Proposal that did not result from a breach of this **Section 7.04**, the Target or the Target Board, directly or indirectly through its Representatives, may furnish nonpublic information to such Third Party (*provided*, *however*, that prior to so furnishing such information, the Target has entered into an Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement with such Third Party and previously provided such information to Parent) and engage in discussions or negotiations with such Third Party with respect to such Takeover Proposal if, and only if: (x) the Target Board, or any duly authorized committee thereof, determines in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel and financial advisors, that such Takeover Proposal constitutes, or could reasonably lead to, a Superior Proposal, and (y) the Target Board, or any duly authorized committee thereof, determines in good faith, after counsel, that failure to take such action could reasonably constitute a breach of its fiduciary duties under applicable Law. Prior to taking any of the actions referred to in this **Section 7.04(f)**, the Target shall notify Parent and Merger Sub orally and in writing that it proposes to furnish non-public information and/or enter into discussions or negotiations as provided in this **Section 7.04(f)**.

(g) Except as expressly permitted by this Section 7.04(g), neither the Target Board nor any committee thereof shall (i) withhold, withdraw, qualify or modify, or publicly propose to withhold, withdraw, qualify or modify, in a manner adverse to Parent or Merger Sub, the Target

Board Recommendation or fail to include the Target Board Recommendation in the Schedule 14D-9; or (ii) approve, endorse or recommend, or publicly propose to approve, endorse or recommend, any Takeover Proposal (other than a Takeover Proposal made by Parent or Merger Sub) (any of the actions described in clauses (i) and (ii) of this Section 7.04(g), a "Target Adverse Recommendation Change "); or (iii) cause or permit the Target or any of its Subsidiaries to enter into any Target Acquisition Agreement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, at any time prior to the Offer Closing, the Target Board shall be permitted (x) to effect a Target Adverse Recommendation Change and simultaneously terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.04(a) to enter into a definitive agreement with respect to a Takeover Proposal that did not result from a breach of this Section 7.04, subject to compliance with Section 7.04(h) and Section 9.06, if the Target Board (A) in good faith determines that such Takeover Proposal constitutes a Superior Proposal and continues to constitute a Superior Proposal after having complied with, and giving effect to all of the adjustments which may be offered by Parent and Merger Sub pursuant to Section 7.04(h), and (B) determines in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel, that failure to take such action could reasonably constitute a breach of its fiduciary duties under applicable Law, or (y) to effect a Target Adverse Recommendation Change within the meaning of clause (i) of this Section 7.04(g) in response to a material development or change in circumstances occurring or arising after the date hereof that affects the business, assets or operations of the Target and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, and that was neither known to the Target Board nor reasonably foreseeable as of or prior to the date hereof (and not relating to any Takeover Proposal) (such material development or change in circumstances, an "Intervening Event "), if the Target Board has concluded in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel, that, in light of such Intervening Event, its fiduciary obligations require it to take such action.

(h) The Target shall not be entitled to effect a Target Adverse Recommendation Change and simultaneously terminate this Agreement as permitted under Section 7.04(g) and Section 9.04(a) with respect to a Superior Proposal unless (i) the Target has provided prior written notice at least four (4) full Business Days in advance (and does not take action until after 12:01 a.m. on the day following such fourth (4th) full Business Day) (the "Notice Period") to Parent and Merger Sub that the Target intends to take such action and describing the material terms and conditions of the Superior Proposal that is the basis of such action (including the identity of the Third Party and unredacted copies of all proposed transaction documents, including any financing commitments, including redacted fee letters relating thereto) (the "Notice of Superior Proposal"), (ii) during the Notice Period, the Target shall, and shall cause its Representatives to, negotiate with Parent and Merger Sub in good faith (to the extent Parent and Merger Sub desire to negotiate) to make such adjustments in the terms and conditions of this Agreement so that such Superior Proposal ceases to constitute a Superior Proposal, (iii) following the end of the Notice Period, the Target Board shall have determined in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel and financial advisors and taking into account any changes to this Agreement proposal in writing by Parent and Merger Sub in response to the Notice of Superior Proposal shall have been provided by the Target to Proposal giving rise to the Notice of Superior Proposal, a new Notice of Superior Proposal shall have been provided by the Target to Parent (*provided*, that the Notice Period for such new Notice of Superior Proposal shall have been provided by the Target to Parent (*provided*, that the Notice Period for such new Notice of Superior Proposal shall be three (3) full Business Days rather than four (4) full Business Days) and the Target shall be required to comply again with the requir

provided, that the Target has complied in all material respects with its obligations under this Section 7.04. In addition, the Target Board shall not be entitled to effect a Target Adverse Recommendation Change in connection with an Intervening Event unless the Target has (x) provided to the Parent at least four (4) Business Days' prior written notice (and does not take action until after 12:01 a.m. on the day following such fourth (4th) full Business Day) advising Parent that the Target Board intends to take such action and specifying the reasons therefor in reasonable detail and (y) during such four (4) Business Day period, if requested by Parent, engaged in good faith negotiations with Parent to amend this Agreement in such a manner that obviates the need for effecting such Target Adverse Recommendation Change as a result of the Intervening Event.

(i) Nothing contained in this Agreement shall prohibit the Target or the Target Board, directly or indirectly through its Representatives, from (A) taking and disclosing to the Target's stockholders a position with respect to a tender or exchange offer by a Third Party pursuant to Rule 14d-9 or Rule 14e-2 promulgated under the Exchange Act (or any similar communication to the Target's stockholders), or (B) making any "stop, look and listen" communication to the Target's stockholders) if the Target Board has determined in good faith, after consultation with outside legal counsel, that the failure to do so could reasonably constitute a breach of its fiduciary duties; *provided*, *however*, that any disclosures permitted under this Section 7.04(i)(B) shall not be a basis, in themselves, for Parent to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.03(b); and *provided*, *further*, that any such disclosure under Section 7.04(i) (A) (i.e., any such disclosure other than a "stop, look and listen" communication of the type contemplated by Section 14d-9(f) under the Exchange Act; shall be deemed to be an Target Adverse Recommendation Change unless the Target Board expressly publicly reaffirms the Target Board Recommendation (i) in such communication or (ii) within two (2) Business Days after requested to do so by Parent.

(j) After the Go-Shop End Date, the Target shall not grant any waiver or release under any "standstill" or similar obligation with respect to the Target or any of its Subsidiaries; *provided*, *however*, at any time prior to the Offer Closing, the Target Board may grant a waiver or release under any standstill agreement with respect to the Target or any of its Subsidiaries if the Target Board, or any duly authorized committee thereof, determines in good faith (after consultation with its outside legal counsel) that the failure to take such action could reasonably constitute a breach of its fiduciary duties. Except as contemplated by this Section 7.04(j), the Target shall enforce, and shall not release or permit the release of any Third Party from, or amend, waive, terminate or modify, and shall not permit the amendment, waiver, termination or modification of, any provision of, any confidentiality or similar agreement or provision to which the Target or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or under which the Target or any of its Subsidiaries has any rights. The Target shall not, and shall not permit any of its Representatives to, enter into any confidentiality agreement subsequent to the date of this Agreement which prohibits the Target from providing to Parent the information specifically required to be provided to Parent pursuant to this Section 7.04.

(k) For purposes of this Agreement:

(i) "Takeover Proposal" shall mean a proposal or offer (including any amendments, adjustments, changes, revisions and supplements thereto) from, or indication of

interest in making a proposal or offer by, any Third Party relating to, in a single transaction or series of related transactions, any (a) direct or indirect acquisition of assets of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries equal to fifteen percent (15%) or more of the consolidated assets of Target and its Subsidiaries (on a book-value basis) or to which fifteen percent (15%) or more of the consolidated net revenues or consolidated net income of Target and its Subsidiaries is attributable, (b) direct or indirect acquisition of fifteen percent (15%) or more of the issued and outstanding shares of Target Common Stock, (c) tender offer or exchange offer that if consummated would result in any Person "beneficially owning" (within the meaning of Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act) fifteen percent (15%) or more of the issued and outstanding shares of Target Common Stock, (d) merger, consolidation, other business combination or similar transaction involving the Target or any of its Subsidiaries, pursuant to which such Third Party would own fifteen percent (15%) or more of the consolidated assets (on a book-value basis), net revenues or net income of the Target and its Subsidiaries, or (e) liquidation or dissolution (or the adoption of a plan of liquidation or dissolution) of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries whose assets, individually or in the aggregate, constitute fifteen percent (15%) or more of the consolidated assets of the Target as determined on a book-value basis.

(ii) "Excluded Party" shall mean any Third Party from which the Target received during the Go-Shop Period a written Takeover Proposal that: (a) remains pending as of, and shall not have been withdrawn prior to, the Go-Shop End Date; and (b) the Target Board reasonably determines in good faith within one (1) Business Day after the Go-Shop End Date, after consultation with the Target's outside legal counsel and financial advisors, constitutes or could reasonably result in a Superior Proposal; *provided*, *however*, that a Person that is an Excluded Party shall cease to be an Excluded Party upon the withdrawal, termination or expiration of such Takeover Proposal (as it may be amended, adjusted, changed, revised, extended and supplemented in any way that does not change the Target Board's determination in the preceding clause (b)).

(iii) "Superior Proposal" means a bona fide written Takeover Proposal that (a) was not obtained or made as a direct or indirect result of a breach of (or any action inconsistent with) this Agreement, the Confidentiality Agreement or any "standstill" or similar agreement under which the Target or any of its Subsidiaries has any rights or obligations; and (b) is on terms and conditions that the Target Board determines, in its good faith judgment (after consultation with outside legal counsel and the Target's financial advisor, and upon recommendation of the Special Committee) to be (i) more favorable from a financial point of view to the holders of Target Common Stock than the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and (ii) reasonably likely to be consummated, taking into account (A) the anticipated timing, conditions (including any financing condition or the reliability of any debt or equity funding commitments) and prospects for completion of such Takeover Proposal, (B) the identity of the Third Party making such Takeover Proposal, (C) the other terms and conditions of such Takeover Proposal that affect value to the stockholders and the implications thereof on the Target's stockholders, including relevant legal and regulatory implications, and/or (D) other aspects of such Takeover Proposal deemed relevant by the Target Board; *provided* that for the purposes of the definition of Superior Proposal, the references to "15%" in the definition of Takeover Proposal shall be deemed to be references to "80%."

Section 7.05 Notices of Certain Events . The Target will notify Parent and Merger Sub, and Parent and Merger Sub will notify the Target, as applicable, promptly of (i) any material notice

or other material communication from any Governmental Entity in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and (ii) any Legal Actions commenced (or to the Knowledge of Target, threatened) against the Target or Parent or its Subsidiaries, including Merger Sub, as applicable, that are related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. In addition, the Target will notify Parent and Merger Sub promptly of any change or event which could reasonably result in the failure of any of the Offer Conditions to be satisfied. In no event will the delivery of any notice by a party pursuant to this Section 7.05 limit or otherwise affect the respective rights, obligations, representations, warranties, covenants or agreements of the parties or the conditions to the obligations of the parties under this Agreement.

Section 7.06 Employees; Benefit Plans .

(a) Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation to (i) provide to each Target Employee who remains employed by the Surviving Corporation (I) for the twelve (12) month period immediately following the Effective Time, substantially similar salary or wages to that set forth on Section 5.13(a) of the Disclosure Schedules and (II) for the later of the remainder of the current benefit year or until such Target Employees are able to join Parent's employee benefit plans, substantially similar employee benefits as those provided by the applicable Target Employee Plans and in effect for each such Target Employee as of immediately prior to the Effective Time, unless as otherwise required by ERISA or other Laws and (ii) maintain (I) the employee bonus plan of the Target listed on Schedule 7.06(a) of the Disclosure Schedules and in effect immediately prior to the Closing (the "Target Bonus Plan ") with the same bonus opportunity and performance targets for the period ending on December 31, 2014 and (II) the employee commission plans of the Target listed on Schedule 7.06(a) of the Disclosure Schedules and in effect immediately prior to the Closing (the "Target Commission Plan ") with the same commission opportunity and sales targets for the period ending on December 31, 2014, for each Eligible Target Employee; *provided* that, (A) all determinations as to the achievement of the bonus targets and commissions will be made by the Surviving Corporation in accordance with the terms of the Target Bonus Plan and Target Employees on the Bonus Plan, as applicable, (B) the Surviving Corporation shall make such bonus and commission payments to the Eligible Target Employees to the aggregate amount of bonuses paid by the Surviving Corporation shall not exceed the amounts accrued for by the Target with respect to the Target Bonus Plan.

(b) To the extent that any Target Employee will participate in any employee benefit plan, arrangement or policy maintained by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries following the Effective Time: (i) such Target Employee will receive credit for all purposes (other than accrual of benefits under any defined benefit pension plan, vesting of contributions under any defined contribution plan and eligibility for any anniversary stock grants) for service with the Target, (ii) with respect to medical, dental, vision or other health benefits or disability or life insurance benefits, Parent and its Subsidiaries will use their commercially reasonable efforts to cause any and all pre-existing condition limitations, waiting periods and evidence of insurability requirements to be waived with respect to such Target Employees and eligible dependents, (iii) Parent and its Subsidiaries will use their commercially reasonable efforts to provide credit for any co-payments, deductible payments, premium amounts and similar payments or expenses incurred by the Target Employees in the plan year that includes the Effective Time.

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, nothing contained in this Agreement, whether express or implied, will (i) constitute or create an employment agreement with any employee of the Target, Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) be construed to establish, amend or modify any benefit plan, program, agreement or arrangement, (iii) other than as required by applicable Law, obligate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries to (A) maintain any particular benefit plan or (B) retain the employment of any particular employee, or (iv) give any third-party the right to enforce any of the provisions of this Agreement, except as expressly provided in Section 7.07.

(d) Notwithstanding any contrary provisions in this Agreement, nothing in this Section 7.06 will (i) be deemed or construed to be an amendment or other modification to any Target Employee Plans or any Parent employee benefit plans, or (ii) create any third party rights in any current or former employee, consultant, director or other service provider of Parent, Target, or any of their respective Affiliates (or any beneficiaries or dependents of such persons).

(e) Immediately prior to the Closing, the Target will terminate any Target Employee Plan that contains a cash or deferral arrangement under Section 401(k) of the Code if so requested by the Parent, and will adopt resolutions of the Target's board of directors in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Parent effecting such termination.

Section 7.07 Directors' and Officers' Indemnification and Insurance.

(a) Parent and Merger Sub will cause all rights to indemnification, advancement of expenses and exculpation by the Target now existing in favor of each Person who is now, or has been at any time prior to the date hereof or who becomes prior to the Effective Time an officer or director of the Target or its Subsidiary (each an "Indemnified Party") as provided in the Charter Documents, in each case as in effect on the date of this Agreement, or pursuant to any other Contracts in effect on the date hereof, to be assumed by the Surviving Corporation in the Merger, without further action, at the Effective Time, and such rights will survive the Merger and will remain in full force and effect in accordance with their terms, and, in the event that any proceeding is pending or asserted or any claim is made during such period, until the final disposition of such proceeding or claim.

(b) For six (6) years after the Effective Time, to the fullest extent permitted under applicable Law, Parent and the Surviving Corporation will indemnify, defend and hold harmless each Indemnified Party against all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, fees, expenses, judgments and fines arising in whole or in part out of actions or omissions in their capacity as such occurring at or prior to the Effective Time (including in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement), and will reimburse each Indemnified Party for any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such Indemnified Party in connection with investigating or defending any such losses, claims, damages, liabilities, fees, expenses, judgments and fines as such expenses are incurred, subject to the Surviving Corporation's receipt of an undertaking by such Indemnified Party to repay such legal and other fees and expenses paid in advance if it is ultimately determined in a final and non-appealable judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction that such Indemnified Party is not entitled to be indemnified under applicable Law; *provided, however*, that the Surviving Corporation will not be liable for any settlement effected without the Surviving Corporation's prior written consent (which consent will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).

(c) The Surviving Corporation will, and Parent will cause the Surviving Corporation to, (i) maintain in effect for a period of six (6) years after the Effective Time, if available, the current policies of directors' and officers' liability insurance maintained by the Target immediately prior to the Effective Time (*provided* that the Surviving Corporation may substitute therefor policies, of at least the same coverage and amounts and containing terms and conditions that are not less advantageous to the directors and officers of the Target when compared to the insurance maintained by the Target as of the date hereof), or (ii) obtain as of the Effective Time "tail" insurance policies with a claims period of six (6) years from the Effective Time with at least the same coverage and amounts and containing terms and conditions that are not less advantageous to the directors and officers of or relating to events which occurred before or at the Effective Time (including in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement); *provided*, *however*, that in no event will the Surviving Corporation be required to expend, for any such annual policy in excess of \$300,000 annually (the "Maximum Premium"). If such insurance coverage cannot be obtained at an annual premium equal to or less than the Maximum Premium, the Surviving Corporation to obtain, that amount of directors' and officers' insurance (or "tail" coverage) obtainable for an annual premium equal to the Maximum Premium.

(d) The obligations of Parent and the Surviving Corporation under this Section 7.07 will survive the consummation of the Merger and will not be terminated or modified in such a manner as to adversely affect any Indemnified Party to whom this Section 7.07 applies without the consent of such affected Indemnified Party (it being expressly agreed that the Indemnified Parties to whom this Section 7.07 applies will be third party beneficiaries of this Section 7.07, each of whom may enforce the provisions of this Section 7.07).

(e) In the event Parent, the Surviving Corporation or any of their respective successors or assigns (i) consolidates with or merges into any other Person and will not be the continuing or surviving corporation or entity in such consolidation or merger or (ii) transfers all or substantially all of its properties and assets to any Person, then, and in either such case, proper provision will be made so that the successors and assigns of Parent or the Surviving Corporation, as the case may be, will assume all of the obligations set forth in this Section 7.07. The agreements and covenants contained herein will not be deemed to be exclusive of any other rights to which any Indemnified Party is entitled, whether pursuant to Law, Contract or otherwise. Nothing in this Agreement is intended to, will be construed to or will release, waive or impair any rights to directors' and officers' insurance claims under any policy that is or has been in existence with respect to the Target or its officers, directors and employees. The indemnification provided for in this Section 7.07 is not prior to, or in substitution for, any such claims under any such policies.

Section 7.08 Commercially Reasonable Efforts .

(a) Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement (including those contained in this Section 7.08), each of the parties hereto will, and Parent will cause its Subsidiaries, including Merger Sub, to, use commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and to do, or cause to be done, and to assist and cooperate with the other parties in doing, all things necessary, proper or advisable to consummate and make effective, and to satisfy all conditions to, in the most expeditious manner practicable, the Offer, the Merger and the transactions contemplated hereby, including (i) the obtaining of all Permits, waivers, consents,

approvals and actions or non-actions from Governmental Entities and the making of all necessary registrations and filings (including filings with Governmental Entities) necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, (ii) the execution and delivery of any additional instruments necessary to consummate the Offer, the Merger and to fully carry out the purposes of this Agreement, (iii) obtain all necessary or appropriate consents, waivers and approvals and provide all necessary notice under any Target Material Contracts reasonably requested to be obtained by Parent, including, without limitation, those consents, waivers, approvals and notices identified in Sections 5.3(b) and 5.3(c) of the Disclosure Schedules. The Target and Parent will, and Parent will cause its Subsidiaries, including Merger Sub, to, subject to applicable Law, promptly (y) cooperate and coordinate with the other in the taking of the actions contemplated by clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) immediately above and (z) supply the other with any information that may be reasonably required in order to effectuate the taking of such actions. If the Target or Parent receives a request for additional information or documentary material from any Governmental Entity with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, then it will use commercially reasonable efforts to make, or cause to be made, as soon as reasonably practicable and after consultation with the other party, an appropriate response in compliance with such request, and, if permitted by applicable Law and by any applicable Governmental Entity and subject to all privileges (including the attorney client privilege), provide the other party's counsel with advance notice and the opportunity to attend and participate in any meeting with any Governmental Entity in respect of any filing made thereto in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(b) In the event that any administrative or judicial action or proceeding is instituted (or, to the Knowledge of Target, threatened to be instituted) by a Governmental Entity or Third Party challenging the Offer, the Merger or any other transaction contemplated by this Agreement, or any other agreement contemplated hereby and/or against Target's directors or officers, (collectively, "**Transaction Litigation**") the Target shall promptly notify Parent of such Transaction Litigation (or, to the Knowledge of Target, threatened Transaction Litigation) and shall keep Parent reasonably informed with respect to the status thereof (subject to all applicable Law and all privileges, including the attorney client privilege). The Target will use commercially reasonable efforts to contest and resist any such action or proceeding and to have vacated, lifted, reversed or overturned any Order, whether temporary, preliminary or permanent, that is in effect and that prohibits, prevents or restricts consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The Target shall give Parent the opportunity to participate in the defense of any such litigation at Parent's cost, and the Target shall give due consideration to Parent's advice with respect to such litigation without the prior written consent of Parent (which consent shall not settle or enter into any negotiations or settlement of any such litigation, or to take any action to have vacated, lifted, reversed or overturned any Order, in connection with any such Transaction Litigation; *provided* , that Parent and Merger Sub will cooperate as reasonably requested by Target in connection with any such Transaction Litigation.

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, neither the Target nor Parent, Merger Sub or any of their Subsidiaries will be required to, and the Target may not, without the prior written consent of Parent, become subject to, consent to, or offer or agree to, or otherwise take any action with respect to, any requirement, condition, limitation, understanding,

agreement or Order to (i) sell, license, assign, transfer, divest, hold separate or otherwise dispose of any assets, business or portion of business of the Target (other than in the ordinary course of business), the Surviving Corporation, Parent, Merger Sub or any of their respective Subsidiaries, (ii) conduct, restrict, operate, invest or otherwise change the assets, business or portion of business of the Target (other than in the ordinary course of business), the Surviving Corporation, Parent, Merger Sub or any of their respective Subsidiaries in any manner, or (iii) impose any restriction, requirement or limitation on the operation of the business or portion of the business of the Target (other than in the ordinary course of business), the Surviving Corporation, Parent, Merger Sub or any of their respective Subsidiaries; *provided* that, if requested by Parent, the Target will become subject to, consent to, or offer or agree to, or otherwise take any action with respect to, any such requirement, condition, limitation, understanding, agreement or Order so long as such requirement, condition, limitation, understanding, agreement or Order is only binding on the Target in the event the Closing occurs.

Section 7.09 Public Announcements. The initial press release following the Closing with respect to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby will be a release mutually agreed to by the Target and Parent. Before the Closing, none of the Target, Parent and Merger Sub will issue any public release or announcement concerning the Offer, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby without the prior written consent of the Target and Parent (which consent will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), except as such release or announcement may be permitted by Section 7.04 or required by applicable Law or the rules or regulations of any applicable United States securities exchange or Governmental Entity to which the relevant party is subject, wherever situated, in which case the party required to make the release or announcement will consult with the other party(ies) about, and allow the other party(ies) reasonable time to comment on such release or announcement in advance of such issuance to the extent possible.

Section 7.10 Takeover Statutes . If any "control share acquisition," "fair price," "moratorium" or other anti-takeover Law becomes or is deemed to be applicable to the Target, Parent, Merger Sub, any of the Support Agreements, the Offer, the acquisition of shares of Target Common Stock pursuant to the Offer, the Merger or any other transaction contemplated by this Agreement or the Support Agreements, then each of the Target, Parent, Merger Sub, and their respective boards of directors will grant such approvals and take such actions as are necessary so that the transactions contemplated hereby (including the transactions contemplated by each of the Support Agreements) may be consummated as promptly as practicable on the terms contemplated hereby and otherwise act to render such anti-takeover Law inapplicable to the foregoing.

Section 7.11 Section 16 Matters. Prior to the Effective Time, the Target will cause to be exempt under Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act any dispositions of shares of Target Common Stock (including derivative securities with respect to such shares) that are treated as dispositions under such rule and result from the Offer, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby by each director or officer of the Target who is subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act with respect to the Target.

Section 7.12 Rule 14d-10(d) Matters . Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Target shall not, from and after the date hereof and until the Effective Time, enter into, establish, amend or modify any plan, program, agreement or arrangement pursuant to which

compensation is paid or payable, or pursuant to which benefits are provided, in each case to any current or former director, manager, officer, employee or independent contractor of the Target, unless prior to such entry into, establishment, amendment or modification, the compensation committee of the Target Board (each member of which the Target Board determined is an "independent director" within the meaning of the applicable NASDAQ rules and shall be an "independent director" in accordance with the requirements of Rule 14d-10(d)(2) under the Exchange Act at the time of any such action) shall have taken all such steps as may reasonably be necessary to (a) approve as an Employment Compensation Arrangement each such plan, program, agreement or arrangement and (b) satisfy the requirements of the non-exclusive safe harbor under Rule 14d-10(d)(2) under the Exchange Act with respect to such plan, program, agreement or arrangement; provided that nothing in this Section 7.12 shall be construed to permit the Target to take any action that is prohibited by the terms of this Agreement.

Section 7.13 Further Assurances . At and after the Effective Time, the officers and directors of the Surviving Corporation will be authorized to execute and deliver, in the name and on behalf of the Target or Merger Sub, any deeds, bills of sale, assignments or assurances and to take and do, in the name and on behalf of the Target or Merger Sub, any other actions and things to vest, perfect or confirm of record or otherwise in the Surviving Corporation any and all right, title and interest in, to and under any of the rights, properties or assets of the Target acquired or to be acquired by the Surviving Corporation as a result of, or in connection with, the Merger.

Section 7.14 Consents . The Target, Parent and Merger Sub will use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain any consents required to effect the transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 7.15 Payoff Letters and Release of Encumbrances. By no later than the second (2nd) Business Day prior to the Effective Time, the Target shall use its commercially reasonable effort to obtain from (i) Commerce Bank a customary "payoff letter" or similar document in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Parent specifying the aggregate amount of the Target's obligations in respect of Indebtedness (including principal, interest, fees, expenses, prepayment penalties or payments and other amounts payable under the Commerce Bank Loan) that will be outstanding as of the Closing Date under the Commerce Bank Loan and providing, upon receipt of such amounts from Parent, (x) that all indebtedness under or pursuant to the Commerce Bank Loan shall have been repaid and discharged and (y) for the release of all claims and Encumbrances held by or on behalf of such lender in respect of the properties and assets of the Target and its Subsidiaries; (ii) MCR a customary "payoff letter" or similar document in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Parent specifying the aggregate amount of the Target's obligations in respect of Indebtedness (including principal, interest, fees, expenses, prepayment penalties or payments and other amounts payable under the MCR Loan) that will be outstanding as of the Closing Date under the MCR Loan and providing, upon receipt of such amounts from Parent, (x) that all indebtedness under or pursuant to the MCR Loan shall have been repaid and discharged and (y) for the release of all claims and Encumbrances held by or on behalf of such lender in respect of the properties and assets of the Target and its Subsidiaries. The Target shall also have made arrangements reasonably satisfactory to Parent and have provided to Parent recordable form lien releases and other documents reasonably requested by Parent and as provided by Parent to Target not less than five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing Date such that all Encumbrances on the assets or properties of the Target or any of its Subsidiaries that are not Permitted Encumbrances shall be upon the filing or recording thereof by Parent satisfied, terminated and discharged.

ARTICLE VIII CONDITIONS

Section 8.01 Conditions to Each Party's Obligation to Effect the Merger. The respective obligations of each party to this Agreement to effect the Merger are subject to the satisfaction or waiver on or prior to the Closing Date of each of the following conditions:

(a) No Injunctions, Restraints or Illegality. No Governmental Entity having jurisdiction over any party hereto will have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any Laws or Orders, whether temporary, preliminary or permanent, that make illegal, enjoin or otherwise prohibit consummation of the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(b) Purchase of Target Common Stock in the Offer. Merger Sub will have previously accepted for payment all shares of Target Common Stock validly tendered and not validly withdrawn pursuant to the Offer.

ARTICLE IX TERMINATION, AMENDMENT AND WAIVER

Section 9.01 Termination by Mutual Consent. This Agreement may be terminated, and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement may be abandoned, at any time prior to the Offer Closing by mutual written consent of Parent, Merger Sub and the Target.

Section 9.02 Termination by Either Parent, Merger Sub or the Target. This Agreement may be terminated, and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement may be abandoned, at any time prior to the Offer Closing by either Parent, Merger Sub or the Target, as follows:

(a) if the Offer Closing has not occurred on or before the Outside Date; *provided*, that if any Governmental Entity of competent jurisdiction has enacted, issued, enforced or entered any Order temporarily enjoining or otherwise temporarily prohibiting the consummation of the Offer or the Merger or the other transactions contemplated hereby, then the Outside Date shall be extended by thirty (30) calendar days; and *provided, further,* that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 9.02(a) will not be available to any party whose breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement set forth in this Agreement has been the primary cause of, or resulted in, the failure of the Offer Closing to have occurred on or before the Outside Date; or

(b) if any Governmental Entity of competent jurisdiction has enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any Law or any final and non-appealable Order making illegal, permanently enjoining or otherwise permanently prohibiting the consummation of the Offer or the Merger or the other transactions contemplated hereby, and such Law or Order has become final and non-appealable; *provided*, that the party seeking to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 9.02(b) shall have complied with its obligations under Section 7.08 to contest, appeal and

⁶⁹

remove such Order, injunction, decree or action; *provided, further*, that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 9.02(b) will not be available to any party whose breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement set forth in this Agreement has been the primary cause of, or resulted in, the issuance, promulgation, enforcement or entry of such Law or Order.

Section 9.03 Termination by Parent or Merger Sub. This Agreement may be terminated, and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement may be abandoned, at any time prior to the Offer Closing by Parent or Merger Sub:

(a) if, prior to the Offer Closing (i) a Target Adverse Recommendation Change has occurred, (ii) the Target has entered into a Target Acquisition Agreement (other than an Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement), (iii) the Target Board fails to reaffirm (publicly, if so requested by Parent, which request may only be made once in any three (3) Business Day period after the first public announcement of a Takeover Proposal and one additional time in any three (3) Business Day period after each material modification thereto) the Target Board Recommendation, without any conditions attached thereto, within two (2) full Business Days after any request by Parent, (iv) a tender offer or exchange offer relating to Target Common Stock shall have been commenced by a Person unaffiliated with Parent and the Target shall not have sent to its stockholders pursuant to Rule 14e-2 under the Securities Act, within ten (10) business days (as defined by Rule 14d-1(g)(3)) after such tender offer or exchange offer is first published, a statement reaffirming the Target Board Recommendation and recommending that the Target's stockholders reject such tender or exchange offer, (v) the Target shall have failed to include the Target Board Recommendation in the Schedule 14D-9 or permit Parent to include the Target Board Recommendation in the Offer Documents, or (vi) the Target or the Target Board (or any committee thereof) publicly announces its intention to do any of the actions specified in Section 9.03(a)(i) or Section 9.03(a)(ii);

(b) if, prior to the Offer Closing, the Target breaches or fails to perform any of its representations, warranties, covenants (other than Section 7.04) or other agreements set forth in this Agreement, and if such breach or failure to perform (i) would directly give rise to the failure of a condition set forth in Annex I and (ii) in each case, is incapable of being cured by the Outside Date, or if curable, has not been cured before the earlier of the Outside Date and twenty (20) full Business Days after the Target's receipt of written notice of such breach or failure to perform from Parent; *provided* that Parent will have given the Target at least two (2) full Business Days' written notice prior to such termination stating Parent's intention to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 9.03(b);

(c) if, prior to the Offer Closing, the Target shall have breached its obligations under Section 7.04;

(d) if following the execution and delivery of this Agreement, there shall have occurred a Target Material Adverse Effect (whether or not events or circumstances occurring prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement caused or contributed to the occurrence of such Target Material Adverse Effect); or

(e) if the Minimum Condition is not satisfied as of the Expiration Time and the Parent and Merger Sub are not obligated to extend the Expiration Time pursuant to Section 2.01(e).

Section 9.04 Termination by the Target . This Agreement may be terminated by the Target at any time prior to the Effective Time:

(a) if, prior to the Offer Closing, the Target Board authorizes the Target, in full compliance with the terms of this Agreement, including Section 7.04, to enter into a Target Acquisition Agreement (other than an Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement) in respect of a Superior Proposal; *provided* that in the event of such termination, the Target concurrently enters into such Target Acquisition Agreement;

(b) if, prior to the Offer Closing, Parent or Merger Sub materially breaches or fails to perform in any material respect any of its representations, warranties, covenants or other agreements set forth in this Agreement, and in each case such breach or failure to perform (i) is incapable of being cured by the Outside Date, or if curable, has not been cured within twenty (20) full Business Days after its receipt of written notice thereof from the Target and (ii) in any way would reasonably be expected to prevent, materially impede or materially delay the consummation of the Offer, the Merger or the other transactions contemplated hereby;

(c) if all the Offer Conditions have been satisfied or waived by Parent as of the Expiration Time and Parent and Merger Sub shall have failed to consummate the Offer within two (2) Business Days thereafter in accordance with this Agreement; and

(d) if all the conditions set forth in Article VIII have been satisfied (other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied by actions taken at the Closing), and Parent and Merger Sub fail to consummate the Merger within three (3) Business Days following the date the Closing should have occurred.

Section 9.05 Notice of Termination; Effect of Termination . The party desiring to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Article IX (other than pursuant to Section 9.01) will deliver written notice of such termination (in accordance with Section 10.07) to each other party hereto specifying with particularity the reason for such termination. If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to this Article IX, it will become void and of no further force and effect, and, subject to the provisions below, with no Liability on the part of any party to this Agreement (or any stockholder, director, officer, employee, agent or other Representative of such party) to any other party hereto, except (i) with respect to Section 7.03(b), Section 7.09, this Section 9.05, Section 9.06 and the provisions in Article X which by their nature should survive termination of this Agreement (and any related definitions contained in any such Sections or Article), which will remain in full force and effect, (ii) other than as set forth in Section 9.06(d), nothing in this Agreement shall limit the Liability for Damages of any party to this Agreement for fraud or any Wilfful Breach of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements set forth in this Agreement prior to such termination (*provided*, that, the aggregate amount of Damages determined by a court to be payable pursuant to this subsection (ii) shall be reduced by the amount of any Termination Fee or Reverse Termination Fee, as applicable, paid to the other party in accordance with Section 9.06). For purposes of this Agreement, "Willful

Breach "means an intentional and willful material breach, or an intentional and willful material failure to perform, in each case that is the consequence of an act or omission by a party with the actual knowledge that the taking of such act or failure to take such act would cause a breach of this Agreement.

Section 9.06 Fees and Expenses Following Termination .

(a) If this Agreement is terminated by Parent or Merger Sub pursuant to Section 9.03(a) or Section 9.03(c), then the Target will pay to Parent (by wire transfer of immediately available funds), within three (3) Business Days after such termination, a fee in an amount equal to the Termination Fee. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the parties hereby acknowledge that in the event that the Termination Fee becomes payable and is paid by the Target pursuant to this Section 9.06(a) as a result of a termination pursuant to Section 9.03 (a), the Termination Fee will be Parent's and Merger Sub's sole and exclusive remedy for damages under this Agreement and the receipt thereof shall be deemed to be liquidated damages for any and all losses or damages suffered or incurred by Parent or any of its Affiliates in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby (and the termination thereof or any matter forming the basis for such termination), and neither Parent nor any of its Affiliates shall be entitled to bring or maintain any other Legal Action against the Target or any of its Affiliates arising out of this Agreement, any of the transactions contemplated hereby or any matters forming the basis for such termination (other than any Legal Action for the collection of any unpaid Termination Fee). For the avoidance of doubt, in the event of a termination pursuant to Section 9.03(c), Parent and Merger Sub shall have the right to seek Damages in accordance with Section 9.05.

(b) If this Agreement is terminated by the Target pursuant to Section 9.04(a), then the Target will pay to Parent (by wire transfer of immediately available funds), within three (3) Business Days after such termination, a fee in an amount equal to the Termination Fee. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the parties hereby acknowledge that in the event that the Agreement is validly terminated by the Target pursuant to Section 9.04(a) and the Termination Fee becomes payable and is paid by the Target pursuant to this Section 9.06(b), the Termination Fee will be Parent's and Merger Sub's sole and exclusive remedy for damages under this Agreement and the receipt thereof shall be deemed to be liquidated damages for any and all losses or damages suffered or incurred by Parent or any of its Affiliates in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby (and the termination thereof or any matter forming the basis for such termination), and neither Parent nor any of its Affiliates shall be entitled to bring or maintain any other Legal Action against the Target or any of its Affiliates arising out of this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby (other than any Legal Action (i) challenging the termination or any matters forming the basis for such termination or (ii) for the collection of any unpaid Termination Fee).

(c) If this Agreement is terminated prior to the Offer Closing, by Parent pursuant to Section 9.03(b) or Section 9.03(e), and (A) prior to such termination, a Takeover Proposal shall have been publicly disclosed or otherwise made or communicated to the Target or the Target Board, and (B) within nine (9) months following the date of such termination of this Agreement the Target shall have entered into a definitive agreement with respect to a Takeover Proposal and such Takeover Proposal is subsequently consummated (regardless of whether such consummation occurs within the nine (9) month period), then in any such event the Target shall pay to Parent (by

wire transfer of immediately available funds), immediately prior to and as a condition to consummating such transaction, the Termination Fee (it being understood for all purposes of this Section 9.06(c) all references in the definition of Takeover Proposal to 15% shall be deemed to be references to "more than 50%" instead). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the parties hereby acknowledge that in the event that the Termination Fee becomes payable and is paid by the Target pursuant to this Section 9.06(c), except as set forth in Section 9.05, the Termination Fee will be Parent's and Merger Sub's sole and exclusive remedy for damages under this Agreement and the receipt thereof shall be deemed to be liquidated damages for any and all losses or damages suffered or incurred by Parent or any of its Affiliates in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby (and the termination thereof or any matter forming the basis for such termination), and neither Parent nor any of its Affiliates shall be entitled to bring or maintain any other Legal Action against the Target or any of its Affiliates arising out of this Agreement, any of the transactions contemplated hereby or any matters forming the basis for such termination (other than any Legal Action for the collection of any unpaid Termination Fee).

(d) If this Agreement is terminated by Target either (i) prior to the Offer Closing pursuant to Section 9.04(c) or (ii) prior to the Closing pursuant to Section 9.04(d), then the Parent will pay to Target (by wire transfer of immediately available funds), within three (3) Business Days after such termination, a fee in an amount equal to the Reverse Termination Fee. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the parties hereby acknowledge that in the event that the Reverse Termination Fee becomes payable and is paid by the Parent pursuant to this Section 9.06(d), the Reverse Termination Fee will be Target's sole and exclusive remedy for damages under this Agreement and the receipt thereof shall be deemed to be liquidated damages for any and all losses or damages suffered or incurred by Target or any of its Affiliates in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby (and the termination thereof or any matter forming the basis for such termination), and neither Target nor any of its Affiliates shall be entitled to bring or maintain any other Legal Action against Parent, Merger Sub or any of their Affiliates arising out of this Agreement, any of the transactions contemplated hereby or any matters forming the basis for such termination (other than any Legal Action for the collection of any unpaid Reverse Termination Fee).

(e) The parties acknowledge that the agreements contained in this Section 9.06 are an integral part of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and that, without these agreements, the parties would not have entered into this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, the Termination Fee shall be payable only once and not in duplication even though the Termination Fee may be payable under one or more provisions hereof. If either (i) the Target fails promptly to pay the Termination Fee or (ii) the Parent fails promptly to pay the Reverse Termination Fee, when due and payable pursuant to this Section 9.06, and, in order to obtain such payment, the other party commences an action or other proceeding that results in an award against the Target or Parent, as applicable, for such Termination Fee or Reverse Termination Fee, as applicable, the Target or Parent, as applicable, shall pay the other party's costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses) in connection with such action or proceeding, together with interest on the amount of the fee from the date such payment was required to be made.

(f) Except as expressly set forth herein, all Expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby will be paid by the party incurring such Expenses.

Section 9.07 Amendment. Subject to applicable Law and except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, this Agreement may be amended or supplemented in any and all respects, whether before or after the Offer Closing, by written agreement signed by each of the parties hereto; *provided, however*, that following the Offer Closing, no amendment will be made which decreases the Merger Consideration.

Section 9.08 Extension; Waiver . At any time prior to the Effective Time, Parent, Merger Sub or the Target may, subject to Section 2.01 (e), (a) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations of the other party(ies), (b) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties of the other party(ies) contained in this Agreement or in any document delivered under this Agreement, or (c) waive compliance with any of the covenants, agreements or conditions contained in this Agreement. Any agreement on the part of a party to any extension or waiver will be valid only if set forth in an instrument in writing signed by such party. The failure of any party to assert any of its rights under this Agreement or otherwise will not constitute a waiver of such rights.

ARTICLE X MISCELLANEOUS

Section 10.01 Survival. None of the representations and warranties contained in this Agreement or in any instrument delivered under this Agreement will survive the Effective Time. This Section 10.01 does not limit any covenant of the parties to this Agreement which, by its terms, contemplates performance after the Effective Time. The Confidentiality Agreement will survive termination of this Agreement in accordance with the terms set forth therein.

Section 10.02 Sole Remedy; Specific Performance; Non-Reliance; Recourse .

(a) The rights of the parties set forth in Article IX constitute the sole and exclusive basis, means of recourse and remedy for any and all claims or Liabilities arising under, out of or related to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby; *provided, however*, that in lieu of receiving the Termination Fee or Reverse Termination Fee, as applicable, or otherwise seeking monetary damages in accordance with Article IX, either party may seek equitable relief, including the remedies of specific performance and injunction, with respect to any actual or attempted breach of this Agreement occurring before Closing or with respect to the breach of any covenant or agreement to be performed after Closing. No Person will have any other entitlement, remedy or recourse, whether in contract, tort or otherwise. Each party expressly waives and releases to the fullest extent permitted by Law any and all other remedies, entitlements and recourse it may have against the other parties now or in the future with respect to or for any and all claims or Liabilities arising under, out of, or related to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby (whether in Law or in equity or whether in contract or in tort). None of the parties hereto will have any remedies or causes of action (whether in contract or in tort) for any statements, communications, disclosures, failures to disclose, representations or warranties not set forth in this Agreement.

(b) Except for the specific representations and warranties expressly made by the Target in this Agreement (as modified by the Disclosure Schedules), (a) the Target does not make and has not made any representation or warranty, express or implied, at Law or in equity, in respect of the Target, the Target's assets or businesses, or any other related assets, liabilities, operations, prospects or conditions (financial or otherwise), including with respect to merchantability or fitness for any particular purpose of any assets, the nature or extent of any liabilities, the prospects of the Target's businesses, the effectiveness or the success of any operations, or the accuracy or completeness of any confidential information memoranda, documents, projections, material or other information (financial or otherwise) regarding the Target or the Target's assets or businesses furnished to Parent or Merger Sub in any "data rooms," "virtual data rooms," management presentations or in any other form in expectation of, or in connection with, the transactions contemplated hereby, or in respect of any other matter or thing whatsoever, and (b) no Representative of the Target nor any other Person has any authority, express or implied, to make any representations, warranties or agreements not specifically set forth in this Agreement. Parent and Merger Sub are engaging in the transactions contemplated by this Agreement subject only to the specific representations and warranties contained in Article V , as further limited by the specifically bargained-for exclusive remedies as set forth in Article IX . In addition, the Target has disclaimed and does hereby disclaim any representation or warranty made by any Representative of the Target or any other Person that is not contained in Article V that may have been made by any Representative of the Target or any other Person that is not contained in Article V that may have been made by any Representative of the Target or any other Target has any obligation or duty to make any disclosures of f

(c) All claims or causes of action (whether in Law or in equity, in contract or in tort) that may be based upon, arise out of or relate to this Agreement, or the negotiation, execution or performance of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby (including any representation or warranty made in or in connection with this Agreement or as an inducement to enter into this Agreement), may be made only against the entities that are named parties to this Agreement. No Person who is not a named party to this Agreement, including any Representative of the Target ("Non-Party Affiliates"), will have any Liability (whether in Law or in equity, in contract or in tort, or based upon any theory that seeks to impose Liability of an entity party against its owners or Affiliates) for any claims or Liabilities arising under, in connection with or related to this Agreement or for any claim based upon, in respect of, or by reason of this Agreement or its negotiation or execution, and each party hereto waives and releases all such claims and Liabilities against any such Non-Party Affiliates. Non-Party Affiliates are expressly intended as third party beneficiaries of this Section 10.02.

Section 10.03 Disclosure Schedules.

(a) The disclosure of any matter in any Disclosure Schedules referred to herein will be deemed to be a disclosure for all purposes of this Agreement where the applicability of such disclosure is reasonably apparent on the face of such disclosure. The disclosure of any matter in any Disclosure Schedules will expressly not be deemed to constitute an admission by the Target, or otherwise to imply, that any such matter is material for the purposes of this Agreement.

(b) Prior to the Effective Time, the Target will deliver to Parent updates or supplements to the Disclosure Schedules containing any additions and changes to the Disclosure Schedules delivered on the date hereof to reflect any and all events, circumstances or changes that arise or become known to the Target after the date of this Agreement. Such delivery (i) will not be deemed a modification of the representations and warranties of Target set forth in this Agreement and (ii) will not be deemed a waiver by Parent or Merger Sub of its closing condition contained in Annex I to the extent such updates preclude the Target from delivering the certificate contemplated by such Section.

Section 10.04 Governing Law. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Delaware without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of Delaware or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of Laws of any jurisdiction other than those of the State of Delaware.

Section 10.05 Submission to Jurisdiction . Any Legal Action with respect to this Agreement and the rights and obligations arising hereunder, or for recognition and enforcement of any judgment in respect of this Agreement and the rights and obligations arising hereunder brought by any other party hereto or its successors or assigns will be brought and determined exclusively in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or the United States District Court for the District of Delaware. Mailing of process or other papers in connection with any such action or proceeding in the manner provided in Section 10.07 or in such other manner as may be permitted by applicable Law, will be valid and sufficient service thereof. Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably submits with regard to any such action or proceeding for itself and in respect of its property, generally and unconditionally, to the personal jurisdiction of the aforesaid courts and will not bring any action relating to this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in any court or tribunal other than the aforesaid courts. Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably waives, and will not assert, by way of motion, as a defense, counterclaim or otherwise, in any action or proceeding with respect to this Agreement and the rights and obligations arising hereunder, or for recognition and enforcement of any judgment in respect of this Agreement and the rights and obligations arising hereunder (a) any claim that it is not personally subject to the jurisdiction of the above named courts for any reason other than the failure to serve process in accordance with this Section 10.05, (b) any claim that it or its property is exempt or immune from jurisdiction of any such court or from any legal process commenced in any such court (whether through service of notice, attachment prior to judgment, attachment in aid of execution of judgment, execution of judgment or otherwise), and (c) to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, any claim that (i) the suit, action or proceeding in such court is brought in an inconvenient forum, (ii) the venue of such suit, action or proceeding is improper, or (iii) this Agreement, or the subject matter hereof, may not be enforced in or by such courts.

Section 10.06 Waiver of Jury Trial . ANY CONTROVERSY WHICH MAY ARISE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES AND, THEREFORE, EACH SUCH PARTY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LEGAL ACTION ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT. EACH PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (A) NO REPRESENTATIVE OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR

OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER IN THE EVENT OF A LEGAL ACTION, (B) SUCH PARTY HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF THIS WAIVER, (C) SUCH PARTY MAKES THIS WAIVER VOLUNTARILY, AND (D) SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS Section 10.06.

Section 10.07 Notices. All notices, requests, consents, claims, demands, waivers and other communications hereunder will be in writing and will be deemed to have been given (a) when delivered by hand (with written confirmation of receipt), (b) on the date sent by facsimile or cmail of a PDF document (with confirmation of transmission) if sent during normal business hours of the recipient, and on the next Business Day if sent after normal business hours of the recipient, (c) one (1) Business Day after being sent by a nationally recognized overnight courier (receipt requested), or (d) on the third (3rd) Business Day after the date mailed, by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid. Such communications must be sent to the respective parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a party as will be specified in a notice given in accordance with this Section 10.07):

If to Parent or Merger Sub, to:	EnerNOC, Inc. One Marina Park Drive, Suite 400 Boston, Massachusetts 02210 Attention: General Counsel Facsimile: (617) 224-9910 Email: mcushing@enernoc.com
with a copy (which will not constitute notice to Parent or Merger Sub) to:	Cooley LLP 500 Boylston Street Boston, Massachusetts 02116 Attention: Miguel J. Vega Alfred L. Browne Facsimile: (617) 937-2400 E-mail: mvega@cooley.com
If to the Target, to:	World Energy Solutions, Inc. 100 Front Street, 20th Floor Worcester, Massachusetts 01608 Attention: Chief Executive Officer Facsimile: (508) 459-8101 Email: padams@worldenergy.com
with a copy (which will not constitute notice to the Target) to:	Loeb & Loeb LLP 345 Park Avenue New York, NY 10154 Attention: David S. Schaefer Michael Grandis Facsimile: (212) 658-9332 E-mail: dschaefer@loeb.com mgrandis@loeb.com

or to such other Persons, addresses or facsimile numbers as may be designated in writing by the Person entitled to receive such communication as provided above.

Section 10.08 No Third Party Beneficiaries. Except as provided in Section 7.07 (which will be to the benefit of the parties referred to in such Section) and Section 10.02 this Agreement is for the sole benefit of the parties hereto and their permitted assigns and respective successors and nothing herein, express or implied, is intended to or will confer upon any other Person or entity any legal or equitable right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement.

Section 10.09 Severability. If any term or provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability will not affect any other term or provision of this Agreement or invalidate or render unenforceable such term or provision in any other jurisdiction. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the parties hereto will negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in a nutually acceptable manner in order that the transactions contemplated hereby be consummated as originally contemplated to the greatest extent possible.

Section 10.10 Assignment. This Agreement will be binding upon and will inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns. Neither party may assign its rights or obligations hereunder (whether by operation of law, change of control or otherwise) without the prior written consent of the other party, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. No assignment will relieve the assigning party of any of its obligations hereunder.

Section 10.11 Counterparts; Effectiveness. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts (including by means of facsimile or e-mail of a PDF document), all of which will be one and the same agreement. This Agreement will become effective when each party to this Agreement will have received counterparts signed by all of the other parties.

Section 10.12 Entire Agreement . This Agreement (including the Exhibits to this Agreement and the representations and warranties set forth herein), the Support Agreements, the Disclosure Schedules and the Confidentiality Agreement constitute the entire agreement among the parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement and supersede all other prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among the parties to this Agreement with respect to the subject matter of this Agreements. In the event of any inconsistency between the statements in the body of this Agreement, the Support Agreements, the Disclosure Schedules (other than an exception expressly set forth as such in the Disclosure Schedules) and the Confidentiality Agreement, the statements in the body of this Agreement will control.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first written above by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized.

ENERNOC, INC.

-

By:		 	
Name:		 	
Title:	•		

WOLF MERGER SUB CORPORATION

By: Name: Title:

WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

By: Name:

Title:

[Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger]

ANNEX I

Offer Conditions

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Offer and in addition to Merger Sub's rights to extend, amend or terminate the Offer in accordance with the provisions of the Agreement and applicable Law, neither Parent nor Merger Sub shall be required to accept for payment or, subject to any applicable rules and regulations of the SEC including Rule 14e-1(c) under the Exchange Act, pay for any shares of Target Common Stock validly tendered and not validly withdrawn, if (unless waived in writing by Parent (other than the Minimum Condition)):

(a) there shall not have been validly tendered and not validly withdrawn that number of shares of Target Common Stock (excluding shares of Target Common Stock tendered pursuant to procedures for guaranteed delivery and not actually delivered prior to the Expiration Time) that, when added to the shares of Target Common Stock then owned by Merger Sub, would represent a majority of the Target Common Stock outstanding as of the Expiration Time (such condition in this <u>clause (a)</u>, the "Minimum Condition ");

(b) any of the following events shall exist:

(i) there shall be any Law or Order enacted, enforced, amended, or issued that is in effect and deemed applicable to the Offer, by any Governmental Entity, or any Governmental Entity shall have taken any other action, in each case the effect of which is to make illegal or otherwise prohibit consummation of the Offer or the Merger (*provided*, however, that Parent and Merger Sub shall not be permitted to invoke this clause (i) unless they shall have taken all actions required under this Agreement to have any such Order or other action lifted);

(ii) the Target and Parent shall have reached an agreement that the Offer or the Agreement be terminated, or the Agreement shall have been terminated in accordance with its terms;

(iii) (A) any of the representations and warranties of the Target set forth in Section 5.01(a) and (b) (Organization; Standing and Power; Charter Documents), Section 5.02 (Capital Structure), Section 5.03 (Authority; Non-Contravention; Governmental Consents; Board Approval; Stockholder Approval; Takeover Statutes) or Section 5.05 (Absence of Certain Changes or Events) of the Agreement shall not be true and correct in all respects as of the date of the Agreement and as of the Expiration Time as though made on and as of such date (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such earlier date), (B) any of the representations and warranties of the Target set forth in Section 5.11 (Brokers' and Finders Fees'), Section 5.18 (Fairness Opinion), or Section 5.19 (Rule 14d-10 Matters) of the Agreement shall not be true and correct in all material respects as of the date of the Agreement and as of the Expiration Time as though made on and as of such date (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of an earlier date of the Agreement and as of the earlier date) or (C) any other representations and warranties of the Target set forth in the Agreement (other than those listed above) shall not be true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation on any representation or warranty indicated by the words "Target Material Adverse Effect," "in all material respects," "in any material respect," "material," "materially" or words of similar import set forth therein) as of the date of the Agreement and as of the Expiration Time as though made on and as of such date (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such earlier date), except, in the case of this clause (b)(iii)(C), where the failure of any such representations and warranties to be so true and correct has not had and would not be reasonably expected to result in, individually or in the aggregate, a Target Material Adverse Effect;

(iv) the Target shall have failed to perform or comply in all material respects any obligation, agreement or covenant required to be performed or complied with by it under the Agreement on or prior to the Expiration Time;

(v) since the date of the Agreement, there shall have been a Target Material Adverse Effect that shall be continuing as of the Expiration Time;

(vi) there shall not be pending any Legal Action initiated by any Governmental Entity (i) challenging or seeking to make illegal, delay materially or otherwise directly or indirectly restrain or prohibit the Offer, the acceptance for payment by Merger Sub of the shares of Target Common Stock tendered pursuant to the Offer or the consummation of the Merger, (ii) seeking to restrain or prohibit Parent's ownership or operation (or that of its Affiliates) of all or any material portion of the business, assets or products of Target and its Subsidiaries, (iii) seeking, directly or indirectly, to impose or confirm material limitations on the ability of Parent or any of its Affiliates effectively to acquire, hold or exercise full rights of ownership of Target Common Stock or any shares of common stock of the Surviving Corporation, including the right to vote such shares on all matters properly presented to the Target's stockholders; or

(vii) Merger Sub shall have failed to receive a certificate of the Target, executed by the chief executive officer or the chief financial officer of the Target, dated as of the Expiration Time, to the effect that the conditions set forth in paragraphs (b)(iii) and (b)(iv) of this Annex I have been duly satisfied.

The foregoing conditions shall be in addition to, and not a limitation of, the rights of Parent and Merger Sub to extend, terminate or modify the Offer pursuant to the terms of the Agreement. The foregoing conditions are for the sole benefit of Parent and Merger Sub, may be asserted by Parent or Merger Sub regardless of the circumstances giving rise to any such conditions, and may be waived by Parent or Merger Sub in whole or in part at any time and from time to time in their sole and absolute discretion (except for the Minimum Condition), in each case, subject to the terms of the Agreement and the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC. The failure by Parent or Merger Sub at any time to exercise any of the foregoing rights shall not be deemed a waiver of any such right and each such right shall be deemed an ongoing right which may be asserted at any time and from time to time.

The capitalized terms used in this Annex I and not defined in this Annex I shall have the meanings set forth in the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November 4, 2014, by and among Parent, Merger Sub and Target (the "Agreement").

EXHIBIT A

Form of Certificate of Incorporation of Surviving Corporation

AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

I.

The name of this corporation is World Energy Solutions, Inc. (the "Corporation").

IJ.

The address of the registered office of the Corporation in the State of Delaware is 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19801, County of New Castle, and the name of the registered agent of the Corporation in the State of Delaware at such address is Corporation Trust Company.

The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which a corporation may be organized under the Delaware General Corporation Law ("DGCL").

III.

IV.

The Corporation is authorized to issue only one class of stock, to be designated Common Stock. The total number of shares of Common Stock presently authorized is One Thousand (1000), each having a par value of one cent (\$0.01).

A. The management of the business and the conduct of the affairs of the Corporation shall be vested in its Board of Directors. The number of directors which shall constitute the whole Board of Directors shall be fixed by the Board of Directors in the manner provided in the Bylaws.

v.

B. The Board of Directors is expressly empowered to adopt, amend or repeal the Bylaws of the Corporation. The stockholders shall also have power to adopt, amend or repeal the Bylaws of the Corporation; provided, however, that, in addition to any vote of the holders of any class or series of stock of the Corporation required by law or by this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, such action by stockholders shall require the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of the voting power of all of the then-outstanding shares of the capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class. A. No director of the Corporation shall be personally liable to the Corporation or to any of its stockholders for any monetary damages arising out of such director's breach of his fiduciary duty as a director of the Corporation, except to the extent the elimination or limitation of such liability is not permitted by DGCL, as the same exists or may thereafter be amended.

VI.

B. The Corporation shall indemnify each person who at any time is, or shall have been a, director or officer of the Corporation and was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, by reason of the fact that he is or was a director or officer of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee, or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement incurred in connection with any such action, suit or proceeding, to the maximum extent permitted by DGCL, as the same exists or may hereafter be amended. In furtherance of and not in limitation of the foregoing, the Corporation shall advance expenses, including attorneys' fees, incurred by an officer or director of the Corporation in defending any civil, criminal, administrative or investigative action, suit or proceeding in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of such director or officer to repay such advances if it shall be ultimately determined that he is not entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation. The foregoing right to indemnification shall in no way be exclusive of any other rights of indemnification to which any such director or officer may be entitled, under any Bylaw, agreement, vote of directors or stockholders or otherwise.

C. Neither any amendment nor repeal of this Article VI, nor the adoption of any provision of the Corporation's Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent with this Article VI, shall eliminate or reduce the effect of this Article VI in respect of any matter occurring, or any action or proceeding accruing or arising or that, but for this Article VI, would accrue or arise, prior to such amendment, repeal or adoption of an inconsistent provision.

VII.

The Corporation reserves the right to amend, alter, change or repeal any provision contained in this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, in the manner now or hereafter prescribed by statute, and all rights conferred upon the stockholders herein are granted subject to this reservation.

EXHIBIT B

Beneficial Ownership of Target Common Stock

None

EXHIBIT C

Form of Standstill Waiver

[], 201

[ADDRESS]

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We refer to $[\bullet]^1$.

The Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement") with EnerNOC, Inc. and Wolf Merger Sub Corporation, an entity wholly-owned by EnerNOC, Inc. The Special Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Special Committee") has recommended to the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") that the Company waive any "standstill" provisions applicable to [Third Party] for the sole purpose of entertaining any interest [Third Party] may have in a possible Transaction (as defined below). In accordance with the requirements of Section 7.04 of the Merger Agreement [and the [\bullet]], we hereby notify you that the Board has approved (i) [Third Party] (or an affiliate) making a Takeover Proposal (as such term is defined in the Merger Agreement) [language to be tailored to the standstill obligation] (a "Transaction"). For the avoidance of doubt, the Company does not waive or agree to the approval under the [\bullet] of any other proposals, offers, public statements, stock purchases made by [Third Party] to the Company (or the Company's shareholders, the Special Committee, the Board or any other special committee thereof that may be designated by the Board) other than as outlined above.

The waiver contained in this notice shall terminate upon the earliest to occur of (1) the termination of the Merger Agreement, (2) the Closing (as such term is defined in the Merger Agreement) and (3) the withdrawal of the waiver contained in this notice by the Board by notice to [Third Party] (provided that any such withdrawal by the Board shall not have a retroactive effect).

Sincerely,

¹ Document containing the standstill obligation.

EXHIBIT D

FORM OF

TENDER AND SUPPORT AGREEMENT

THIS TENDER AND SUPPORT AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is made and entered into as of November 4, 2014 by and between EnerNOC, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Parent"), Wolf Merger Sub Corporation, a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Parent ("Merger Sub"), and the undersigned stockholder ("Stockholder") of World Energy Solutions, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the " Target").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Parent, Merger Sub and the Target have entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger of even date herewith (as it may be amended from time to time, the "Merger Agreement"), which provides for, among other things, (i) a tender offer by Merger Sub (the "Offer ") to acquire all of the outstanding Target Common Stock at a price of \$5.50 per share, net to the Selling Stockholder in cash, without interest (such amount, or any different amount per share that may be paid pursuant to the Offer, being hereinafter referred to as the "Offer Price"), all upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, and (ii) following the consummation of the Offer, the merger of Merger Sub with and into the Target (the "Merger") pursuant to which each share of Target Common Stock (other than shares of Target Common Stock owned by the Target, Parent or Merger Sub and Dissenting Shares of Target Common Stock) that is then outstanding will thereupon be converted into the right to receive, in cash and without interest, an amount equal to the Offer Price, all upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement.

WHEREAS, as of the date hereof, Stockholder is a member of the board of directors or an officer of the Target and the Beneficial Owner (as defined below) of shares of Target Common Stock, Target Stock Options, and/or Target Restricted Stock Awards (collectively, the "Target Securities"), as is indicated on the signature page of this Agreement.

WHEREAS, in consideration of the execution of the Merger Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub, Stockholder (in Stockholder's capacity as such) is hereby agreeing to tender and vote (to the limited extent provided herein) the Shares in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises and the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth herein, as well as other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged and accepted, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

1. <u>Certain Definitions</u>. All capitalized terms that are used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings ascribed to them in the Merger Agreement. For all purposes of and under this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following respective meanings:

(a) "Beneficially Own " or "Beneficial Ownership " with respect to any securities means having "beneficial ownership" of such securities as determined pursuant to Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act, including pursuant to any Contract. A "Beneficial Owner" is a Person who Beneficially Owns securities.

(b) " Expiration Date " shall mean the earliest to occur of (i) such date and time as the Merger Agreement shall have been terminated pursuant to <u>Article IX</u> thereof or (ii) the Effective Time.

(c) "Shares" shall mean (i) all issued shares of Target Common Stock Beneficially Owned by Stockholder as of the date hereof, and (ii) any additional shares of Target Common Stock that are issued to Stockholder upon the exercise by Stockholder of Target Stock Options or vesting of Target Restricted Stock Awards, or otherwise acquired by Stockholder, during the period from the date of this Agreement through the Expiration Date.

(d) A Person shall be deemed to have effected a "Transfer" of a Target Security if such person directly or indirectly (i) sells, pledges, encumbers, assigns, grants an option with respect to, transfers or disposes of such Target Security or any interest in such Target Security,(ii) enters into a Contract providing for the sale of, pledge of, encumbrance of, assignment of, grant of an option with respect to, transfer of or disposition of such Target Security or any interest therein, or (iii) reduces such Person's Beneficial Ownership of, interest in or risk relating to such security.

2. Transfer of Target Securities.

(a) <u>Transfer Restrictions</u>. From the date hereof until the Expiration Date, Stockholder shall not Transfer or cause or permit any Transfer of any of the Target Securities other than to Merger Sub (or Parent on Merger Sub's behalf) pursuant to the Offer or the Merger.

(b) <u>Transfer of Voting Rights</u>. From the date hereof until the Expiration Date, Stockholder shall not (i) deposit, or permit the deposit of, any Shares in a voting trust, (ii) grant any proxy in respect of the Shares held by Stockholder, except for any revocable proxy granted by the Stockholder to the Target or the Target Board in connection with the election of directors or other routine matters, in each case voted on at the annual meeting of the Target, or (iii) enter into any voting or similar Contract in contravention of the obligations of such Stockholder under this <u>Section 2(b)</u>.

3. <u>Agreement to Tender</u>. Unless the Expiration Date has occurred, Stockholder shall following the commencement of the Offer, and in any event no later than the first (1 st) Business Day following the expiration of the "go-shop" period provided for in Section 7.04 of the Merger Agreement, validly tender (and shall not withdraw) the Shares pursuant to and in accordance with the terms of the Offer. If Stockholder acquires Shares after the date hereof, unless this Agreement shall have been terminated in accordance with its terms, Stockholder shall tender or cause to be tendered such Shares on or before the Expiration Date. Unless the Expiration Date has occurred, Stockholder shall, pursuant to and in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Offer, (a) deliver to the depositary designated in the Offer, (i) a letter of transmittal with respect to the Shares complying with the terms of the Offer, (ii) certificates representing the Shares, if applicable, and (iii) all other documents or instruments required to be delivered pursuant to the terms of the Offer, and/or (b) instruct its broker or such other person who is the holder of record of any Shares to tender such Shares in the Offer pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Offer. Unless the Expiration Date has occurred, Stockholder shall not tender the Shares into any exchange or tender offer commenced by a Person other than Parent, Merger Sub or any other Subsidiary of Parent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Expiration Date occurs due to a termination of the Merger Agreement pursuant to Article IX thereof after Stockholder has tendered any Shares in the Offer in accordance with this <u>Section 3</u>, Stockholder may withdraw any such Shares pursuant to and in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Offer.

4. <u>Agreement Not to Exercise Appraisal Rights</u>. Stockholder hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives, and agrees not to exercise or assert, on its own behalf or on behalf of any other holder of Shares, any rights (including, without limitation, under Section 262 of the DGCL or similar rights) to demand appraisal of any Shares that may arise with respect to the Merger that Stockholder may have by virtue of, or with respect to, any Shares owned by Stockholder.

5. <u>Directors and Officers</u>. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, Stockholder makes no agreement or understanding in this Agreement in Stockholder's capacity as a director or an officer of the Target or any of its subsidiaries (if Stockholder holds such office), and nothing in this Agreement: (a) will limit or affect any actions or omissions taken by Stockholder solely in Stockholder's capacity as such a director or an officer, including in exercising rights under the Merger Agreement, and no such actions or omissions shall be deemed a breach of this Agreement or (b) will be

construed to prohibit, limit or restrict Stockholder from exercising Stockholder's fiduciary duties as an officer or director to the Target or its stockholders. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no actions or omissions taken by Stockholder in Stockholder's capacity as an officer or director of Target shall excuse Stockholder from performing Stockholder's obligations under <u>Section 3</u> of this Agreement.

6. <u>No Ownership Interest</u>. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to vest in Parent or Merger Sub any direct or indirect ownership or incidence of ownership of or with respect to any Target Securities. All rights, ownership and economic benefits of and relating to the Target Securities shall remain vested in and belong to Stockholder.

7. <u>Representations and Warranties of Stockholder</u>. Stockholder hereby represents and warrants to Parent and Merger Sub as of the date hereof that:

(a) <u>Power: Binding Agreement</u>. Stockholder has all requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, to perform Stockholder's obligations hereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. In the event that any of Stockholder's Target Securities are held by a Person that is not an individual, the execution, delivery and performance by such Person of this Agreement, the performance by such Person of its obligations hereunder and the consummation by such Person of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized by such Person and no other actions or proceedings on the part of such Person are necessary to authorize the execution and delivery by it of this Agreement, the performance by such Person of its obligations hereunder or the consummation by such Person of the transactions contemplated hereby. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Stockholder, and, assuming this Agreement constitutes a legally valid and binding obligation of Parent and Merger Sub, constitutes a legally valid and binding obligation of Stockholder, enforceable against Stockholder in accordance with its terms except as the same may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar Laws now or hereafter in effect relating to creditors' rights generally and subject to general principles of equity. If applicable, no consent of Stockholder's spouse is necessary under any "community property" or other laws in order for Stockholder to enter into and perform its obligations under this Agreement.

(b) <u>No Conflicts</u>. No Consent or permit of any Governmental Entity is necessary for the execution by Stockholder of this Agreement, the performance by Stockholder of its obligations hereunder and the consummation by Stockholder of the transactions contemplated hereby. None of the execution and delivery by Stockholder of this Agreement, the performance by Stockholder of its obligations hereunder or the consummation by Stockholder of the transactions contemplated hereby will (i) in the event that Stockholder is, or any of Stockholder's Target Securities are held by, a Person that is not an individual, conflict with or result in any breach of any organizational documents applicable to such Person, (ii) result in a violation or breach of, or constitute (with or without notice or lapse of time or both) a default (or give rise to any third party right of termination, cancellation, material modification or acceleration) under any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any material Contract or obligation of any kind to which Stockholder is a party or by which Stockholder or any of Stockholder's properties or assets may be bound, or (iii) violate any Law applicable to Stockholder or any of Stockholder's properties or assets.

(c) <u>Ownership of Target Securities</u>. Stockholder (i) is the Beneficial Owner of the Target Securities as indicated on the signature page to this Agreement, all of which are free and clear of any Encumbrances (except any Encumbrances arising hereunder), and (ii) does not own, beneficially or otherwise, any Target Securities other than the Target Securities indicated on the signature page to this Agreement.

(d) <u>Voting Power</u>. Stockholder has sole voting power, sole power of disposition, sole power to issue instructions with respect to the matters set forth herein, and sole power to agree to all of the matters set forth in this Agreement, in each case with respect to all of the Shares, with no limitations, qualifications or restrictions on such rights, subject to applicable federal securities laws and the terms of this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, nothing herein shall require Stockholder to exercise any Target Stock Options.

(e) <u>No Finder's Fees</u>. Except as contemplated by the Merger Agreement, no broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other person is entitled to any broker's, finder's, financial adviser's or other similar fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement or this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Stockholder.

(f) <u>Reliance by Parent</u>. Stockholder understands and acknowledges that Parent is entering into the Merger Agreement in reliance upon Stockholder's execution and delivery of this Agreement.

8. <u>Representations and Warranties of Parent and Merger Sub</u>. Parent and Merger Sub hereby represent and warrant to Stockholder as of the date hereof that:

(a) <u>Power; Binding Agreement</u>. Parent and Merger Sub each have all requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, to perform each of their respective obligations hereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. The execution, delivery and performance by Parent and Merger Sub of this Agreement, the performance by Parent and Merger Sub of their respective obligations hereunder and the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized by each of Parent and Merger Sub and no other actions or proceedings on the part of Parent and Merger Sub are necessary to authorize the execution and delivery by them of this Agreement, the performance by Parent and Merger Sub of their respective obligations hereunder or the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of the transactions contemplated hereby. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Parent and Merger Sub, and, assuming this Agreement constitutes a legally valid and binding obligation of Stockholder, constitutes a legally valid and binding obligation of Parent and Merger Sub, enforceable against each of them in accordance with its terms except as the same may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar Laws now or hereafter in effect relating to creditors' rights generally and subject to general principles of equity.

(b) <u>No Conflicts</u>. Except as set forth in the Merger Agreement, no Consent of any Governmental Entity is necessary for the execution by Parent or Merger Sub of this Agreement, the performance by Parent and Merger Sub of their respective obligations hereunder and the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of the transactions contemplated hereby. None of the execution and delivery by Parent and Merger Sub of this Agreement, the performance by Parent and Merger Sub of their respective obligations hereunder or the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of their respective obligations hereunder or the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of their respective obligations hereunder or the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of the transactions contemplated hereby will (i) conflict with or result in any breach of any organizational documents applicable to Parent or Merger Sub, (ii) result in a violation or breach of, or constitute (with or without notice or lapse of time or both) a default (or give rise to any third party right of termination, cancellation, material modification or acceleration) under any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any material Contract or obligation to which Parent or Merger Sub is a party or by which Parent or Merger Sub or any of Parent's or Merger Sub's properties or assets may be bound, or (iii) violate any Law applicable to Parent or Merger Sub or any of Parent or Merger Sub's properties or assets, except in each case under clauses (ii) and (iii), where such violation, breach or default would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on Parent and Merger Sub.

9. <u>Disclosure</u>. Stockholder hereby authorizes Parent to publish and disclose in (a) documents and schedules filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and (b) to the extent Stockholder consents to any such publication or disclosure (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), any press release or other disclosure document that Parent determines to be necessary or desirable in connection with the Offer, the Merger and any transactions related thereto, Stockholder's identity and ownership of Target Securities and the nature of Stockholder's commitments, arrangements and understandings under this Agreement and agrees promptly to give to Parent any information it may reasonably require for the preparation of any such disclosure documents. Stockholder agrees promptly to notify Parent of any required corrections with respect to any written information supplied by it specifically for use in any such disclosure document, if and to the extent that any shall have become false or misleading in any material respect.

10. Further Assurances. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Stockholder shall use commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and to do, or cause to be done, all things reasonably necessary to fulfill Stockholder's obligations under this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, from time to time and without additional consideration, Stockholder shall (at Stockholder's sole expense) execute and deliver, or cause to be executed and delivered, such additional transfers, assignments, endorsements, proxies, consents and other instruments, and shall (at Stockholder's sole expense) take such further actions, as Parent or Merger Sub may request for the purpose of carrying out and furthering the intent of this Agreement. Stockholder shall not issue any press release or make any other public statement in its capacity as a stockholder of the Target with respect to this Agreement, the transactions contemplated hereby, the Merger Agreement, the Offer, the Merger or the other Transactions without the prior written consent of Parent or Merger Sub, except as may be required by applicable legal requirements or court process; provided , however , that nothing herein shall restrict Stockholder from consulting with its legal or financial advisors in connection with this Agreement, the Merger Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby. If Stockholder shall deliver promptly to Parent written notice of such acquisition of Shares which notice shall state the number of Shares so acquired.

11. No Solicitation. After the Go-Shop Period End Date, Stockholder shall not directly or indirectly, and shall not authorize or permit its Representatives to directly or indirectly (a) solicit, initiate, encourage, induce or facilitate the submission or announcement of any Takeover Proposal, (b) furnish any information regarding the Target or any of its Subsidiaries to any Person in connection with or in response to a Takeover Proposal or an inquiry or indication of interest that could lead to a Takeover Proposal, (c) engage in discussions or negotiations with any Person with respect to any Takeover Proposal or any inquiry or indication of interest that could lead to a Takeover Proposal, (d) approve, endorse or recommend any Takeover Proposal, (e) enter into any letter of intent or similar document or any Contract contemplating or otherwise relating to any Takeover Proposal or (f) agree to do any of the foregoing.

12. <u>Stop Transfer; Legending of Shares</u>. Stockholder hereby agrees that it will not request that the Target register the Transfer of any certificate or uncertificated interest representing any of the Shares, unless such Transfer is made in compliance with this Agreement. In furtherance of this Agreement, concurrently herewith, Stockholder shall, and hereby does authorize the Target or its counsel to, notify the Target's transfer agent that there is a stop transfer order with respect to all of the Shares (and that this Agreement places limits on the voting and transfer of such shares). The parties hereto agree that such stop transfer order shall be removed and shall be of no further force and effect upon the Expiration Date.

13. <u>Merger Agreement</u>. Stockholder hereby acknowledges receipt of, and has had an opportunity to read and understand, and consult with independent counsel concerning, the Merger Agreement (including all exhibits and schedules thereto).

14. <u>Termination</u>. This Agreement shall terminate and shall have no further force or effect as of the Expiration Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing set forth in this <u>Section 14</u> or elsewhere in this Agreement shall relieve any party or parties hereto, as applicable, from liability for any willful breach of, or fraud in connection with, this Agreement.

15. Miscellaneous.

(a) <u>Severability</u>. In the event that any provision of this Agreement, or the application thereof, becomes or is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, void or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement will continue in full force and effect and the application of such provision to other persons or circumstances will be interpreted so as reasonably to effect the intent of the parties hereto.

The parties further agree to replace such void or unenforceable provision of this Agreement with a valid and enforceable provision that will achieve, to the extent possible, the economic, business and other purposes of such void or unenforceable provision.

(b) <u>Assignment</u>. Neither this Agreement nor any of the interests or obligations hereunder may be assigned or delegated by Stockholder, and any attempted or purported assignment or delegation of any of such interests or obligations shall be void. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement shall be binding upon Stockholder and Stockholder's successors and assigns, and, if Stockholder is an individual, Stockholder's heirs, estate, executors and personal representatives. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of Parent and Merger Sub and their successors and assigns. Without limiting any of the restrictions set forth in <u>Section 2</u> or elsewhere in this Agreement, this Agreement shall be binding upon any Person to whom any Shares are transferred. For the avoidance of doubt, Parent and Merger Sub may assign all or any of their rights and obligations hereunder to any wholly owned Subsidiary of Parent.

(c) <u>Amendments</u>. Subject to Law and subject to the other provisions of this Agreement, this Agreement may be amended by the parties hereto at any time by execution of an instrument in writing signed by each of the parties hereto.

(d) <u>Extension; Waiver</u>. At any time and from time to time prior to the Expiration Date, any party or parties hereto may, to the extent legally allowed and except as otherwise set forth herein, (i) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the other party or parties hereto, as applicable, (ii) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties made to such party or parties hereto contained herein or in any document delivered pursuant hereto and (iii) waive compliance with any of the agreements or conditions for the benefit of such party or parties hereto contained herein. Any agreement on the part of a party or parties hereto to any such extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in an instrument in writing signed on behalf of such party or parties, as applicable. Any delay in exercising any right under this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of such right.

(e) <u>Specific Performance: Injunctive Relief</u>. The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly agreed that the parties shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to prevent actual or threatened breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof in any court of the United States or any state having jurisdiction, this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity. The parties waive, in connection with any action for specific performance or injunctive relief, the defense of adequacy of a remedy at law.

(f) <u>Other Remedies</u>. Except as otherwise provided herein, any and all remedies herein expressly conferred upon a party will be deemed cumulative with and not exclusive of any other remedy conferred hereby, or by law or equity upon such party, and the exercise by a party of any one remedy will not preclude the exercise of any other remedy.

(g) Notices. All notices and other communications hereunder will be in writing and will be deemed to have been given (a) when delivered by hand (with written confirmation of receipt), (b) on the date sent by facsimile or e-mail of a PDF document (with confirmation of transmission) if sent during normal business hours of the recipient, and on the next Business Day if sent after normal business hours of the recipient, (c) one (1) Business Day after being sent by a nationally recognized overnight courier (receipt requested), or (d) on the third (3rd) Business Day after the date mailed, by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid. Such communications must be sent to the respective parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a party as will be specified in a notice given in accordance with this Section 15(g):

If to Parent or Merger Sub to:

EnerNOC, Inc. One Marina Park Drive, Suite 400 Boston, Massachusetts 02210 Attention: General Counsel Facsimile: (617) 224-9910 Email: mcushing@enernoc.com

91

.1

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Cooley LLP 500 Boylston Street Boston, Massachusetts 02116 Attention: Miguel J. Vega Facsimile: (617) 937 2400 E-mail: mvega@cooley.com

If to Stockholder to:

To the address for notice set forth the signature page hereto.

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Loeb & Loeb LLP 345 Park Avenue New York, NY 10154 Attention: David S. Schaefer Michael Grandis Facsimile: (212) 658-9332 E-mail: dschaefer@loeb.com mgrandis@loeb.com

(h) <u>No Third Party Beneficiaries</u>. Each of Parent and Stockholder hereby agrees that their respective representations, warranties and covenants set forth herein are solely for the benefit of the other parties hereto, in accordance with and subject to the terms of this Agreement, and this Agreement is not intended to, and does not, confer upon any Person other than the parties hereto any rights or remedies hereunder.

(i) <u>Governing Law</u>. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, regardless of the laws that might otherwise govern under applicable principles of conflicts of law thereof.

(j) <u>Consent to Jurisdiction</u>. Each of the parties hereto irrevocably consents to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of the Chancery Court or the United States District Court sitting in the State of Delaware in connection with any matter based upon or arising out of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, agrees that process may be served upon them in any manner authorized by the laws of the State of Delaware for such persons and waives and covenants not to assert or plead any objection which they might otherwise have to such jurisdiction, venue and process. Each party hereto hereby agrees not to commence any legal proceedings relating to or arising out of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby (including the Offer and the Merger) in any jurisdiction or courts other than as provided herein.

(k) <u>WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL</u>. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE ACTIONS OF ANY PARTY HERETO IN THE NEGOTIATION, ADMINISTRATION, PERFORMANCE AND ENFORCEMENT HEREOF.

(1) Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the Merger Agreement, together with the documents and instruments and other agreements among the parties hereto as contemplated by or referred to herein, constitute the entire agreement among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.

(m) Certain Interpretations .

(i) Unless otherwise indicated, all references herein to Sections shall be deemed to refer to Sections of this Agreement.

(ii) Unless otherwise indicated, the words "include," "includes" and "including," when used herein, shall be deemed in each case to be followed by the words "without limitation."

(iii) Unless otherwise indicated, the term "or" shall not be deemed to be exclusive.

(iv) Unless otherwise indicated, the words "hereof," "herein" and "hereunder" and words of similar import, when used in this Agreement, refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement.

(v) The headings set forth in this Agreement are for convenience of reference purposes only and shall not affect or be deemed to affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement or any term or provision hereof.

(vi) When reference is made herein to a Person, such reference shall be deemed to include (i) all direct and indirect Subsidiaries of such Person and (ii) any of its successors and permitted assigns, in each case, unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires.

(vii) Unless otherwise specifically provided, all references in this Agreement to "Dollars" or "\$" shall mean means United States Dollars.

requires.

(viii) As used in this Agreement, the singular or plural number shall be deemed to include the other whenever the context so

(ix) As used in this Agreement, (i) the masculine gender shall include the feminine and neuter genders, (ii) the feminine gender shall include the masculine and neuter genders and (iii) the neuter gender shall include masculine and feminine genders, in each case, whenever the context so requires.

(x) Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references in this Agreement to any agreement, instrument, statute, rule or regulation are to the agreement, instrument, statute, rule or regulation as amended, modified, supplemented or replaced from time to time (and, in the case of statutes, include any rules and regulations promulgated under said statutes) and to any section of any statute, rule or regulation including any successor to said section.

(xi) All terms defined in this Agreement shall have the defined meanings when used in any certificate or other document made or delivered pursuant hereto unless otherwise defined therein.

(xii) The parties hereto agree that they have been represented by counsel during the negotiation and execution of this Agreement and, therefore, waive the application of any law, regulation, holding or rule of construction providing that ambiguities in an agreement or other document will be construed against the party drafting such agreement or document.

(n) Expenses. All fees and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby shall be paid by the party incurring the expenses, whether or not the Offer and the Merger are consummated.

(o) <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other party, it being understood that all parties need not sign the same counterpart.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Agreement to be duly executed to be effective as of the date first above written.

EnerN	OC, Inc.	
By:		
Name:		
11110.		
	ferger Sub Corporation	
Wolf N		
Wolf N By:	lerger Sub Corporation	

(SIGNATURE PAGE TO TENDER AND SUPPORT AGREEMENT)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Agreement to be duly executed to be effective as of the date first above written.

STOCKHOLDER:

(Name of Entity, if an entity)

Name: _____

By:

Title: ______

Address:

Facsimile:

Shares that are Beneficially Owned:

Target Shares:

Target Shares issuable upon exercise of Target Stock Options or vesting of Target Restricted Stock Awards:

AMENDED AND RESTATED BY-LAWS

OF

WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page 1 ARTICLE I STOCKHOLDERS 1.1 Place of Meetings 1 1.2 Annual Meeting 1 1.3 Special Meetings 1 Notice of Meetings 1 1.4 1 1.5 Voting List 2 Quorum 1.6 1.7 Adjournments 2 2 2 3 1.8 Voting and Proxies 1.9 Action at Meeting Nomination of Directors 1.10 5 7 Notice of Business at Annual Meetings 1.11 Conduct of Meetings 1.12 7 1.13 No Action by Consent in Lieu of a Meeting 8 ARTICLE II DIRECTORS 8 2.1 **General Powers** 2.2 Number, Election and Qualification 8 2.3 Classes of Directors 8888899999 2.4 Terms of Office 2.5 Ouorum Action at Meeting 2.6 2.7 Removal 2.8 Vacancies 2.9 Resignation 2.10 **Regular Meetings** 2.11 Special Meetings 2.12 Notice of Special Meetings 9 2.13 9 Meetings by Conference Communications Equipment 9 2.14 Action by Consent 2.15 10 Committees 2.16 Compensation of Directors 10 ARTICLE III OFFICERS 10 3.1 Titles 10 3.2 Election 10 3.3 Qualification 10 3.4 Tenure 11 3.5 Resignation and Removal 11 3.6 Vacancies 11 3.7 Chairman of the Board 11

i

3.	.8 President; Chief Executive Officer	11
3.9	.9 Vice Presidents	12
3.	.10 Secretary and Assistant Secretaries	12
3.	.11 Treasurer and Assistant Treasurers	12
3.	.12 Salaries	12
ARTICL	E IV CAPITAL STOCK	13
4.	.1 Issuance of Stock	13
4.:	.2 Certificates of Stock	13
4.:	.3 Transfers	13
4.4	.4 Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates	13
4.:	.5 Record Date	14
ARTICLI	E V GENERAL PROVISIONS	14
5.	.1 Fiscal Year	14
5.2	.2 Corporate Seal	. 14
5.:	.3 Waiver of Notice	14
5.4	.4 Voting of Securities	14
5.:		15
5.0	.6 Certificate of Incorporation	15
5.1		15
5.5	.8 Pronouns	15
5.9	.9 Exclusive Forum	15
ARTICLI	E VI AMENDMENTS	15

ii

ARTICLE I

STOCKHOLDERS

1.1 <u>Place of Meetings</u>. All meetings of stockholders shall be held at such place as may be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer or the President or, if not so designated, at the principal office of the corporation.

1.2 <u>Annual Meeting</u>. The annual meeting of stockholders for the election of directors and for the transaction of such other business as may properly be brought before the meeting shall be held on a date and at a time designated by the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer or the President (which date shall not be a legal holiday in the place where the meeting is to be held). If no annual meeting is held in accordance with the foregoing provisions, a special meeting may be held in lieu of the annual meeting, and any action taken at that special meeting shall have the same effect as if it had been taken at the annual meeting, and in such case all references in these By-laws to the annual meeting of the stockholders shall be deemed to refer to such special meeting.

1.3 <u>Special Meetings</u>. Special meetings of stockholders for any purpose or purposes may be called at any time by the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer or the President, but such special meetings may not be called by any other person or persons. Business transacted at any special meeting of stockholders shall be limited to matters relating to the purpose or purposes stated in the notice of meeting.

1.4 <u>Notice of Meetings</u>. Except as otherwise provided by law, notice of each meeting of stockholders, whether annual or special, shall be given not less than 10 nor more than 60 days before the date of the meeting to each stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting. Without limiting the manner by which notice otherwise may be given to stockholders, any notice shall be effective if given by a form of electronic transmission consented to (in a manner consistent with the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware) by the stockholder to whom the notice is given. The notices of all meetings shall state the place, date and time of the meeting and the means of remote communications, if any, by which stockholders and proxyholders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such meeting. The notice of a special meeting shall state, in addition, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called. If notice is given by mail, such notice shall be deemed given when deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid, directed to the stockholder at such stockholder's address as it appears on the records of the corporation. If notice is given by electronic transmission, such notice shall be deemed given at the time specified in Section 232 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

1.5 <u>Voting List</u>. The Secretary shall prepare, at least 10 days before every meeting of stockholders, a complete list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, arranged in alphabetical order, and showing the address of each stockholder and the number of shares registered in the name of each stockholder. Such list shall be open to the examination of any stockholder, for any purpose germane to the meeting; (a) on a reasonably accessible electronic network, provided that the information required to gain access to such list is provided with notice of the meeting, or (b) during ordinary

business hours, at the principal place of business of the corporation. The list shall also be produced and kept at the time and place of the meeting during the whole time thereof, and may be inspected by any stockholder who is present.

1.6 Quorum. Except as otherwise provided by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-laws, the holders of one-third (1/3) in voting power of the shares of the capital stock of the corporation issued and outstanding and entitled to vote at the meeting, present in person, present by means of remote communication in a manner, if any, authorized by the Board of Directors in its sole discretion, or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. A quorum, once established at a meeting, shall not be broken by the withdrawal of enough votes to leave less than a quorum.

1.7 <u>Adjournments</u>. Any meeting of stockholders may be adjourned from time to time to any other time and to any other place at which a meeting of stockholders may be held under these By-laws by the stockholders present or represented at the meeting and entitled to vote, although less than a quorum, or, if no stockholder is present, by any officer entitled to preside at or to act as secretary of such meeting. It shall not be necessary to notify any stockholder of any adjournment of less than 30 days if the time and place of the adjourned meeting, and the means of remote communication, if any, by which stockholders and proxyholders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such adjourned meeting, are announced at the meeting at which adjournment is taken, unless after the adjournment a new record date is fixed for the adjourned meeting. At the adjourned meeting, the corporation may transact any business which might have been transacted at the original meeting.

1.8 Voting and Proxies. Each stockholder shall have one vote for each share of stock entitled to vote held of record by such stockholder and a proportionate vote for each fractional share so held, unless otherwise provided by law or the Certificate of Incorporation. Each stockholder of record entitled to vote at a meeting of stockholders may vote in person (including by means of remote communications, if any, by which stockholders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such meeting) or may authorize another person or persons to vote for such stockholder by a proxy executed or transmitted in a manner permitted by the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware by the stockholder or such stockholder's authorized agent and delivered (including by electronic transmission) to the Secretary of the corporation. No such proxy shall be voted upon after three years from the date of its execution, unless the proxy expressly provides for a longer period.

1.9 Action at Meeting. When a quorum is present at any meeting, any matter other than the election of directors to be voted upon by the stockholders at such meeting shall be decided by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority in voting power of the shares of stock present or represented and voting on such matter (or if there are two or more classes of stock entitled to vote as separate classes, then in the case of each such class, the holders of a majority in voting power of the shares of stock of that class present or represented and voting on such matter), except when a different vote is required by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-laws. When a quorum is present at any meeting, any election by stockholders of directors shall be determined by a plurality of the votes cast by the stockholders entitled to vote on the election.

1.10 Nomination of Directors .

(a) Except for (1) any directors entitled to be elected by the holders of preferred stock, (2) any directors elected in accordance with Section 2.8 hereof by the Board of Directors to fill a vacancy or newly-created directorships or (3) as otherwise required by applicable law or stock market regulation, only persons who are nominated in accordance with the procedures in this Section 1.10 shall be eligible for election as directors. Nomination for election to the Board of Directors at a meeting of stockholders may be made (i) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or (ii) by any stockholder of the corporation who (x) complies with the notice procedures set forth in Section 1.10(b) and (y) is a stockholder of record on the date of the giving of such notice and on the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to vote at such meeting.

(b) To be timely, a stockholder's notice must be received in writing by the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the corporation as follows: (i) in the case of an election of directors at an annual meeting of stockholders, not less than 90 days nor more than 120 days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year's annual meeting; provided, however, that (x) in the case of the annual meeting of stockholders of the corporation to be held in 2007 or (y) in the event that the date of the annual meeting, a stockholder's notice must be so received not earlier than the 120th day prior to such annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of (A) the 90th day prior to such annual meeting was made, whichever first occurs; or (ii) in the case of an election of directors at a special meeting of stockholders, provided that the Board of Directors has determined that directors shall be elected at such meeting, not earlier than the 120th day prior to such special meeting and not later than the close of busines of directors at a special meeting of stockholders, provided that the Board of Directors has determined that directors shall be elected at such meeting, not earlier than the 120th day prior to such special meeting and not later of (x) the 90th day prior to such special meeting and (y) the tenth day following the day on which notice of the date of such special meeting and (y) the tenth day following the date of such special meeting (or the public announcement thereof) commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of a stockholder's notice.

The stockholder's notice to the Secretary shall set forth: (A) as to each proposed nominee (1) such person's name, age, business address and, if known, residence address, (2) such person's principal occupation or employment, (3) the class and number of shares of stock of the corporation which are beneficially owned by such person, and (4) any other information concerning such person that must be disclosed as to nominees in proxy solicitations pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"); (B) as to the stockholder giving the notice (1) such stockholder's name and address, as they appear on the corporation's books, (2) the class and number of shares of stock of the corporation which are owned, beneficially and of record, by such stockholder, (3) a description of all arrangements or understandings between such stockholder and each proposed nominee and any other person or persons (including their names) pursuant to which the nomination(s) are to be made by such stockholder, (4) a representation that such stockholder intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to nominate the person(s) named in its notice and (5) a representation

whether the stockholder intends or is part of a group which intends (x) to deliver a proxy statement and/or form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the corporation's outstanding capital stock required to elect the nominee and/or (y) otherwise to solicit proxies from stockholders in support of such nomination; and (C) as to the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination is being made (1) such beneficial owner, is name and address, (2) the class and number of shares of stock of the corporation which are beneficially owned by such beneficial owner, (3) a description of all arrangements or understandings between such beneficial owner and each proposed nominee and any other person or persons (including their names) pursuant to which the nomination(s) are to be made and (4) a representation whether the beneficial owner intends or is part of a group which intends (x) to deliver a proxy statement and/or form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the corporation's outstanding capital stock requirement to elect the nominee and/or (y) otherwise to solicit proxies from stockholders in support of such nomination. In addition, to be effective, the stockholder's notice must be accompanied by the written consent of the proposed nominee to serve as a director if elected. The corporation may require any proposed nominee to furnish such other information as may reasonably be required to determine the eligibility of such proposed nominee to serve as a director of the corporation. A stockholder shall not have complied with this Section 1.10(b) if the stockholder (or beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination is made) solicits or does not solicit, as the case may be, proxies in support of such stockholder's nominee in contravention of the representations with respect thereto required by this Section 1.10.

(c) The chairman of any meeting shall have the power and duty to determine whether a nomination was made in accordance with the provisions of this Section 1.10 (including whether the stockholder or beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination is made solicited (or is part of a group which solicited) or did not so solicit, as the case may be, proxies in support of such stockholder's nominee in compliance with the representations with respect thereto required by this Section 1.10), and if the chairman should determine that a nomination was not made in accordance with the provisions of this Section 1.10, the chairman shall so declare to the meeting and such nomination shall be disregarded.

(d) Except as otherwise required by law, nothing in this Section 1.10 shall obligate the corporation or the Board of Directors to include in any proxy statement or other stockholder communication distributed on behalf of the corporation or the Board of Directors information with respect to any nominee for director submitted by a stockholder.

(e) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 1.10, if the stockholder (or a qualified representative of the stockholder) does not appear at the annual or special meeting of stockholders of the corporation to present a nomination, such nomination shall be disregarded, notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such vote may have been received by the corporation. For purposes of this Section 1.10, to be considered a qualified representative of the stockholder, a person must be authorized by a written instrument executed by such stockholder or an electronic transmission delivered by such stockholder to act for such stockholder as proxy at the meeting of stockholders and such person must produce such written instrument or electronic transmission, or a reliable reproduction of the written instrument or electronic transmission, at the meeting of stockholders.

(f) For purposes of this Section 1.10, "public disclosure" shall include disclosure in a press release reported by the Dow Jones New Service, Associated Press or comparable national news service or in a document publicly filed by the corporation with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13, 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act.

1.11 Notice of Business at Annual Meetings.

(a) At any annual meeting of the stockholders, only such business shall be conducted as shall have been properly brought before the meeting. To be properly brought before an annual meeting, business must be (1) specified in the notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto) given by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, (2) otherwise properly brought before the meeting by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, or (3) properly brought before the meeting by a stockholder. For business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder, (i) if such business relates to the nomination of a person for election as a director of the corporation, the procedures in Section 1.10 must be complied with and (ii) if such business relates to any other matter, the business must constitute a proper matter under Delaware law for stockholder action and the stockholder must (x) have given timely notice thereof in writing to the Secretary in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 1.11(b) and (y) be a stockholder of record on the date of the giving of such notice and on the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to vote at such annual meeting.

(b) To be timely, a stockholder's notice must be received in writing by the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the corporation not less than 90 days nor more than 120 days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year's annual meeting; provided, however, that (x) in the case of the annual meeting of stockholders of the corporation to be held in 2007 or (y) in the event that the date of the annual meeting in any other year is advanced by more than 20 days, or delayed by more than 60 days, from the first anniversary of the preceding year's annual meeting, a stockholder's notice must be so received not earlier than the 120th day prior to such annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of (A) the 90th day prior to such annual meeting and (B) the tenth day following the day on which notice of the date of such annual meeting was mailed or public disclosure of the date of such annual meeting was made, whichever first occurs. In no event shall the adjournment or postponement of an annual meeting (or the public announcement thereof) commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of a stockholder's notice.

The stockholder's notice to the Secretary shall set forth as to each matter the stockholder proposes to bring before the annual meeting (1) a brief description of the business desired to be brought before the annual meeting, the text relating to the business (including the text of any resolutions proposed for consideration and in the event that such business includes a proposal to amend the By-laws, the language of the proposed amendment), and the reasons for conducting such business at the annual meeting, (2) the name and address, as they appear on the corporation's books, of the stockholder proposing such business, and the name and address of the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the proposal is made, (3) the class and number of shares of stock of the corporation which are owned, of record and beneficially, by the stockholder and beneficial owner, if any, (4) a description of all arrangements or understandings between such stockholder or such beneficial owner, if any, and any other person or persons (including their names) in connection with the proposal of such business by such stockholder and

any material interest of the stockholder or such beneficial owner, if any, in such business, (5) a representation that such stockholder intends to appear in person or by proxy at the annual meeting to bring such business before the meeting and (6) a representation whether the stockholder or the beneficial owner, if any, intends or is part of a group which intends (x) to deliver a proxy statement and/or form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the corporation's outstanding capital stock required to approve or adopt the proposal and/or (y) otherwise to solicit proxies from stockholders in support of such proposal. Notwithstanding anything in these By-laws to the contrary, no business shall be conducted at any annual meeting of stockholders except in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 1.11; provided that any stockholder proposal which complies with Rule 14a-8 of the proxy rules (or any successor provision) promulgated under the Exchange Act and is to be included in the corporation's proxy statement for an annual meeting of stockholders shall be deemed to comply with the requirements of this Section 1.11. A stockholder shall not have complied with this Section 1.11(b) if the stockholder (or beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination is made) solicits or does not solicit, as the case may be, proxies in support of such stockholder's proposal in contravention of the representations with respect thereto required by this Section 1.11.

(c) The chairman of any meeting shall have the power and duty to determine whether business was properly brought before the meeting in accordance with the provisions of this Section 1.11 (including whether the stockholder or beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the proposal is made solicited (or is part of a group which solicited) or did not so solicit, as the case may be, proxies in support of such stockholder's proposal in compliance with the representation with respect thereto required by this Section 1.11), and if the chairman should determine that business was not properly brought before the meeting in accordance with the provisions of this Section 1.11, the chairman shall so declare to the meeting and such business shall not be brought before the meeting.

(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 1.11, if the stockholder (or a qualified representative of the stockholder) does not appear at the annual meeting of stockholders of the corporation to present business, such business shall not be considered, notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such vote may have been received by the corporation. For purposes of this Section 1.11, to be considered a qualified representative of the stockholder, a person must be authorized by a written instrument executed by the such stockholder or an electronic transmission delivered by such stockholder to act for such stockholder as a proxy at the meeting of stockholders and such person must produce such written instrument or electronic transmission, or a reliable reproduction of the written instrument or electronic transmission, at the meeting of stockholders.

(e) For purposes of this Section 1.11, "public disclosure" shall include disclosure in a press release reported by the Dow Jones New Service, Associated Press or comparable national news service or in a document publicly filed by the corporation with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13, 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act.

1.12 Conduct of Meetings.

(a) Meetings of stockholders shall be presided over by the Chairman of the Board, if any, or in the Chairman's absence by the Vice Chairman of the Board, if any, or in the Vice Chairman's absence by the Chief Executive Officer, or in the Chief Executive Officer's absence, by the President, or in the President's absence by a Vice President, or in the absence of all of the foregoing persons by a chairman designated by the Board of Directors, or in the absence of such designation by a chairman chosen by vote of the stockholders at the meeting. The Secretary shall act as secretary of the meeting, but in the Secretary's absence the chairman of the meeting may appoint any person to act as secretary of the meeting.

(b) The Board of Directors may adopt by resolution such rules, regulations and procedures for the conduct of any meeting of stockholders of the corporation as it shall deem appropriate including, without limitation, such guidelines and procedures as it may deem appropriate regarding the participation by means of remote communication of stockholders and proxyholders not physically present at a meeting. Except to the extent inconsistent with such rules, regulations and procedures as adopted by the Board of Directors, the chairman of any meeting of stockholders shall have the right and authority to prescribe such rules, regulations and procedures and to do all such acts as, in the judgment of such chairman, are appropriate for the proper conduct of the meeting. Such rules, regulations or procedures, whether adopted by the Board of Directors or prescribed by the chairman of the meeting, may include, without limitation, the following: (i) the establishment of an agenda or order of business for the meeting; (ii) rules and procedures for maintaining order at the meeting and the safety of those present; (iii) limitations on attendance at or participation in the meeting to stockholders of record of the corporation, their duly authorized and constituted proxies or such other persons as shall be determined; (iv) restrictions on entry to the meeting after the time fixed for the commencement thereof; and (v) limitations on the time allotted to questions or comments by participants. Unless and to the extent determined by the Board of Directors or the chairman of the meeting, meetings of stockholders shall not be required to be held in accordance with the rules of parliamentary procedure.

(c) The chairman of the meeting shall announce at the meeting when the polls for each matter to be voted upon at the meeting will be opened and closed. If no announcement is made, the polls shall be deemed to have opened when the meeting is convened and closed upon the final adjournment of the meeting. After the polls close, no ballots, proxies or votes or any revocations or changes thereto may be accepted.

(d) In advance of any meeting of stockholders, the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer or the President shall appoint one or more inspectors of election to act at the meeting and make a written report thereof. One or more other persons may be designated as alternate inspectors to replace any inspector who fails to act. If no inspector or alternate is present, ready and willing to act at a meeting of stockholders, the chairman of the meeting shall appoint one or more inspectors to act at the meeting. Unless otherwise required by law, inspectors may be officers, employees or agents of the corporation. Each inspector, before entering upon the discharge of such inspector's duties, shall take and sign an oath faithfully to execute the duties of inspector with strict impartiality and according to the best of such inspector's ability. The inspector shall have the duties prescribed by law and shall take charge of the polls and, when the vote in completed, shall make a certificate of the result of the vote taken and of such other facts as may be required by law.

1.13 No Action by Consent in Lieu of a Meeting. Stockholders of the corporation may not take any action by written consent in lieu of a meeting

ARTICLE II

DIRECTORS

2.1 <u>General Powers</u>. The business and affairs of the corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of a Board of Directors, who may exercise all of the powers of the corporation except as otherwise provided by law or the Certificate of Incorporation.

2.2 <u>Number, Election and Qualification</u>. Subject to the rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock to elect directors, the number of directors of the Corporation shall be established by the Board of Directors. Election of directors need not be by written ballot. Directors need not be stockholders of the corporation.

2.3 <u>Classes of Directors</u>. Subject to the rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock to elect directors, the Board of Directors shall be and is divided into three classes: Class I, Class II and Class III. The allocation of directors among classes shall be determined by resolution of the Board of Directors.

2.4 <u>Terms of Office</u>. Subject to the rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock to elect directors, each director shall serve for a term ending on the date of the third annual meeting following the annual meeting at which such director was elected; <u>provided</u>, that each director initially appointed to Class I shall serve for a term expiring at the corporation's annual meeting of stockholders held in 2007; each director initially appointed to Class II shall serve for a term expiring at the corporation's annual meeting of stockholders held in 2008; and each director initially appointed to Class III shall serve for a term expiring at the corporation's annual meeting of stockholders held in 2008; and each director initially appointed to Class III shall serve for a term expiring at the corporation's annual meeting of stockholders held in 2009; <u>provided further</u>, that the term of each director shall continue until the election and qualification of a successor and be subject to such director's earlier dcath, resignation or removal.

2.5 <u>Quorum</u>. The greater of (a) a majority of the directors at any time in office and (b) one-third of the number of directors fixed pursuant to Section 2.2 shall constitute a quorum. If at any meeting of the Board of Directors there shall be less than such a quorum, a majority of the directors present may adjourn the meeting from time to time without further notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present.

2.6 <u>Action at Meeting</u>. Every act or decision done or made by a majority of the directors present at a meeting duly held at which a quorum is present shall be regarded as the act of the Board of Directors unless a greater number is required by law or by the Certificate of Incorporation.

2.7 <u>Removal</u>. Subject to the rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock, directors of the corporation may be removed only for cause and only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of the votes which all the stockholders would be entitled to cast in any annual election of directors or class of directors.

2.8 <u>Vacancies</u>. Subject to the rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock, any vacancy or newly-created directorships on the Board of Directors, however occurring, shall be filled only by vote of a majority of the directors then in office, although less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director and shall not be filled by the stockholders. A director elected to fill a vacancy shall hold office until the next election of the class for which such director shall have been chosen, subject to the election and qualification of a successor or until such director's earlier death, resignation or removal.

2.9 <u>Resignation</u>. Any director may resign by delivering a resignation in writing or by electronic transmission to the corporation at its principal office or to the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the President or the Secretary. Such resignation shall be effective upon receipt unless it is specified to be effective at some later time or upon the happening of some later event.

2.10 <u>Regular Meetings</u>. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held without notice at such time and place as shall be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors; provided that any director who is absent when such a determination is made shall be given notice of the determination. A regular meeting of the Board of Directors may be held without notice immediately after and at the same place as the annual meeting of stockholders.

2.11 <u>Special Meetings</u>. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be held at any time and place designated in a call by the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the President, two or more directors, or by one director in the event that there is only a single director in office.

2.12 <u>Notice of Special Meetings</u>. Notice of any special meeting of directors shall be given to each director by the Secretary or by the officer or one of the directors calling the meeting. Notice shall be duly given to each director (a) in person or by telephone at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting, (b) by sending written notice via reputable overnight courier, telecopy or electronic mail, or delivering written notice by hand, to such director's last known business, home or electronic mail address at least 48 hours in advance of the meeting, or (c) by sending written notice via first-class mail to such director's last known business or home address at least 72 hours in advance of the meeting. A notice or waiver of notice of a meeting of the Board of Directors need not specify the purposes of the meeting.

2.13 <u>Meetings by Conference Communications Equipment</u>. Directors may participate in meetings of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof by means of conference telephone or other communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and participation by such means shall constitute presence in person at such meeting.

2.14 <u>Action by Consent</u>. Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors or of any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting, if all members of the Board of Directors or committee, as the case may be, consent to the action in writing or by electronic transmission, and the written consents or electronic transmissions are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board of Directors or committee.

2.15 <u>Committees</u>. The Board of Directors may designate one or more committees, each committee to consist of one or more of the directors of the corporation. The Board of Directors may designate one or more directors as alternate members of any committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the committee. In the absence or disqualification of a member of a committee, the member or members of the committee present at any meeting and not disqualified from voting, whether or not such member or members constitute a quorum, may unanimously appoint another member of the Board of Directors to act at the meeting in the place of any such absent or disqualified member. Any such committee, to the extent provided in the resolution of the Board of Directors and subject to the provisions of law, shall have and may exercise all the powers and authority of the Board of Directors in the management of the business and affairs of the corporation and may authorize the seal of the corporation to be affixed to all papers which may require it. Each such committee shall keep minutes and make such reports as the Board of Directors may from time to time request. Except as the Board of Directors may otherwise determine, any committee may make rules for the conduct of its business, but unless otherwise provided by the directors. Except as otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation, these Bylaws, or the resolution of the Board of Directors designating the committee, a committee may create one or more subcommittees, each subcommittee to consist of one or more members of the committee, and delegate to a subcommittee any or all of the powers and authority of the committee.

2.16 <u>Compensation of Directors</u>. Directors may be paid such compensation for their services and such reimbursement for expenses of attendance at meetings as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine. No such payment shall preclude any director from serving the corporation or any of its parent or subsidiary entities in any other capacity and receiving compensation for such service.

ARTICLE III

OFFICERS

3.1 <u>Titles</u>. The officers of the corporation shall consist of a Chief Executive Officer, a President, a Secretary, a Treasurer and such other officers with such other titles as the Board of Directors shall determine, including a Chairman of the Board, a Vice Chairman of the Board, and one or more Vice Presidents, Assistant Treasurers, and Assistant Secretaries. The Board of Directors may appoint such other officers as it may deem appropriate.

3.2 <u>Election</u>. The Chief Executive Officer, President, Treasurer and Secretary shall be elected annually by the Board of Directors at its first meeting following the annual meeting of stockholders. Other officers may be appointed by the Board of Directors at such meeting or at any other meeting.

3.3 Qualification. No officer need be a stockholder. Any two or more offices may be held by the same person.

3.4 <u>Tenure</u>. Except as otherwise provided by law, by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these By-laws, each officer shall hold office until such officer's successor is elected and qualified, unless a different term is specified in the resolution electing or appointing such officer, or until such officer's earlier death, resignation or removal.

3.5 <u>Resignation and Removal</u>. Any officer may resign by delivering a written resignation to the corporation at its principal office or to the Chief Executive Officer, the President or the Secretary. Such resignation shall be effective upon receipt unless it is specified to be effective at some later time or upon the happening of some later event.

Any officer may be removed at any time, with or without cause, by vote of a majority of the directors then in office.

Except as the Board of Directors may otherwise determine, no officer who resigns or is removed shall have any right to any compensation as an officer for any period following such officer's resignation or removal, or any right to damages on account of such removal, whether such officer's compensation be by the month or by the year or otherwise, unless such compensation is expressly provided for in a duly authorized written agreement with the corporation.

3.6 <u>Vacancies</u>. The Board of Directors may fill any vacancy occurring in any office for any reason and may, in its discretion, leave unfilled for such period as it may determine any offices other than those of Chief Executive Officer, President, Treasurer and Secretary. Each such successor shall hold office for the unexpired term of such officer's predecessor and until a successor is elected and qualified, or until such officer's earlier death, resignation or removal.

3.7 <u>Chairman of the Board</u>. The Board of Directors may appoint from its members a Chairman of the Board, who need not be an employee or officer of the corporation. If the Board of Directors appoints a Chairman of the Board, such Chairman shall perform such duties and possess such powers as are assigned by the Board of Directors and, if the Chairman of the Board is also designated as the corporation's Chief Executive Officer, shall have the powers and duties of the Chief Executive Officer prescribed in Section 3.8 of these By-laws. Unless otherwise provided by the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and stockholders.

3.8 President: Chief Executive Officer. Unless the Board of Directors has designated the Chairman of the Board or another person as the corporation's Chief Executive Officer, the President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the corporation. The Chief Executive Officer shall have general charge and supervision of the business of the Corporation subject to the direction of the Board of Directors. The President shall perform such other duties and shall have such other powers as the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer (if the President is not the Chief Executive Officer) may from time to time prescribe. In the event of the absence, inability or refusal to act of the Chief Executive Officer or the President is not the Chief Executive Officer), the Vice President (or if there shall be more than one, the Vice Presidents in the order determined by the Board of Directors) shall perform the duties of the Chief Executive Officer and when so performing such duties shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the Chief Executive Officer.

3.9 <u>Vice Presidents</u>. Any Vice President shall perform such duties and possess such powers as the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time prescribe. The Board of Directors may assign to any Vice President the title of Executive Vice President, Senior Vice President or any other title selected by the Board of Directors.

3.10 Secretary and Assistant Secretaries. The Secretary shall perform such duties and shall have such powers as the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time prescribe. In addition, the Secretary shall perform such duties and have such powers as are incident to the office of the secretary, including without limitation the duty and power to give notices of all meetings of stockholders and special meetings of the Board of Directors, to attend all meetings of stockholders and the Board of Directors and keep a record of the proceedings, to maintain a stock ledger and prepare lists of stockholders and their addresses as required, to be custodian of corporate records and the corporate seal and to affix and attest to the same on documents.

Any Assistant Secretary shall perform such duties and possess such powers as the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer or the Secretary may from time to time prescribe. In the event of the absence, inability or refusal to act of the Secretary, the Assistant Secretary (or if there shall be more than one, the Assistant Secretaries in the order determined by the Board of Directors) shall perform the duties and exercise the powers of the Secretary.

In the absence of the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary at any meeting of stockholders or directors, the chairman of the meeting shall designate a temporary secretary to keep a record of the meeting.

3.11 <u>Treasurer and Assistant Treasurers</u>. The Treasurer shall perform such duties and shall have such powers as may from time to time be assigned by the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer. In addition, the Treasurer shall perform such duties and have such powers as are incident to the office of treasurer, including without limitation the duty and power to keep and be responsible for all funds and securities of the corporation, to deposit funds of the corporation in depositories selected in accordance with these By-laws, to disburse such funds as ordered by the Board of Directors, to make proper accounts of such funds, and to render as required by the Board of Directors statements of all such transactions and of the financial condition of the corporation.

The Assistant Treasurers shall perform such duties and possess such powers as the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer or the Treasurer may from time to time prescribe. In the event of the absence, inability or refusal to act of the Treasurer, the Assistant Treasurer (or if there shall be more than one, the Assistant Treasurers in the order determined by the Board of Directors) shall perform the duties and exercise the powers of the Treasurer.

3.12 <u>Salaries</u>. Officers of the corporation shall be entitled to such salaries, compensation or reimbursement as shall be fixed or allowed from time to time by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE IV

CAPITAL STOCK

4.1 <u>Issuance of Stock</u>. Subject to the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, the whole or any part of any unissued balance of the authorized capital stock of the corporation or the whole or any part of any shares of the authorized capital stock of the corporation held in the corporation's treasury may be issued, sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of by vote of the Board of Directors in such manner, for such lawful consideration and on such terms as the Board of Directors may determine.

4.2 <u>Certificates of Stock</u>. Every holder of stock of the corporation shall be entitled to have a certificate, in such form as may be prescribed by law and by the Board of Directors, certifying the number and class of shares owned by such holder in the corporation. Each such certificate shall be signed by, or in the name of the corporation by, the Chairman or Vice Chairman, if any, of the Board of Directors, or the President or a Vice President, and the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer, or the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the corporation. Any or all of the signatures on the certificate may be a facsimile.

Each certificate for shares of stock which are subject to any restriction on transfer pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation, these Bylaws, applicable securities laws or any agreement among any number of stockholders or among such holders and the corporation shall have conspicuously noted on the face or back of the certificate either the full text of the restriction or a statement of the existence of such restriction.

There shall be set forth on the face or back of each certificate representing shares of such class or series of stock of the corporation a statement that the corporation will furnish without charge to each stockholder who so requests a copy of the full text of the powers, designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights of each class of stock or series thereof and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions of such preferences and/or rights.

4.3 <u>Transfers</u>. Except as otherwise established by rules and regulations adopted by the Board of Directors, and subject to applicable law, shares of stock may be transferred on the books of the corporation by the surrender to the corporation or its transfer agent of the certificate representing such shares properly endorsed or accompanied by a written assignment or power of attorney properly executed, and with such proof of authority or the authenticity of signature as the corporation or its transfer agent may reasonably require. Except as may be otherwise required by law, by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these By-laws, the corporation shall be entitled to treat the record holder of stock as shown on its books as the owner of such stock for all purposes, including the payment of dividends and the right to vote with respect to such stock, regardless of any transfer, pledge or other disposition of such stock until the shares have been transferred on the books of the corporation in accordance with the requirements of these By-laws.

4.4 Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates. The corporation may issue a new certificate of stock in place of any previously issued certificate alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon such terms and conditions as the Board of Directors may prescribe, including

the presentation of reasonable evidence of such loss, theft or destruction and the giving of such indemnity and posting of such bond as the Board of Directors may require for the protection of the corporation or any transfer agent or registrar.

4.5 <u>Record Date</u>. The Board of Directors may fix in advance a date as a record date for the determination of the stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of stockholders, or entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of any rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock, or for the purpose of any other lawful action. Such record date shall not be more than 60 nor less than 10 days before the date of such meeting, nor more than 60 days prior to any other action to which such record date relates.

If no record date is fixed, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall be at the close of business on the day before the day on which notice is given, or, if notice is waived, at the close of business on the day before the day on which the meeting is held. If no record date is fixed, the record date for determining stockholders for any other purpose shall be at the close of business on the day on which the Board of Directors adopts the resolution relating to such purpose.

A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting; provided, however, that the Board of Directors may fix a new record date for the adjourned meeting.

ARTICLE V

GENERAL PROVISIONS

5.1 Fiscal Year. Except as from time to time otherwise designated by the Board of Directors, the fiscal year of the corporation shall begin on the first day of January of each year and end on the last day of December in each year.

5.2 Corporate Seal. The corporate seal shall be in such form as shall be approved by the Board of Directors.

5.3 Waiver of Notice. Whenever notice is required to be given by law, by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these By-laws, a written waiver signed by the person entitled to notice, or a waiver by electronic transmission by the person entitled to notice, whether before, at or after the time stated in such notice, shall be deemed equivalent to notice. Attendance of a person at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except when the person attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

5.4 <u>Voting of Securities</u>. Except as the Board of Directors may otherwise designate, the Chief Executive Officer, the President or the Treasurer may waive notice of, and act as, or appoint any person or persons to act as, proxy or attorney-in-fact for this corporation (with or without power of substitution) at any meeting of stockholders or securityholders of any other entity, the securities of which may be held by this corporation.

5.5 <u>Evidence of Authority</u>. A certificate by the Secretary, or an Assistant Secretary, or a temporary Secretary, as to any action taken by the stockholders, directors, a committee or any officer or representative of the corporation shall as to all persons who rely on the certificate in good faith be conclusive evidence of such action.

5.6 <u>Certificate of Incorporation</u>. All references in these By-laws to the Certificate of Incorporation shall be deemed to refer to the Certificate of Incorporation of the corporation, as amended and in effect from time to time.

5.7 <u>Severability</u>. Any determination that any provision of these By-laws is for any reason inapplicable, illegal or ineffective shall not affect or invalidate any other provision of these By-laws.

5.8 <u>Pronouns</u>. All pronouns used in these By-laws shall be deemed to refer to the masculine, feminine or neuter, singular or plural, as the identity of the person or persons may require.

5.9 Exclusive Forum. Unless the corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for (1) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the corporation, (2) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer, or other employee of the corporation to the corporation or the corporation's shareholders, (3) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, and (4) any action asserting a claim by the internal affairs doctrine, in each case subject to the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware having personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants therein.

ARTICLE VI

AMENDMENTS

These By-laws may be altered, amended or repealed, in whole or in part, or new By-laws may be adopted by the Board of Directors or by the stockholders as provided in the Certificate of Incorporation.

INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT

THIS INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") is made and entered into as of , 2014 between World Energy Solutions, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), and , an individual ("Indemnitee").

WITNESSETH THAT:

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") has determined that directors and officers of or other persons performing services to or on behalf of corporations or business enterprises are being increasingly subjected to expensive and time-consuming litigation relating to, among other things, matters that traditionally would have been brought only against the corporation or business enterprise itself. The Bylaws and Certificate of Incorporation of the Company require indemnification of the directors of the Company. Indemnitee may also be entitled to indemnification pursuant to the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware ("DGCL"). The Bylaws and Certificate of Incorporation and the DGCL expressly provide that the indemnification provisions set forth therein are not exclusive, and thereby contemplate that contracts may be entered between the Company and directors, officers, and other persons with respect to indemnification;

WHEREAS, it is reasonable, prudent and necessary for the Company contractually to obligate itself to indemnify, and to advance expenses on behalf of, such persons to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law so that they will serve or continue to serve the Board free from undue concern that they will not be so indemnified;

WHEREAS, this Agreement is a supplement to and in furtherance of the Bylaws and Certificate of Incorporation of the Company and any resolutions adopted pursuant thereto, and shall not be deemed a substitute therefor, nor to diminish or abrogate any rights of Indemnitee thereunder; and

WHEREAS, Indemnitee believes the protection available under the Company's Bylaws and Certificate of Incorporation and insurance may not be adequate in the present circumstances, and may not be willing to serve as a member of the Board without adequate protection, and the Company desires Indemnitee to serve in such capacity.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of Indemnitee's agreement to serve as a director, an officer, or in other capacity from and after the date hereof, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. <u>Indemnity of Indemnitee</u>. The Company hereby agrees to hold harmless and indemnity Indemnitee to the fullest extent permitted by law, as such may be amended from time to time, with respect to any matter arising from or in connection with Indemnitee's Corporate Status. In furtherance of the foregoing indemnification, and without limiting the generality thereof:

(a) <u>Proceedings Other Than Proceedings by or in the Right of the Company</u>. Indemnitee shall be entitled to the rights of indemnification provided in this <u>Section 1(a)</u> if, by reason of his Corporate Status, the Indemnitee is, or is threatened to be made, a party to or

participant in any Proceeding, other than a Proceeding by or in the right of the Company. Pursuant to this Section1(a), Indemnitee shall be indemnified against all Expenses, judgments, penalties, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him, or on his behalf, in connection with such Proceeding or any claim, issue or matter therein, if the Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner the Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company, and with respect to any criminal Proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe the Indemnitee's conduct was unlawful. For purposes hereof, "Corporate Status" means a person's past, current, or future status as a director, officer, employee, agent or fiduciary of the Company or any committee of the Board or former director, officer, employee, agent or fiduciary of the Company or of any other corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise that such person serves or was serving at the express written request of the Company. "Expenses" shall include all reasonable attorneys' fees, retainers, court costs, transcript costs, fees of experts, witness fees, travel expenses, duplicating costs, printing and binding costs, telephone charges, postage, delivery service fees and all other disbursements or expenses of the types customarily incurred in connection with prosecuting, defending, preparing to prosecute or defend, investigating, participating, or being or preparing to be a witness in a Proceeding, or responding to, or objecting to, a request to provide discovery in any Proceeding, or in any successful Proceeding, to enforce this Agreement or any D&O policy. Expenses also shall include Expenses incurred in connection with any appeal resulting from any Proceeding and any federal, state, local or foreign taxes imposed on the Indemnitee as a result of the actual or deemed receipt of any payments under this Agreement, including without limitation, for taxes, and any premium, security for, and other costs relating to any cost bond, supersede as bond, or other appeal bond or its equivalent. Expenses, however, shall not include amounts paid in settlement by Indemnitee or the amount of judgments or fines against Indemnitee. "Proceeding" includes any threatened, pending or completed action, suit, arbitration, alternate dispute resolution mechanism, investigation, inquiry, administrative hearing or any other actual, threatened or completed proceeding, whether brought by or in the right of the Company or otherwise and whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, in which Indemnitee was, is or will be involved as a party or otherwise, by reason of his or her Corporate Status, by reason of any action taken by him or of any inaction on his part while acting in his or her Corporate Status; in each case whether or not he is acting or serving in any such capacity at the time any liability or expense is incurred for which indemnification can be provided under this Agreement; including one pending on or before the date of this Agreement, but excluding any unsuccessful Proceeding initiated by an Indemnitee pursuant to Section 7 of this Agreement to enforce his rights under this Agreement.

(b) <u>Proceedings by or in the Right of the Company</u>. Indemnitee shall be entitled to the rights of indemnification provided in this <u>Section 1(b)</u> if, by reason of his Corporate Status, the Indemnitee is, or is threatened to be made, a party to or participant in any Proceeding brought by or in the right of the Company. Pursuant to this <u>Section 1(b)</u>, Indemnitee shall be indemnified against all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by the Indemnitee, or on the Indemnitee's behalf, in connection with such Proceeding if the Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner the Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, if applicable law so provides, no indemnification against such Expenses shall be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter in such Proceeding as to which Indemnitee shall have been adjudged to be liable to the Company unless and to the extent that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall determine that such indemnification may be made.

(c) Indemnification for Expenses, if Indemnitee is Wholly or Partly Successful. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, to the extent that Indemnitee is, by reason of his Corporate Status, a party to and is successful, on the merits or otherwise, in any Proceeding, he shall be indemnified to the maximum extent permitted, and in no case less than the minimum extent required, by law, as such may be amended from time to time, against all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by him or on his behalf in connection therewith. If Indemnitee is not wholly successful in such Proceeding but is successful, on the merits or otherwise, as to one or more but less than all claims, issues or matters in such Proceeding, the Company shall indemnify Indemnitee against all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by him or on his behalf in connection, the termination of any claim, issue or matter in such a Proceeding by dismissal, with or without prejudice, shall be deemed to be a successful result as to such claim, issue or matter.

2. <u>Additional Indemnity</u>. In addition to, and without regard to any limitations on, the indemnification provided for in <u>Section 1</u> of this Agreement, the Company shall and hereby does indemnify and hold harmless Indemnitee against all Expenses, judgments, penalties, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him or on his behalf if, by reason of his Corporate Status, he is, or is threatened to be made, a party to or participant in any Proceeding (including a Proceeding by or in the right of the Company), including, without limitation, all liability arising out of the negligence or active or passive wrongdoing of Indemnitee. The only limitation that shall exist upon the Company's obligations pursuant to this Agreement shall be that the Company shall not be obligated to make any payment to Indemnitee that is finally determined (under the procedures, and subject to the presumptions, set forth in <u>Section 6</u> and <u>7</u> hereof) to be unlawful.

3. Contribution.

(a) Whether or not the indemnification provided in <u>Sections 1</u> and <u>2</u> hereof is available, in respect of any Proceeding in which the Company is jointly liable with Indemnitee (or would be if joined in such Proceeding, and a judgment in such Proceeding were adverse (" Adverse Joint Proceeding ")), the Company shall pay, in the first instance, the entire amount of any judgment or settlement of such Adverse Joint Proceeding without requiring Indemnitee to contribute to such payment, and the Company hereby waives and relinquishes any right of contribution it may have against Indemnitee. The Company shall not enter into any settlement of any Adverse Joint Proceeding, unless such settlement provides for a full and final release of all claims asserted against Indemnitee.

(b) Without diminishing or impairing the obligations of the Company set forth in the preceding subparagraph, if, for any reason, Indemnitee shall elect or be required to pay all or any portion of any judgment or settlement in any Adverse Joint Proceeding, the Company shall contribute to the amount of Expenses, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred and paid or payable by Indemnitee in proportion to the relative benefits received by the Company and all officers, directors or employees of the Company, other

than Indemnitee, who are jointly liable with Indemnitee (or would be if joined in such Adverse Joint Proceeding), on the one hand, and Indemnitee, on the other hand, from the transaction or events from which such action, suit or proceeding arose; provided, however, that the proportion determined on the basis of relative benefit may, to the extent necessary to conform to law, be further adjusted by reference to the relative fault of the Company and all officers, directors or employees of the Company other than Indemnitee who are jointly liable with Indemnitee (or would be if joined in such Adverse Joint Proceeding), on the one hand, and Indemnitee, on the other hand, in connection with the transaction or events that resulted in such expenses, judgments, fines or settlement amounts, as well as any other equitable considerations which applicable law may require to be considered. The relative fault of the Company and all officers, directors or employees of the Company, other than Indemnitee, who are jointly liable with Indemnitee (or would be if joined in such Adverse Joint Proceeding), on the one hand, and Indemnitee, on the other hand, shall be determined by reference to, among other things, the degree to which their actions were motivated by intent to gain personal profit or advantage, the degree to which their liability is primary or secondary and the degree to which their conduct is active or passive.

(c) The Company hereby agrees to fully indemnify and hold Indemnitee harmless from any claims of contribution which may be brought by officers, directors, or employees of the Company, other than Indemnitee, who may be jointly liable with Indemnitee.

(d) To the fullest extent permissible under applicable law, if the indemnification provided for in this Agreement is unavailable to Indemnitee for any reason whatsoever, the Company, in lieu of indemnifying Indemnitee, shall contribute to the amount incurred by Indemnitee, whether for judgments, fines, penalties, excise taxes, amounts paid or to be paid in settlement and/or for Expenses, in connection with any claim relating to an indemnifiable event under this Agreement, in such proportion as is deemed fair and reasonable in light of all of the circumstances of such Proceeding in order to reflect (i) the relative benefits received by the Company and Indemnitee as a result of the event(s) and/or transaction(s) giving cause to such Proceeding and/or (ii) the relative fault of the Company (and its directors, officers, employees and agents) and Indemnitee in connection with such event(s) and/or transaction(s).

4. <u>Indemnification, Fees for Expenses as a Witness</u>. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, to the extent that Indemnitee is, by reason of his Corporate Status, a witness, or is made (or asked) to respond to discovery requests, in any Proceeding to which Indemnitee is not a party, the Company shall indemnify Indemnitee against all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by him or on his behalf in connection therewith and pay Indemnitee a fee at the rate of \$100 per hour spent testifying as a witness, preparing for such testifying, responding to such discovery requests, and travel time in connection therewith.

5. <u>Advancement of Expenses</u>. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Company shall advance all Expenses incurred by or on behalf of Indemnitee in connection with any Proceeding by reason of Indemnitee's Corporate Status within thirty (30) days after the receipt by the Company of a statement or statements from Indemnitee requesting such advance or advances from time to time, whether prior to or after final disposition of such Proceeding. Such statement or statements shall reasonably evidence the Expenses incurred by Indemnitee and shall include or be preceded or accompanied by a written undertaking by or on

behalf of Indemnitee to repay any Expenses advanced, if it shall ultimately be determined that Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified against such Expenses. Any advances and undertakings to repay pursuant to this <u>Section 5</u> shall be unsecured and interest free.

6. <u>Procedures and Presumptions for Determination of Entitlement to Indemnification</u>. It is the intent of this Agreement to secure for Indemnitee rights of indemnity that are as favorable as may be permitted under the DGCL and public policy of the State of Delaware. Accordingly, the parties agree that the following procedures and presumptions shall apply in the event of any question as to whether Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification under this Agreement:

(a) To obtain indemnification under this Agreement, Indemnitee shall submit to the Company a written request, including therein or therewith such documentation and information as is reasonably available to Indemnitee and is reasonably necessary to determine whether and to what extent Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification. The Secretary of the Company shall, promptly upon receipt of such a request for indemnification, advise the Board in writing that Indemnitee has requested indemnification. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any failure of Indemnitee to provide such a request to the Company, or to provide such a request in a timely fashion, shall not relieve the Company of any liability that it may have to Indemnitee unless, and to the extent that, such failure actually and materially prejudices the interests of the Company.

(b) Upon written request by Indemnitee for indemnification pursuant to the first sentence of Section 6(a) hereof, a determination with respect to Indemnitee's entitlement thereto shall be made in the specific case by one of the following four methods, which shall be at the election of the Board (1) by a majority vote of the Disinterested Directors, even though less than a quorum, (2) by a committee of Disinterested Directors designated by a majority vote of the Disinterested Directors, even though less than a quorum, (3) if there are no Disinterested Directors or if the Disinterested Directors so direct, by Independent Counsel in a written opinion to the Board, a copy of which shall be delivered to the Indemnitee, or (4) if so directed by the Board, by the stockholders of the Company. For purposes hereof, "Disinterested Directors" are those members of the Board who are not parties to the action, suit or proceeding in respect of which indemnification is sought by Indemnitee, and "Independent Counsel" means a law firm, or a member of a law firm, that is experienced in matters of corporation law and neither presently is, nor in the past five years has been, retained to represent (i) the Company or Indemnitee in any matter material to either such party (other than with respect to matters concerning Indemnitee under this Agreement, or of other indemnitees under similar indemnification agreements), or (ii) any other party to the Proceeding giving rise to a claim for indemnification hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term "Independent Counsel" shall not include any person who, under the applicable standards of professional conduct then prevailing, would have a conflict of interest in representing either the Company or Indemnitee's rights under this Agreement.

(c) If the determination of entitlement to indemnification is to be made by Independent Counsel pursuant to Section 6(b) hereof, the Independent Counsel shall be selected as provided in this Section 6(c). The Independent Counsel shall be selected by the Board. Indemnitee may, within ten (10) days after such written notice of selection shall have been given,

deliver to the Company a written objection to such selection; provided, however, that such objection may be asserted only on the ground that the Independent Counsel so selected does not meet the definition of Independent Counsel, and the objection shall set forth with particularity the factual basis of such assertion. Absent a proper and timely objection, the person so selected shall act as Independent Counsel. If a written objection is made and substantiated, the Independent Counsel selected may not serve as Independent Counsel unless and until such objection is withdrawn or a court has determined that such objection is without merit. If, within twenty (20) days after submission by Indemnitee of a written request for indemnification pursuant to Section 6(a) hereof, no Independent Counsel shall have been selected and not objected to, either the Company or Indemnitee may petition the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or other court of competent jurisdiction for resolution of any objections are so resolved or the person so appointed shall act as Independent Counsel and/or for the appointment as Independent Counsel of a person selected by the court or by such other person as the court shall designate, and the person with respect to whom all objections are so resolved or the person so appointed shall act as Independent Counsel in connection with acting pursuant to Section 6(b) hereof, and the Company shall pay all reasonable fees and expenses of Independent Counsel incurred by such Independent Counsel in connection with acting pursuant to Section 6(b) hereof, and the Company shall pay all reasonable fees and expenses incident to the procedures of this Section 6(c), regardless of the manner in which such Independent Counsel was selected or appointed.

(d) Indemnitee shall be deemed to have acted in good faith if Indemnitee's action is based on the records or books of account of the Company and any other corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise that Indemnitee is or was serving at the express written request of the Company as a director, officer, employee, agent or fiduciary (collectively, the "Enterprise"), including financial statements, or on information supplied to Indemnitee by the officers of the Enterprise in the course of their duties, or on the advice of legal counsel for the Enterprise or on information or records given or reports made to the Enterprise by an independent certified public accountant or by an appraiser or other expert selected with reasonable care by the Enterprise. In addition, the knowledge and/or actions, or failure to act, of any director, officer, agent or employee of the Enterprise shall not be imputed to Indemnitee for purposes of determining the right to indemnification under this Agreement.

(e) Indemnitee shall cooperate with the person, persons or entity making such determination with respect to Indemnitee's entitlement to indemnification, including providing to such person, persons or entity upon reasonable advance request any documentation or information which is not privileged or otherwise protected from disclosure and which is reasonably available to Indemnitee and reasonably necessary to such determination. Any Independent Counsel, member of the Board or stockholder of the Company shall act reasonably and in good faith in making a determination regarding the Indemnitee's entitlement to indemnification under this Agreement. Any costs or expenses (including attorneys' fees and disbursements) incurred by Indemnitee in so cooperating with the person, persons or entity making such determination shall be borne by the Company (irrespective of the determination as to Indemnitee's entitlement to indemnification), and the Company hereby indemnifies and agrees to hold Indemnitee harmless therefrom.

(f) The Company acknowledges that a settlement or other disposition short of final judgment may be successful if it permits a party to avoid expense, delay, distraction, disruption and uncertainty.

(g) The termination of any Proceeding or of any claim, issue or matter therein, by judgment, order, settlement or conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, shall not (except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement) of itself adversely affect the right of Indemnitee to indemnification or create a presumption that Indemnitee did not act in good faith and in a manner which he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company or, with respect to any criminal Proceeding, that Indemnitee had reasonable cause to believe that his conduct was unlawful.

7. Remedies of Indemnitee.

(a) In the event that (i) a determination is made pursuant to Section 6 of this Agreement that Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification under this Agreement, (ii) advancement of Expenses is not timely made pursuant to Section 5 of this Agreement, (iii) no determination of entitlement to indemnification is made pursuant to Section 6(b) of this Agreement within ninety (90) days after receipt by the Company of the request for indemnification, (iv) payment of indemnification is not made pursuant to this Agreement within ten (10) days after receipt by the Company of a written request therefor, or (v) payment of indemnification is not made within ten (10) days after a determination has been made that Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification or such determination is deemed to have been made pursuant to Section 6 of this Agreement, Indemnitee shall be entitled to an adjudication of Indemnitee's entitlement to such indemnification. Indemnitee first has the right to commence such proceeding pursuant to this Section 7(a).

(b) In the event that a determination shall have been made pursuant to <u>Section 6(b)</u> of this Agreement that Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification, any judicial proceeding commenced pursuant to this <u>Section 7</u> shall be conducted in all respects as a de novo trial on the merits, and Indemnitee shall not be prejudiced by reason of the adverse determination under <u>Section 6(b)</u>.

(c) If a determination shall have been made pursuant to <u>Section 6(b)</u> of this Agreement that Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification, the Company shall be bound by such determination in any judicial proceeding commenced pursuant to this <u>Section 7</u>, absent (i) a misstatement by Indemnitee of a material fact, or an omission of a material fact necessary to make Indemnitee's misstatement not materially misleading in connection with the application for indemnification, or (ii) a prohibition of such indemnification under applicable law.

(d) In the event that Indemnitee, pursuant to this <u>Section 7</u>, seeks a judicial adjudication of his rights under, or to recover damages for breach of, this Agreement, or to recover under any directors' and officers' liability insurance policies maintained by the Company, if successful, the Company shall pay on his behalf, in advance, any and all Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by him in such judicial adjudication, regardless of whether Indemnitee ultimately is determined to be entitled to such indemnification, advancement of expenses or insurance recovery.

(e) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, no determination as to entitlement to indemnification under this Agreement shall be required to be made prior to the final disposition of the Proceeding.

8. Non-Exclusivity; Survival of Rights; Insurance; Primacy of Indemnification; Subrogation .

(a) The rights of indemnification as provided by this Agreement shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which Indemnitee may at any time be entitled under applicable law, the Certificate of Incorporation, the By-laws, any agreement, a vote of stockholders, a resolution of directors of the Company, or otherwise. No amendment, alteration or repeal of this Agreement or of any provision hereof shall limit or restrict any right of Indemnitee under this Agreement in respect of any action taken or omitted by such Indemnitee in his Corporate Status prior to such amendment, alteration or repeal. To the extent that a change in the DGCL, whether by statute or judicial decision, permits greater indemnification than would be afforded currently under the Certificate of Incorporation, By-laws and this Agreement, it is the intent of the parties hereto that Indemnitee shall enjoy by this Agreement the greater benefits so afforded by such change. No right or remedy herein conferred is intended to be exclusive of any other right or remedy, and every other right and remedy shall be cumulative and in addition to every other right and remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or otherwise. The assertion or employment of any right or remedy hereunder, or otherwise, shall not prevent the concurrent assertion or employment of any other right or remedy.

(b) To the extent that the Company maintains an insurance policy or policies providing liability insurance for directors, officers, employees, or agents or fiduciaries of the Company or of any other corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise that such person serves at the request of the Company, Indemnitee shall be covered by such policy or policies in accordance with its or their terms to the maximum extent of the coverage available. If, at the time of the receipt of a notice of a claim pursuant to the terms hereof, the Company has directors' and officers' liability insurance in effect, the Company shall give prompt notice of the commencement of such proceeding to the insurers in accordance with the procedures set forth in the respective policies. The Company shall thereafter take all necessary or desirable action to cause such insurers to pay, on behalf of the Indemnitee, all amounts payable as a result of such proceeding in accordance with the terms of such policies.

(c) In the event of any payment under this Agreement, the Company shall be subrogated to the extent of such payment to all of the rights of recovery of Indemnitee, who shall execute all papers required and take all action necessary to secure such rights, including execution of such documents as are necessary to enable the Company to bring suit to enforce such rights.

(d) The Company shall not be liable under this Agreement to make any payment of amounts otherwise indemnifiable hereunder, if and to the extent that Indemnitee has otherwise actually received such payment under any insurance policy, contract, agreement or otherwise.

(e) The Company's obligation to indemnify or advance Expenses hereunder to Indemnitee who is or was serving at the request of the Company as a director, officer, employee or agent of any other corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise shall be reduced by any amount Indemnitee has actually received as indemnification or advancement of expenses from such other corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise.

9. Exception to Right of Indemnification. Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement, the Company shall not be obligated under this Agreement to make any indemnity in connection with any claim made against Indemnitee:

(a) for which payment has actually been made to or on behalf of Indemnitee under any insurance policy or other indemnity provision, except with respect to any excess beyond the amount paid under any insurance policy or other indemnity provision; or

(b) in connection with any Proceeding (or any part of any Proceeding) initiated by Indemnitee, including any Proceeding (or any part of any Proceeding) initiated by Indemnitee against the Company or its directors, officers, employees or other indemnitees, unless (i) the Board authorized the Proceeding (or any part of any Proceeding) prior to its initiation, or (ii) the Company provides the indemnification, in its sole discretion, pursuant to the powers vested in the Company under applicable law.

10. <u>Duration of Agreement</u>. All agreements and obligations of the Company contained herein shall continue during the period Indemnitee is a director of the Company (or is or was serving at the request of the Company as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise) and shall continue thereafter so long as Indemnitee shall be subject to any Proceeding (or any proceeding commenced under <u>Section 7</u> hereof) by reason of his Corporate Status, whether or not he is acting or serving in any such capacity at the time any liability or expense is incurred for which indemnification can be provided under this Agreement.

11. <u>Security</u>. To the extent requested by Indemnitee and approved by the Board, the Company may at any time and from time to time provide security to Indemnitee for the Company's obligations hereunder through an irrevocable bank line of credit, funded trust or other collateral. Any such security, once provided to Indemnitee, may not be revoked or released without the prior written consent of the Indemnitee.

12. Enforcement.

(a) The Company expressly confirms and agrees that it has entered into this Agreement and assumes the obligations imposed on it hereby in order to induce Indemnitee to serve as an officer or director of the Company, and the Company acknowledges that Indemnitee is relying upon this Agreement in serving as an officer or director of the Company.

(b) This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, oral, written and implied, between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof.

(c) The Company shall not seek from a court, or agree to, a "bar order" which would have the effect of prohibiting or limiting the Indemnitee's rights to receive advancement of expenses under this Agreement.

13. <u>Severability</u>. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision hereof shall in no way affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision. Further, the invalidity or unenforceability of any provision hereof as to Indemitee shall in no way affect the validity or enforceability of any provision hereof as to the other. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, this Agreement is intended to confer upon Indemnitee indemnification rights to the fullest extent permitted by applicable laws. In the event any provision hereof conflicts with any applicable law, such provision shall be deemed modified, consistent with the aforementioned intent, to the extent necessary to resolve such conflict.

14. <u>Modification and Waiver</u>. No supplement, modification, termination or amendment of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by both of the parties hereto. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any other provisions hereof (whether or not similar) nor shall such waiver constitute a continuing waiver.

15. <u>Notice By Indemnitee</u>. Indemnitee agrees promptly to notify the Company in writing upon being served with or otherwise receiving any summons, citation, subpoena, complaint, indictment, information or other document relating to any Proceeding or matter which may be subject to indemnification covered hereunder. The failure to so notify the Company shall not relieve the Company of any obligation which it may have to Indemnitee under this Agreement or otherwise unless and only to the extent that such failure or delay materially prejudices the Company.

16. <u>Notices</u>. All notices and other communications given or made pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed effectively given (a) upon personal delivery to the party to be notified, (b) when sent by confirmed electronic mail or facsimile if sent during normal business hours of the recipient, and if not so confirmed, then on the next business day, (c) five (5) days after having been sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or (d) one (1) day after deposit with a nationally recognized overnight courier, specifying next day delivery, with written verification of receipt. All communications shall be sent:

(a) To Indemnitee at the address set forth below Indemnitee signature hereto.

(b) To the Company at:

Attention:

or to such other address as may have been furnished to Indemnitee by the Company or to the Company by Indemnitee, as the case may be.

17. <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in two (2) or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same the same instrument. Counterparts may be delivered via facsimile, electronic mail (including pdf or any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, *e.g.*, www.docusign.com) or other transmission method and any counterpart so delivered shall be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes.

18. <u>Headings</u>. The headings of the paragraphs of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not be deemed to constitute part of this Agreement or to affect the construction thereof.

19. Governing Law and Consent to Jurisdiction. This Agreement and the legal relations among the parties shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to its conflict of laws rules. The Company and Indemnitee hereby irrevocably and unconditionally (i) agree that any action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with this Agreement shall be brought only in the Chancery Court of the State of Delaware (the "Delaware Court"), and not in any other state or federal court in the United States of America or any court in any other country, (ii) consent to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Delaware Court for purposes of any action or proceeding arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, (iii) waive any objection to the laying of venue of any such action or proceeding in the Delaware Court, and (iv) waive, and agree not to plead or to make, any claim that any such action or proceeding brought in the Delaware Court has been brought in an improper or inconvenient forum.

¹¹

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Indemnification Agreement on and as of the day and year first above written.

WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

By:	 	
Name:	 	 _
Title:	 	

INDEMNITEE

Name:

Address:

12



For Immediate Release

World Energy Solutions Enters into Agreement to be Acquired by EnerNOC

Worcester, MA – November 4, 2014 – World Energy Solutions, Inc. (NASDAQ: XWES), an energy technology and services firm, today announced it has entered into an agreement to be acquired by EnerNOC, Inc. (NASDAQ: ENOC), a leading provider of energy intelligence software (EIS), for \$5.50 per share.

Under the terms of the agreement, a subsidiary of EnerNOC will commence a tender offer to acquire all of the Company's shares of common stock for \$5.50 per share in cash, representing an approximate 35% premium over the 20 trading-day average of the Company's shares and an approximate 33% premium to the closing price of the Company's shares on November 3, 2014. EnerNOC's obligation to purchase the shares of the Company's common stock tendered in the tender offer is subject to certain conditions, including that holders of at least a majority of the shares are tendered during the tender offer period. Following completion of the tender offer, the remaining shares will be acquired in a second step merger at the same cash price as paid in the tender offer.

Under the terms of the agreement, the Company may solicit superior proposals from third parties during a "go-shop" process, run by Canaccord Genuity, that extends for 55 days. It is not anticipated that any developments will be disclosed with regard to this process unless and until the Company's Board of Directors makes a decision to pursue a potential superior proposal. The agreement provides EnerNOC with a customary right to match any superior proposal.

A special committee of the Board of Directors, consisting solely of independent directors, and the Board of Directors, unanimously approved the transaction. The special committee also obtained and considered a fairness opinion from Duff & Phelps, an independent third-party financial advisor.

Peter Londa, Chairman of the Company and a member of the Special Committee, stated, "The Special Committee of the Board of Directors worked diligently to negotiate and enter into the Merger Agreement with EnerNOC. Through this negotiation, we secured the ability to run a thorough go-shop process to determine whether a more robust offer is available to increase the value being delivered to our shareholders. Our Board is proud of the Company's management team and employees for their efforts in building a differentiated and market-leading business in our sector."

Phil Adams, CEO of the Company, stated, "This transaction reflects World Energy's strategic position and core competencies in the United States retail energy market. Our software-based auction platform continues to demonstrate significant value to participants in the retail energy sector and is poised to deliver significant synergies and cost savings to customers as part of EnerNOC's energy intelligence software platform. The price premium reflected in EnerNOC's offer supports our management's objective to realize value for our shareholders and create an exciting opportunity for our employees."

The closing of the transaction is subject to the satisfaction of customary conditions, including expiration of the go-shop period, and is expected to close in early January 2015. There is no financing condition to the obligations to consummate the transaction, and the transaction does not require receipt of antitrust approval.

World Energy currently serves more than 4,000 customers with its cloud-based software platform, the World Energy Exchange®. To date, World Energy's platform is responsible for transacting over \$45 billion in electricity, natural gas and environmental commodities for its customers, making the Company among the leaders in the energy procurement market within the U.S. Through the first six months of 2014, World Energy reported \$18.9 million in revenue, with a total backlog of \$45 million.

Q3 Financial Results

World Energy will release its third quarter financial results on Monday, November 10, after market close and will hold a call at 5:00 p.m. (ET) to discuss them. To access the conference call by telephone, dial 1 (800) 774-6070 (domestic) or 1 (630) 691-2753 (international) and enter passcode 8871616#. Participants may also access a live webcast of the conference call through the investor relations section of World Energy's website, www.worldenergy.com.

Notice to Investors

The tender offer described herein has not yet been commenced. The description contained in this press release is neither an offer to purchase nor a solicitation of an offer to sell securities of the Company. At the time the tender offer is commenced, EnerNOC and its wholly owned subsidiary intend to file a Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO containing an offer to purchase, forms of letters of transmittal and other documents relating to the tender offer, and the Company intends to file a Solicitation/Recommendation Statement on Schedule TO, including the offer to purchase, form of letter of transmittal and other documents related to the tender offer, and the Solicitation/Recommendation regarding the tender offer, and the Solicitation/Recommendation regarding the tender offer. Stockholders of the Company will be filed by the Company, and other relevant materials when they become available, because these materials contain important information regarding the tender offer. Stockholders of the Company will be able to obtain a free copy of these documents (when they become available) and other documents filed by the Company or EnerNOC with the SEC at www.sec.gov. In addition, the Schedule TO and related exhibits, including the offer to purchase, forms of letters of transmittal, and other related tender offer documents may be obtained (when available) for free by contacting the Company at 100 Front Street, Worcester, MA 01608.

About World Energy Solutions, Inc.

World Energy Solutions, Inc. (NASDAQ: XWES) is an energy technology and services firm transforming energy procurement and energy efficiency for commercial, industrial, institutional, government and utility customers. The Company's award-winning, cloud-based auction platform, the World Energy Exchange®, its team of energy experts, and a network of more than 500 suppliers and 300 channel partners form an ecosystem that enables customers to minimize their total cost of energy. To date, World Energy has transacted over \$45 billion in energy, demand response and environmental commodities, creating more than \$3 billion in value for its customers. World Energy is also a leader in the global carbon market, where its World Energy Exchange® supports the Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (RGGI), the first mandatory market-based regulatory program in the U.S. to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. For more information, please visit <u>www.worldenergy.com</u>.

This press release contains forward-looking statements which involve risk and uncertainties. The words "anticipates," "believes," "estimates," "expects," "intends," "may," "plans," "forecasts," "projects," "will," "would" and similar expressions are intended to identify forwardlooking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. The Company has based these forward-looking statements on its current expectations and projections about future events, including without limitation, its expectations of backlog and energy prices, and its expectations in growth in revenue, operating results, operating margins, and free cash flow. Although the Company believes that the expectations underlying any of its forward-looking statements are reasonable, these expectations may prove to be incorrect and all of these statements are subject to risks and uncertainties. Should one or more of these risks and uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions, projections or expectations prove incorrect, actual results, performance or financial condition may vary materially and adversely from those anticipated, estimated or expected. Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to the following: whether the acquisition will be consummated; whether the Company will obtain a superior proposal; the Company's revenue and backlog are dependent on actual future energy purchases pursuant to completed procurements; the demand for the Company's services is affected by changes in regulated prices or cyclicality or volatility in competitive market prices for energy; the potential impact on the Company's historical and prospective financial results of a change in accounting policy may negatively impact its stock price; and other factors outside the Company's control that affect transaction volume in the electricity market. Additional risk factors are identified in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 and subsequent reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The forward-looking statements made in this press release are made as at the date hereof. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as actual results could differ materially from the forward-looking statements expressed in this press release. Forward-looking statements are provided for the purpose of presenting information about management's current expectations relating to the future, and readers are cautioned that such statements may not be appropriate for other purposes. The Company undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which the statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, other than as required by securities laws.

For additional information, contact:

Dan Mees World Energy Solutions (508) 459-8156 dmees@worldenergy.com

5A

AND A CALMAN AND A CALMAN

, ... ,

<u>Exhibit B</u>

r,

Delaware

PAGE 1

The First State

I, JEFFREY W. BULLOCK, SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THE ATTACHED IS A TRUE AND CORRECT COPY OF THE CERTIFICATE OF MERGER, WHICH MERGES:

"WOLF MERGER SUB CORPORATION", A DELAWARE CORPORATION,

WITH AND INTO "WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC." UNDER THE NAME OF "WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.", A CORPORATION ORGANIZED AND EXISTING UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE, AS RECEIVED AND FILED IN THIS OFFICE THE FIFTH DAY OF JANUARY, A.D. 2015, AT 8 O'CLOCK A.M.

A FILED COPY OF THIS CERTIFICATE HAS BEEN FORWARDED TO THE NEW CASTLE COUNTY RECORDER OF DEEDS.



3059369 8100M

150004902 You may verify this certificate online at corp.delaware.gov/authver.shtml

AUTHENTICATION: 2006736

DATE: 01-05-15

State of Delaware Secretary of State Division of Corporations Delivered 08:01 AM 01/05/2015 FILED 08:00 AM 01/05/2015 SRV 150004902 - 3059369 FILE

CERTIFICATE OF MERGER

OF

WOLF MERGER SUB CORPORATION WITH AND INTO WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

January 5, 2015

Pursuant to Section 251(h) of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the "<u>DGCL</u>"), World Energy Solutions, Inc., a Delaware corporation, does hereby certify the following information in connection with the merger of Wolf Merger Sub Corporation, a Delaware corporation, with and into World Energy Solutions, Inc. (the "<u>Merger</u>"):

FIRST: The name and state of incorporation of each of the constituent corporations in the Merger (the "<u>Constituent Corporations</u>") are as follows:

Name	State of Incorporation	
World Energy Solutions, Inc.	Delaware	
Wolf Merger Sub Corporation	Delaware	

SECOND: The Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November 4, 2014 by and among EnerNOC, Inc., Wolf Merger Sub Corporation, and World Energy Solutions, Inc. (as amended, modified, and supplemented from time to time, the "<u>Merger Agreement</u>") has been approved, adopted, executed and acknowledged by each of the Constituent Corporations pursuant to and in accordance with the requirements of Section 251(h) (and, with respect to Wolf Merger Sub Corporation, by the written consent of its sole stockholder in accordance with Section 228) of the DGCL, and each of the conditions specified in Section 251(h) of the DGCL (other than the condition listed in paragraph (h)(4) of such section) has been satisfied.

THIRD: The name of the surviving corporation in the Merger (the "<u>Surviving</u> <u>Corporation</u>") shall be "World Energy Solutions, Inc.".

FOURTH: The certificate of incorporation of World Energy Solutions, Inc. as in effect immediately prior to the Merger shall be amended and restated in its entirety at the effective time of the Merger as set forth in Annex A attached hereto and, as so amended and restated, shall be the certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended as provided therein or by applicable law.

FIFTH: The executed Merger Agreement is on file at an office of the Surviving Corporation, the address of which is 100 Front Street, Worcester, MA 01608.

SIXTH: A copy of the Merger Agreement will be furnished by the Surviving Corporation, on request and without cost, to any stockholder of either Constituent Corporation.

SEVENTH: The Merger shall become effective immediately upon the filing of this Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.

(Remainder of page intentionally left blank)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Certificate of Merger on the date first written above.

WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

By: <u>/s/ Philip Adams</u> Name: Philip Adams Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

ANNEX A

AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF WORLD ENERGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

I.

The name of this corporation is World Energy Solutions, Inc. (the "Corporation").

II.

The address of the registered office of the Corporation in the State of Delaware is 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19801, County of New Castle, and the name of the registered agent of the Corporation in the State of Delaware at such address is The Corporation Trust Company.

III.

The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which a corporation may be organized under the Delaware General Corporation Law ("DGCL").

IV.

The Corporation is authorized to issue only one class of stock, to be designated Common Stock. The total number of shares of Common Stock presently authorized is One Thousand (1000), each having a par value of one cent (\$0.01).

V.

A. The management of the business and the conduct of the affairs of the Corporation shall be vested in its Board of Directors. The number of directors which shall constitute the whole Board of Directors shall be fixed by the Board of Directors in the manner provided in the Bylaws.

B. The Board of Directors is expressly empowered to adopt, amend or repeal the Bylaws of the Corporation. The stockholders shall also have power to adopt, amend or repeal the Bylaws of the Corporation; provided, however, that, in addition to any vote of the holders of any class or series of stock of the Corporation required by law or by this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, such action by stockholders shall require the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of the voting power of all of the then-outstanding shares of the capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class.

VI.

A. No director of the Corporation shall be personally liable to the Corporation or to any of its stockholders for any monetary damages arising out of such director's breach of his fiduciary duty as a director of the Corporation, except to the extent the elimination or limitation of such liability is not permitted by DGCL, as the same exists or may thereafter be amended.

The Corporation shall indemnify each person who at any time is, or shall have been B. a, director or officer of the Corporation and was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, by reason of the fact that he is or was a director or officer of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee, or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement incurred in connection with any such action, suit or proceeding, to the maximum extent permitted by DGCL, as the same exists or may hereafter be amended. In furtherance of and not in limitation of the foregoing, the Corporation shall advance expenses, including attorneys' fees, incurred by an officer or director of the Corporation in defending any civil, criminal, administrative or investigative action, suit or proceeding in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of such director or officer to repay such advances if it shall be ultimately determined that he is not entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation. The foregoing right to indemnification shall in no way be exclusive of any other rights of indemnification to which any such director or officer may be entitled, under any Bylaw, agreement, vote of directors or stockholders or otherwise.

C. Neither any amendment nor repeal of this Article VI, nor the adoption of any provision of the Corporation's Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent with this Article VI, shall eliminate or reduce the effect of this Article VI in respect of any matter occurring, or any action or proceeding accruing or arising or that, but for this Article VI, would accrue or arise, prior to such amendment, repeal or adoption of an inconsistent provision.

VII.

The Corporation reserves the right to amend, alter, change or repeal any provision contained in this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, in the manner now or hereafter prescribed by statute, and all rights conferred upon the stockholders herein are granted subject to this reservation.